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USE OF MARKET AND INDUSTRY DATA

This Annual Report on Form 10-K includes market and industry data that we have obtained from third-party sources, including industry publications, as well as industry data prepared by our management on the
basis of its knowledge of and experience in the industries in which we operate (including our management’s estimates and assumptions relating to such industries based on that knowledge). Management has
developed its knowledge of such industries through its experience and participation in these industries. While our management believes the third-party sources referred to in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are
reliable, neither we nor our management have independently verified any of the data from such sources referred to in this Annual Report on Form 10-K or ascertained the underlying economic assumptions relied
upon by such sources. Furthermore, internally prepared and third-party market prospective information, in particular, are estimates only and there will usually be differences between the prospective and actual
results, because events and circumstances frequently do not occur as expected, and those differences may be material. Also, references in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to any publications, reports, surveys or
articles prepared by third parties should not be construed as depicting the complete findings of the entire publication, report, survey or article. The information in any such publication, report, survey or article is not
incorporated by reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

TRADEMARKS, TRADE NAMES AND SERVICE MARKS
“SHF Holdings”, “Safe Harbor,” “Safe Harbor Financial,” and other trademarks or service marks of SHF Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”) appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are the property of the
Company. The other trademarks, trade names and service marks appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are the property of their respective owners. Solely for convenience, the trademarks and trade names
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are referred to without the ® and ™ symbols, but such references should not be construed as any indicator that their respective owners will not assert, to the fullest extent under
applicable law, their rights thereto.
OTHER PERTINENT INFORMATION

Unless the context otherwise indicates, when used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the terms “SHF Holdings,” “Safe Harbor,” “we,” “us.
Delaware corporation and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, SHF, LLC and SHFxAbaca, LLC.

»

our,” the “Company” and similar terms refer to the Company, a

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Various of the statements made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K (the “Form 10-K”), including information incorporated herein by reference to other documents, are “forward-looking statements” within the
meaning of, and subject to the protections of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange
Act”).

Forward-looking statements include statements with respect to our beliefs, plans, objectives, goals, expectations, anticipations, assumptions, estimates, intentions and future performance and condition, and involve
known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, which may be beyond our control, and which may cause the actual results, performance, achievements, or financial condition of the Company to be
materially different from future results, performance, achievements, or financial condition expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. You should not expect us to update any forward-looking
statements. These forward-looking statements should be read together with the discussion of the Company’s risks and uncertainties included under the caption “Risk Factors” in the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2023, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) on April 14, 2023 and April 01, 2024, respectively as well as the limitation
factors included in the forward-looking statement in this Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024.

All statements other than statements of historical fact are statements that could be forward-looking statements. You can identify these forward-looking statements through our use of words such as “may,” “will,”
“anticipate,” “assume,” “seek,” “should,” “indicate,” “would,” “believe,” “contemplate,” “consider,” “expect,” “estimate,” “continue,” “plan,” “point to,” “project,” “could,” “intend,” “target” and other similar

words and expressions of the future. These forward-looking statements may not be realized due to a variety of factors, including, without limitation:

Our profitability is subject to interest rate risk;

Volatility and uncertainty in the financial markets and banking industry may adversely impact our clients and our ability to obtain additional financial institution clients;

We may be adversely affected by the transition of LIBOR as a reference rate;

Liquidity risks could affect our operations and jeopardize our financial condition and certain funding sources could increase our interest rate expense including our ability to operate as a going concern and
also remaining in compliance with debt covenants;

The industry in which our clients operate is considered federally illegal, which may pose risk if actions were taken against those customers or our Company;

e  Our strategic plan and growth strategy may not be achieved as quickly or as fully as we seek;
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e Our success depends on our ability to compete effectively in highly competitive markets;

e Potential gaps in our risk management policies may leave us exposed to unidentified or unanticipated risk, which could negatively affect our business;

o  We have identified and we may identify additional deficiencies in our internal controls, which may have an impact on our business operations;

e Technological changes affect our business including potentially impacting the revenue stream of traditional products and services, and we may have fewer resources than many competitors to invest in
technological improvements;

e  Our information systems may experience interruptions and security breaches, and are exposed to cybersecurity threats;

e  Many of our major systems depend on and are operated by third-party vendors, and any systems failures or interruptions could adversely affect our operations and the services we provide to our customers;

e Any failure to protect the confidentiality of customer information could adversely affect our reputation and subject us to financial sanctions and other costs that could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations;

e  Future acquisitions and expansion activities may disrupt our business, dilute shareholder value and adversely affect our operating results;

e We may not be able to generate sufficient cash to service all of our debt;

e We may incur a substantial level of debt that could materially adversely affect our ability to generate sufficient cash to fulfill our obligations;

e Our business may be adversely affected by economic conditions in general and by conditions in the financial markets;

e We are subject to extensive regulation that could limit or restrict our activities and adversely affect our earnings;

e Litigation and regulatory investigations are increasingly common in our businesses and may result in significant financial losses and/or harm to our reputation;

e Liquidity risks arising from the uncertainty surrounding cash flows, including the potential impact on our ability to continue operations as a going concern.

o  We are subject to capital adequacy and liquidity standards, and if we fail to meet these standards, whether due to losses, growth opportunities or an inability to raise additional capital or otherwise, our
financial condition and results of operations would be adversely affected;

e  Certain of our existing shareholders could exert significant control over the Company;

e If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, the price of our Class A Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per share (“Common
Stock”), and trading volume could decline;

o We have the ability to issue additional equity securities, which would lead to dilution of our issued and outstanding Common Stock;

We are an “emerging growth company,” and, as a result of the reduced disclosure and governance requirements applicable to emerging growth companies, our Common Stock may be less attractive to

investors;

We may be unable to attract and retain key people to support our business;

In certain circumstances, we assume the risk of fraud loss and negative balances for accounts maintained at our financial institution partners;

Severe weather, natural disasters, global pandemics, acts of war or terrorism, theft, civil unrest, government expropriation or other external events could have significant effects on our business; and

The Company’s ability to regain compliance with Nasdaq’s listing requirements and maintain its listing on the Nasdaq Capital Market is uncertain and subject to various risks and factors that may cause

actual results to differ materially;

e  Other factors and information in this Form 10-K and other filings that we make with the SEC under the Exchange Act and Securities Act.

The foregoing factors should not be construed as exhaustive and should be read together with the other cautionary statements included in this Form 10-K. Because of these risks and other uncertainties, our actual
future financial condition, results, performance or achievements, or industry results, may be materially different from the results indicated by the forward-looking statements in this Form 10-K. In addition, our past
results of operations are not necessarily indicative of our future results of operations. You should not rely on any forward-looking statements as predictions of future events.

All written or oral forward-looking statements that are made by us or are attributable to us are expressly qualified in their entirety by this cautionary note. Any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date
on which it is made, and we do not undertake any obligation to update, revise or correct any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future developments or otherwise, except as required
by law.

EXPLANATORY NOTE — REVERSE STOCK SPLIT

On January 28, 2025, the board of directors of the Company approved a reverse stock split of the Company’s Common Stock at a ratio of 1-for-20 shares, this reverse stock split became effective on March 14,
2025. Accordingly, unless otherwise stated, all shares and per share amounts for all periods presented in this Annual Report have been adjusted to reflect such reverse stock split.

On March 20, 2025, we filed an amendment to our Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware to effect a reverse split of our issued and
outstanding Class A Common Stock at a ratio of one for twenty. All historical share and per share amounts reflected in this report have been adjusted to reflect the reverse stock split.
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PART I
Item 1. Business.
Overview

We provide compliance and loan origination services to financial institutions desiring to provide business banking, private banking and commercial banking services to their customers, particularly those customers
conducting business in or adjacent to the state legal cannabis industry. Our services include, among other things:

e regulatory compliance consulting and software for maintaining “Know Your Customer” (“K'YC”) and Bank Secrecy Act (“BSA”) compliance to financial institutions, principally conducted vis-a-vis our
proprietary financial services platform;

e the origination, onboarding, verification, and servicing of cannabis-related deposit business for and on behalf of our partner financial institutions; and

e sourcing, underwriting, servicing, and administering loans issued to cannabis businesses and related entities, which are often also our customers, as well as being customers of our partner financial
institutions.

Financial Services Platform

The Company has developed and commercialized a fully compliant financial services platform for financial institutions providing banking services to cannabis-related businesses (“CRBs”) to access and maintain
reliable financial services as long as both the financial institution client and the CRB meet regulatory requirements. Our platform enables the Company’s staff to efficiently guide financial institution clients and the
CRBs desiring banking services through the onboarding, validation and monitoring process. Our automated platform provides for an efficient and effective management tool allowing our employees to provide
continuity of service while enabling compliance staff to monitor BSA activities.

Through the Company’s platform, our financial institution clients have the ability to provide CRBs with access to traditional financial services including wires, debit, ACH, remote deposit capture, business
checking and savings accounts, courier and vaulting services, cash management accounts and commercial lending. We believe our services have been implemented consistent with applicable law and regulations,
ensuring our financial institution clients will be able to provide CRBs with reliable access to these services. We feel our history of developing processes that satisfy regulatory standards has resulted in a solid
reputation with related authorities and solidifies our ability to continue to grow existing services and reduces barriers in expanding into new service offerings.

CRB Deposits

The Company maintains relationships with Partner Colorado Credit Union (“PCCU”) and other financial institutions in which the CRB funds are deposited and monetary transactions are performed. The
Company’s agreements with the financial institution allow the Company’s platform to interface with the financial institution’s core banking systems and extract data necessary to monitor the deposit accounts
onboarded by the Company’s transactions, such as funds transmissions to or from the accounts, occur through PCCU’s and other financial institution client’s infrastructure.

When a CRB or ancillary service provider approaches a financial institution for which the Company provides its onboarding services, an initial onboarding fee is assessed based on the type and complexity of the
business. Onboarding is an important part of the KYC requirements set forth in federal guidance. The onboarding process can require a great deal of time depending on the business complexity and the fee we
assess is based upon the complexity and required time to complete the process. Additionally, the Company assesses monthly deposit and activity fees, which have historically been the majority of our revenue.
These fees are also based on business type and size. Monitoring and validating deposit activity is paramount to the success of the Company’s platform. We believe our compliance-first focus reassures regulators
and law enforcement that the Company continues to focus on the safety and soundness of the financial system.

Investment income is also generated our financial institution clients invest CRB deposits. Under our Commercial Alliance Agreement (“PCCU CAA”) with PCCU, the Company paid 25% of the investment
income as a hosting fee to PCCU based on this income. Through its relationship with PCCU, depository amounts invested are typically restricted to low-risk assets with high liquidity and low returns. The
investment income is significantly influenced by the levels of CRB deposits and the prevailing interest rate environment for cash and similar assets. Fees based on deposits we onboard, along with interest on the
daily balance (less cash used to collateralize our loan portfolios maintained with financial institutions), represent a significant portion of our revenue in 2024.

On December 31, 2024, the Company and PCCU entered into an Amended and Restated Commercial Alliance Agreement (“Amended CAA”), extending the term through December 31, 2028, with automatic
renewals every two years unless terminated with 12 months’ notice. Key changes in the Amended CAA include the elimination of the Company’s indemnification obligations for loan-related losses and the removal
of prior fees, such as per-account servicing, investment hosting, and loan servicing fees. These are replaced by a fixed asset hosting fee, calculated based on the average daily balance of account relationships. The
Amended CAA also entitles the Company to all investment income earned on CRB funds invested on its behalf by PCCU. Additionally, the interest income is now determined using a loan yield allocation formula,
and penalties are introduced for non-compliance with the Loan-to-Share Ratio, including adjustments to the asset hosting fee and interest charges if certain thresholds are exceeded. Please refer to the ‘Amended
and Restated CAA with PCCU” section in the Recent Updates below.

Commercial Lending Program

The level of CRB deposits onboarded by the Company and held at PCCU allows for robust lending capacity. The Company’s commercial lending program serves as a key pillar for future revenue and profit
growth. The primary focus will be on senior secured lending, with smaller loans also considered for unsecured lending opportunities. Collateral types would include real estate, equipment, and other business assets.
The Company’s commercial lending program is built on:

e stringent collateral package requirements with ample loan to value coverage;
o strong underwriting of collateral and creditworthiness of borrower; and
® a deep knowledge and understanding of the industry, borrowers” operations and the cannabis industry business cycle.

Currently, lending is primarily funded through PCCU using the funds from CRB deposit accounts onboarded by the Company. The Company is currently seeking relationships with additional financial institutions
that would fund the Company’s loans and other sources of working capital with which the Company could fund the loans directly. The Company has created a lending program tailored specifically to the unique
needs of CRBs while also achieving strong returns on quality loans. While third parties are presently used to provide loan underwriting and servicing, the Company plans on building out a full-service internal
lending function to improve the efficiency of our lending process and to increase future profitability.
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We feel we have taken a creative and methodical approach in building the Company’s platform, which has allowed us to nationally scale our business. The platform’s policies, training, monitoring and other
processes are well established with talented and expert level knowledge. We also plan to further expand the officer level suite with talent that we believe will further our success. We anticipate this combination will
provide a competitive advantage for us as we focus on continued growth.

Our Mission
Our mission is to become the United States cannabis industry’s leading financial services provider, by creating a one-stop financial service center upon which cannabis businesses can rely.

We intend to support our mission by providing unparalleled customer service while offering a unique array of innovative technology-based products and services. We believe that our unique banking relationships,
reputation of reliability in the cannabis industry, as well as our deep expertise and experience in the industry will position us to serve a broad range of cannabis industry participants, including cannabis cultivators,
processors, manufacturers, dispensaries, multi-state operators, as well as the financial institutions that wish to bank cannabis industry participants. Since 2015, we have facilitated more than $24.9 billion in deposit
activity across a footprint of 41states and territories of the United States of America. Throughout 2024, we facilitated an average of $280 million in deposit activities on a monthly basis.

Through a combination of organic growth, increased commercial lending, and further development of our fintech platform, we believe we are all well-positioned to service the cannabis industry, including through
the industry’s recent spate of large-scale consolidations.

Industry Overview

The Cannabis industry has been unfavorably impacted by the convergence of open borders allowing competitive illicit alternatives into the market, high inflation unfavorably impacting consumer spending, a
challenging tax environment that limits federal deductibility of certain operating costs and high interest rates unfavorably impacting the ability of industry participants to find affordable capital. The cannabis
industry is one of the fastest emerging consumer packaged goods markets in the United States, employing nearly 500,000 people and experts predict a total available market in excess of $75 billion. We expect this
rapid growth to favorably impact our total available market offset in part by increased competition from financial institutions that choose to build rather than outsource their compliance programs. The Company is
well positioned to assist growing markets; having created a reliable reputation and network over the past ten years. Our team is often called upon to work with state and federal officials, regulators, law enforcement
and financial service providers to share experience and knowledge on navigating access to financial services. We believe this expertise garners trust that will allow us to enter new markets with greater ease.

There is a great deal of discussion regarding Safe Banking, the de-scheduling of cannabis, and even federal legalization of intoxicating cannabis products. We monitor these matters closely through our affiliation
with various lobbying groups. Each of these matters while separate could individually and collectively materially and favorably impact the Cannabis Industry. Management believes that anything that favorably
impacts the Cannabis Industry will in turn favorably impact the Company. Today, there are several federally legal businesses that are debanked or otherwise deemed too risky for most financial institutions. The
Cannabis industry will likely be similarly deemed too risky for most financial institutions. It will take time, money, and reputational tolerance for competing financial institutions to build for themselves a
compliance solution. Rather we offer financial institutions the ability to leverage the regulatorily tested and refined platform that Safe Harbor operates today.

As such, we believe there is currently a small subset of the financial services industry willing to provide a full suite of financial services to CRBs and these providers are extremely fragmented. The Company has
been a front runner in assisting financial institutions that desire to provide reliable financial services to the cannabis industry and is well known amongst the leaders in the cannabis financial services arena. Going
forward, we feel this positions the Company well to further optimize market position and become the leading provider of access to financial services focused on the cannabis industry.

Business Strategy

Over the past nine years, we have been a front runner pioneer in enabling modern compliant cannabis banking. As a result, we have developed comprehensive and strong relationships with our customers offering
them a wide range of bank products and services, delivering unparalleled customer service, and enabling the efficient flow of business transactions. Our platform supports over 600 customers that trust us with their
financial stewardship. We believe that long term growth and profitability is a function of:

e scaling our core business, by entering new legal cannabis markets, more effectively marketing into existing legal cannabis markets, enabling personal employee banking solutions, adding financial
institutions onto our platform and exploring the ability to expand our core business into other debanked industries or even internationally;

e scaling our lending capabilities by becoming the center for loan origination and syndications for private equity, family offices, financial institutions and others willing in loan into the CRB space;
e adding to our offering’s enablement services creating low costs centers of excellences across a variety of corporate and operational competencies that can lower a cannabis operators” cost per pound; and

e building an industry leading consortium. We believe our CRB clients should have access to a value proposition that far outweighs their account fees and their expectations. This will position Safe Harbors’
financial institutions to compete for CRB business in a way that no other competitor can. Leveraging our core platform, we believe we can build a collaborative group of multiple independent CRBs that
pool resources to achieve common objectives such as increased bargaining power with vetted cannabis friendly vendors, cooperative and advanced marketing solutions, access to best practices, data
insights, and an ability to share employment opportunities or to resell equipment.

We believe that stable long-term growth and profitability are the result of developing comprehensive, strong relationships with our customers by offering a wide range of products and services, delivering
unparalleled customer service, maintaining trust and building out service components across other service providers now serving the cannabis industry with similar reliability.

This strategy is designed to help us gain greater market share by increasing the number of users on our fintech platform, responsibly growing our partner loan portfolio, effective management of our deposit
sources, and judicious investment in new products and services to fund the growth of our assets.

We are not an insured depository institution, nor are we subject to regulation by any state or federal banking regulator, we rely on our partner financial institutions to carry out a significant portion of our operating
activities. As such, we enter into an agreement, with each partner financial institution that sets forth the terms and conditions of the lending-related and account-related services governing the relationship between
the Company and each partner financial institution with regard to the CRB deposit accounts.
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For example, we entered into the PCCU CAA, which sets forth the application, underwriting, and approval process for loans from PCCU to their CRB customers, as well as the loan servicing and monitoring
responsibilities provided by both PCCU and us.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the PCCU CAA governed the application, underwriting, loan approval, and foreclosure processes for loans issued by PCCU to cannabis-related businesses. It also
outlined the loan servicing and monitoring responsibilities shared between the Company and PCCU. Specifically, the agreement established procedures to be followed in the event of a loan default to ensure that
neither the Company nor PCCU would assume ownership or possession of any cannabis-related assets, including real property used as collateral.

Under the terms of the PCCU CAA, PCCU was entitled to monthly management fees for overseeing loans. For SHF-serviced loans—CRB loans funded by PCCU but primarily managed by SHF—a yearly fee of
0.25% was applied to the remaining loan balance. Loans both financed and serviced by PCCU were subject to a 0.35% annual fee on the outstanding balance. These fees were calculated based on the average daily
balance of each loan for the preceding month. Additionally, the Company was required to indemnify PCCU against certain loan losses related to defaults.

The agreement also specified fees payable to the Company for various account-related services, including cannabis-related income streams such as loan origination fees, interest income on CRB loans, participation
fees, servicing fees, investment income, account activity fees, processing fees, and other revenue from cannabis and multi-state hemp accounts hosted on PCCU’s core system. The monthly account service fees
were $30.96 per account in 2022, $25.32-$27.85 in 2023, and $26.08-$28.69 in 2024. Furthermore, for CRB deposits held at PCCU, investment and interest income (excluding interest from loans funded by
PCCU) was shared, with PCCU receiving 25% and the Company receiving 75%. PCCU also committed to maintaining a minimum ratio of CRB-related deposits to total assets at 60%, unless regulatory or policy
changes dictated otherwise.

The initial term of the PCCU CAA was set for two years, with automatic one-year renewals unless either party provided 120 days’ written notice prior to the end of the term.

On December 31, 2024, the Company and PCCU entered into an Amended CAA, extending the term through December 31, 2028, with automatic renewals every two years unless terminated with 12 months’
notice. Key changes in the Amended CAA include the elimination of the Company’s indemnification obligations for loan-related losses and the removal of prior fees, such as per-account servicing, investment
hosting, and loan servicing fees. These are replaced by a fixed asset hosting fee, calculated based on the average daily balance of account relationships. The Amended CAA also entitles the Company to all
investment income earned on CRB funds invested on its behalf by PCCU. Additionally, the interest income is now determined using a loan yield allocation formula, and penalties are introduced for non-compliance
with the Loan-to-Share Ratio, including adjustments to the asset hosting fee and interest charges if certain thresholds are exceeded. Please refer to the ‘Amended and Restated CAA with PCCU’ section in the
Recent Updates below.

Business Philosophy
Our key priorities include:
e Compliance First: Due to the fact that we are providing services on behalf of our financial institutions that desire to provide banking services to CRBs, thereby allowing funds derived from cannabis-
related businesses to flow through the financial system, we must ensure the system is protected from illicit activities by monitoring and validating funds along with “knowing our customer.” Our close

partnerships with financial institutions demand that we understand the regulatory pressure they face with high risk, cash intensive businesses.
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e  Other Products and Services. We offer products and services to financial institutions and CRBs that we believe are attractively priced with a focus on convenience and accessibility. For example, we
offer to our financial institutions clients a means to offer their CRB customers a full suite of online banking services, including access to account balances, statements and other documents, online
transfers, online bill payment and electronic delivery of customer statements, as well as automated teller machines (“ATMs”), and banking by mobile devices, telephone and mail. We continuously
look for ways of improving our products, services and delivery channels; we accomplish this by upgrading our offerings and technology as the market expands and demands more sophisticated
products and services. We have built the present business by listening to the needs of the cannabis industry and rising to the occasion to expand our business model with their needs in mind. We will
continue to evolve with the industry and lead on this level.

e Deposits, a Primary Focus upon which to grow relationships. Our focus on growing deposits is twofold on a strategic level. First, we must KYC in order to assist with facilitating the movement of
their funds into the financial system with safe and sound practices. We have the benefit of knowing every operational dollar moving in and out of the accounts; this secures a great understanding of the
business, operations, cashflow, and continuity. The second most strategic factor of growing deposits is that it is critical to our near and long-term success on our lending strategy. Utilizing the deposit
balances domiciled with our FI partners on which to lend will allow us to reduce our use of alternative funding sources and the use of core deposits to fund our growth; this, in turn, will improve our
mix of deposits and enable us to achieve a lower cost of funds.

e Lending to solidify a long-term relationship: The loans issued by our partner financial institutions provides us not only increased profit margins over the long term, but a solid long-term relationship
with the client; this ensures reduced client attrition. This is the relationship we will strive for from the KYC competitive advantage we presently hold, with over 800 accounts from which to select the
most credit worthy opportunities and understand the business to whom our partner financial institutions lend.

e Financial Institution Relationships to scale: It will be important to have the right financial institutions partnering with the Company as we scale our business nationally. So often, financial
institutions wish to enter the market only to exit due to the complexities of serving the cannabis industry. We seek out financial institutions that can provide reliable access to additional functionality
and balance sheet access for growth. We narrow our partnerships to those providing optimal financial positioning for both our clients and the Company; willing to build as we build.

e A Superior Customer Experience to Make Banking with Us Easy. We have already taken steps to better target and attract core deposits and accelerate our digital transformation by making
investments in technology and developing fintech partnerships. We have been focused on evaluating digital solutions in a number of areas. This includes investments made to automate our process for
opening accounts, small business lending, and the ability to offer our wealth management customers a leading digital platform. Furthermore, our business model allows us to cultivate close
relationships between service representatives and clients; this ensures that we know their needs while increasing our knowledge of their operations.

e Rationalize Existing and Evaluate New Lines of Businesses. Our strategy and expectations for growth also includes rationalizing existing and evaluating new lines of businesses, to further grow our
revenue streams and fee income opportunities. Our plan includes the expansion of our treasury management and wealth management functions, as well as to build our private banking and specialty
finance capabilities. This initiative will incorporate a merger and acquisition strategy that allows us to expand more rapidly than new entrants into the market trying to compete.

e Significantly Improve Operational Efficiency. Our goal is to enhance efficiency by identifying opportunities to reduce costs and automating manual processes. With advancements in machine
learning, artificial intelligence, and robotic process automation, we aim to streamline operations while leveraging international capabilities in regions with lower human capital costs.

e Improve Brand Awareness. Building brand awareness in the communities we serve will be key for both growing our presence in these markets as well as laying a strong foundation for future
expansion. Recently we have placed a significant focus on marketing and business development as we work toward building a greater national brand awareness. Many initiatives are underway
including improved signage and promotions, evaluating affinity relationships, and greater community involvement. We will continue to work with state officials, regulators, and legislators to
familiarize them with the manner financial services can be available in a safe and sound way for their state; this will ensure their community safety. This multi-prong approach utilizing internal
expertise and networks forged over the past ten years will allow us to dominate the financial arena moving forward.

e Attract, Retain, Develop and Reward the Best Team Members to Execute our Strategy. We believe that one of our primary differentiator is our culture and the quality of our people delivering our
products and services in such a manner that customers receive the best knowledge, expertise, advice, and service when and where they need it. We will continue to attract, retain, develop, and reward
the best team members to execute our strategy. We are aligning performance incentives with the organization’s overall success by expanding the use of stock-based compensation options.
Additionally, we will implement structured development programs to support employees in achieving their career aspirations, expanding their expertise, and enhancing their skill sets.
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Recent Updates
NASDAQ Listing Compliance

e On April 8, 2024, the Company received a notification letter from the listing qualifications department staff of Nasdaq (the “Staff”) notifying the Company that for the last 30 consecutive business days, the
Company did not maintain a minimum closing bid price of $1.00 per share for its common stock, and thus, the Company no longer met Nasdaq’s minimum bid price requirement for continued listing on The
Nasdaq Capital Market under Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 5550(a)(2), requiring a minimum bid price of $1.00 per share (the “Minimum Bid Price Requirement”).

On October 3, 2024, the Company received notice from the Staff advising that the Staff determined the Company is eligible for an additional 180 calendar day period, or until March 31, 2025, to regain
compliance with the Minimum Bid Price Requirement based on the Company meeting the continued listing requirement for market value of publicly held shares and all other applicable requirements for initial
listing on The Nasdaq Capital Market with the exception of the bid price requirement, and the Company’s written notice of its intention to cure the deficiency during the second compliance period by effecting
a reverse stock split, if necessary.

If at any time before March 31, 2025, the bid price of our common stock closes at $1.00 per share or more for a minimum of 10 consecutive business days, the Staff will provide written confirmation that the
Company has achieved compliance. If the Company does not regain compliance with the Minimum Bid Price Requirement by the end of the second compliance period, our common stock will become subject
to delisting. In the event that the Company receives notice that our common stock is being delisted, the Nasdaq listing rules permit the Company to appeal a delisting determination by the Staff to a hearings
panel.

In an effort to comply with the $1.00 Minimum Bid Requirement, on March 4, 2025, we filed an amendment to our Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation with the Secretary of State of the
State of Delaware to effect a reverse split of our issued and outstanding Class A Common Stock at a ratio of one for twenty.

On April 7, 2025, the Company was informed by the staff that they had determined the minimum closing bid price for the Company’s Class A common stock was at least $1.00 per share for 10 consecutive
business days, from March 24, 2025, to April 4, 2025.

Accordingly, the Staff has determined that the Company has regained compliance with Minimum Bid Price Requirement, and, as such, the Staff has indicated that the matter of the Company’s compliance with
Minimum Bid Price Requirement is now closed.

e  On April 7, 2025, the Company received a notice from Nasdaq indicating that it no longer meets the continued listing requirements for the Nasdaq Capital Market. Specifically, the Company’s stockholders’
equity as of December 31, 2024, was a deficit of $12,288,014, which is below the minimum required stockholders' equity of $2.5 million as stipulated by Nasdaq’s Listing Rule 5550(b)(1). As a result, the
Company does not comply with the Nasdaq Capital Market continued listing standards. Furthermore, the Company does not meet the alternative criteria for continued listing, which are based on the market
value of listed securities or net income from continuing operations.

The Company has been granted 45 calendar days, until May 22, 2025, to submit a plan to regain compliance with Nasdaq’s listing requirements. If the plan is accepted, Nasdaq may grant an extension of up to
180 calendar days from the date of this letter for the Company to meet the continued listing standards. The Company intends to timely submit a Compliance Plan to Nasdaq to regain compliance with the
Shareholders” Equity Requirement. There can be no assurance that Nasdaq will accept the Company’s plan or that the Company will be able to regain compliance with Listing Rule 5550(b)(1) or maintain
compliance with any other Nasdaq requirement in the future.

Amended and restated CAA with PCCU

On December 31, 2024, the Amended CAA, extending the term set forth in the Original CAA through and including December 31, 2028, with an automatic renewal for subsequent periods of two years each, unless
notice of non-renewal is provided no later than twelve (12) calendar months prior to the expiration of the then-current term.

Key modifications under the Amended CAA include:

e Elimination of Indemnification Obligations: The Company is no longer required to indemnify PCCU for any loan-related losses under either the original or future agreements.

e  Elimination of Prior Fees and Implementation of Asset Hosting Fee Structure: Under the previous agreement, the Company was required to pay various fees to PCCU, including per-account servicing fees,
investment hosting fees, and loan servicing fees. The Amended CAA eliminates all these charges and replaces them with a fixed account servicing fee. Under the new structure, the Company will pay a single
asset hosting fees which is calculated as 0.01 multiplied by the average daily balance of account relationships generated by the Company, divided by the number of days in the year, and multiplied by the
number of days in the applicable month. This revised model aligns servicing costs with account balances rather than a flat per-account charge, offering a more scalable and efficient fee structure.

o In Income Entitl. - Under the Amended CAA, the Company received all investment income earned on CRB funds invested on its behalf by PCCU, effectively eliminating the investment hosting
fees that were previously payable to PCCU.

e Loan Yield Allocation Formula: The Company’s interest income will be determined using a loan yield allocation formula incorporating the Constant Maturity US Treasury Rate and a proprietary risk rating
formula for determining the fee split.

®  Loan-to-Share Ratio Compliance: The Amended CAA introduces penalties for the Company if it fails to maintain the agreed Loan-to-Share (LTS) Ratio. If the LTS Maximum (60%) is exceeded for over 90
days, the Asset Hosting Fee increases from 1.00% to 1.10% of the average daily balance (ADB) until compliance is restored. If the LTS Minimum (27.5%) is breached, SHF must pay a quarterly adjustment
fee based on the shortfall. Additionally, if the LTS Ratio exceeds 100% for 90 days, SHF incurs an interest charge at the Federal Funds Rate + 120 bps, calculated daily and paid monthly.

Amendment to Senior Secured Promissory Note and Deferral Agreement with PCCU

e On January 29, 2025, the Company and PCCU entered into a letter agreement to defer principal payments on the Note for February and March 2025 (the “Deferral Period”). During this period, the Company
will continue to be responsible for interest payments, and the Note’s repayment period will be extended by two months.

e On March 1, 2025, the Company executed an Amended and Restated Senior Secured Promissory Note (the “Amended PCCU Note”) with PCCU, replacing the original senior secured promissory note dated
March 29, 2023. Under the terms of the Amended PCCU Note, the principal balance stands at $10,748,408, accruing interest at an annual rate of 4.25%. The Company will make interest-only payments until
January 5, 2027, followed by principal and interest payments through the maturity date of October 5, 2030.

e The Amended PCCU Note includes provisions for early repayment and prepayment fees, including a yield maintenance fee in the event of prepayment or acceleration. PCCU will retain its first-priority
security interest in the Company’s assets as established in the security agreement dated March 29, 2023. Additionally, the Amended PCCU Note upholds a debt service coverage ratio (DSCR) requirement of
1.4 to 1.0, assessed annually. The Company executed this Amended PCCU Note to restructure its financial obligations and extend its repayment timeline.

Abaca legal case in Denver

As reported on its Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 18, 2024, the Company caused a declaratory judgment complaint (the “Complaint”) to be filed in the District Court for the City and
County of Denver, Colorado, captioned SHF Holdings, Inc. v. Daniel Roda, Gregory W. Ellis, and James R. Carroll, Case No. 2024CV33187 (Denver County District Court). The Complaint was filed in
connection with concerns surrounding the payment of the $3,000,000 (the “Merger Payment”) to the former stockholders of Rockview Digital Solutions, a Delaware corporation, d/b/a Abaca (“Abaca”), to be made
by the Company on or about October 5, 2024, pursuant to that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger dated October 29, 2022, by and among SHF Holdings, Inc., Merger Sub I, Merger Sub II, Rockview Digital
Solutions, Inc. d/b/a Abaca and Dan Roda, solely in such individual’s capacity as the representative of Abaca security holders (the “Original Agreement”), the Amendment to the Agreement and Plan of Merger,
dated November 11, 2022, by and among SHF Holdings, Inc., Merger Sub I, Merger Sub II, Rockview Digital Solutions, Inc. d/b/a Abaca and Dan Roda, solely in such individual’s capacity as the representative of
the Abaca security holders (the “First Amendment”), and the Second Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated October 26, 2023, by and among SHF Holdings, Inc., Merger Sub I, Merger Sub II,
Rockview Digital Solutions, Inc. d/b/a Abaca and Dan Roda, solely in such individual’s capacity as the representative of the Abaca security holders (the “Second Amendment,” and collectively with the First
Amendment and the Original Agreement, the “Merger Agreement”).

On November 4, 2024, in connection with the Complaint, the Company filed a motion with the Denver County District Court requesting authorization to deposit the Merger Payment into the Denver County
District Court’s registry so that it can be distributed in accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement. Following the granting of that motion, the Company deposited $3,000,000 into the Denver County
District Court’s registry on November 21, 2024. The Merger Payment has already been accounted for in the working capital deficit disclosed in the Liquidity and Going Concern section.

As reported on its Current Report of Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 19, 2024, Daniel Roda, Gregory W. Ellis, and James R. Carroll (collectively, the “Defendants™) caused an answer and counterclaim
to be filed in response to the Company Complaint. The Defendants’ answer and counterclaim, among other things, asserts several breaches of contract under the Merger Agreement, as amended, relating to the
Merger Payment, in addition to challenging the validity of Dan Roda’s role as the representative of Abaca security holders in the execution of the Second Amendment. The Defendants’ also assert a third-party
claim against the Chairman of the Company’s board of directors, Jonathon F. Niehaus. The Company and Mr. Nichaus have filed motions to dismiss the counterclaims, which remain pending.
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On December 13, 2024, Daniel Roda, Gregory W. Ellis, and James R. Carroll (collectively, the “Defendants”) caused an answer and counterclaim to be filed in response to the Company Complaint. The
Defendants’ answer and counterclaim, among other things, asserts several breaches of contract under the Merger Agreement, as amended, relating to a delay in payment of the Merger Payment, in addition to the
validity of Stockholder Representatives’ execution of the Amendments. The Defendants’ counterclaim also asserts a third-party claim against the Chairman of the Company’s board of directors, Fred Niehaus.

On December 16, 2024, the Company accepted the resignation of Daniel Roda as the Company’s Chief Credit Officer.
Sales and Marketing
In 2024, our marketing strategy focused on several key initiatives aimed at increasing brand visibility and driving awareness across key markets:

Partnering with a renowned public relations and investor relations firm to strengthen our communication and outreach efforts

Enhancing search engine performance to boost online engagement and improve visibility.

Promoting our referral programs and success fee models to foster new business relationships and increase revenue streams

Actively participating in industry conferences and delivering impactful keynote speeches, positioning our leadership as thought leaders in the space
Rolling out targeted customer retention promotions designed to strengthen loyalty and enhance customer satisfaction

Engaging in strategic email and e-blast campaigns, alongside traditional direct mail efforts, to maintain consistent communication with our audience

Competition

The banking and financial services industry is highly competitive, and we compete with a wide range of lenders and other financial institutions entering the cannabis market, mostly composed of local and regional
banks or credit unions. However, a number of our competitors are much larger financial institutions that have greater financial resources than we do and compete aggressively for market share. These competitors
attempt to gain market share through their financial product mix, pricing strategies, and larger banking center networks. However, due to the high-risk nature of providing cannabis services, they find they must
create specialized compliance programs to meet the expectations of their regulators, which puts the entire financial institution at risk for enforcement actions. They are realizing that a specialized external program
that separates and monitors cannabis activities is a much safer approach; providing the Company another opportunity to work side by side with larger banks.

We also have limited competition with brokerage firms, trust service providers, consumer finance companies, mutual funds, securities firms, insurance companies, third-party payment processors, and other
financial intermediaries on various elements of our products and services. While many initially enter the market with rigor, they find themselves exiting the market due to the complexity and demands of serving the
cannabis industry. Some of our competitors are not subject to the regulatory restrictions and the level of regulatory supervision applicable to us. Interest rates on loans and deposits, as well as prices on fee-based
services, are typically significant competitive factors within the banking and financial services industry.

While we seek to remain competitive with respect to fees charged, interest rates, and pricing, we believe that our broad and sophisticated suite of services relating to commercial banking, our high-quality customer
service culture, our positive reputation, and long-standing community relationships enable us to compete successfully within our markets and enhance our ability to attract and retain customers.

Intellectual Property

As we do not have any registered intellectual property, we currently rely on confidentiality, and non-disclosure agreements with our employees and others to protect our proprietary rights. Despite these efforts to
protect ourselves from infringement or misappropriation of our intellectual property rights, unauthorized parties may attempt to copy or otherwise obtain and use our intellectual property in violation of our rights.
In the event of a successful claim of infringement against us, or our failure or inability to develop non-infringing intellectual property or license the infringed or similar intellectual property on a timely basis, our
business could be harmed.

Seasonality

Most loan production, generally, is subject to seasonality, with the lowest volume typically in the first quarter of each year. This does not necessarily apply to us as we serve the cannabis industry with demand for
access to capital at reasonable rates. We expect, based upon our pipeline of demand, a methodical and consistent growth in the lending portfolio.

Loans are extended to cannabis related businesses, including both cannabis licensed and unlicensed ancillary service providers to the cannabis industry. While credit markets are generally tightening due to market
conditions, the cannabis industry continues to grow and expand at a rapid pace in light of on-going opening of legalized cannabis markets at the state level. This provides an opportunity for lending, unlike the
normal commercial market.
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Due to the federally illegal status of cannabis, most cannabis-related businesses have faced years of inability to access capital at reasonable rates; these circumstances force them to purchase properties and fund
their businesses from personal investment of operational cash, potentially limiting their own growth. This provides for a robust opportunity to lend to established entities with real estate assets free of debt.
Businesses are taking the opportunity to leverage such assets to expand and grow their operations while we build a senior secured portfolio ostensibly collateralized with a real estate base.

Furthermore, the industry has been subject to ‘hard money’ lending with annual rates available between 18-36%. This is yet another opportunity for us to offer refinancing of real estate debts at more favorable
interest rates; since the depository relationship is necessary as part of the compliance monitoring for credit, we benefit from servicing, monitoring, and validating compliance of depository relationships, earning
fees on deposits. This results in a lower cost of capital when considering that we earn on both the depository and lending relationships.

Investments

Our investment policy requires that investment decisions be made based on, but not limited to, the following four principles: investment quality, liquidity requirements, interest-rate risk sensitivity and estimated
return on investment. These characteristics are pillars of our investment decision-making process, which seeks to minimize exposure to risks while providing a reasonable yield and liquidity.

Regulations and Legisl

The Company has capitalized on the opportunity to do what financial institutions would not do directly — provide access to financial services to the underserved cannabis industry. Among the factors preventing
most financial institutions from providing similar services are:

o conflicting state and federal laws regarding legalization;
o the high-risk nature of cannabis due to its black-market history and undocumented, illegally earned legacy funds;
o the high risk of an existing black-market operating among legal entities; creating additional compliance pressures;

e FinCEN guidance issued in 2014 (the “2014 FinCen Guidance™) explaining how financial institutions might serve the cannabis industry, creating potential for differing interpretations and inconsistent
standards;

® under-the-radar operations of CRBs and the complex nature of the corporate structures created to separate and protect assets, which creates steep learning curves necessitating the specialized cannabis
sector training, onboarding, monitoring and funds validation;

® BSA obligations to which few financial institutions are willing to dedicate the significant necessary resources, and fear of non-compliance, which can result in millions of dollars in fines assessed against
the financial institution.

o the lack of a “safe harbor” regulatory provision that would protect officers and directors from prosecution for providing financial services to companies that produce and sell cannabis products provides
the business opportunity that we have sought to fulfill.

During April 2021, the United States House of Representatives passed the SAFE Banking Act of 2021 (the “SAFE Act”). The SAFE Act would prohibit federal regulators from fining and penalizing financial
institutions and their management/executive team who service legitimate businesses including those in the cannabis industry (i.e., those legal operating in states that have approved cannabis for medicinal and/or
adult use). More recently, the Secure and Fair Enforcement (SAFE) Banking Act successfully passed the Senate Banking Committee as of September 2023. Neither Act has been brought to or passed by the Senate
and therefore is not law. Even with the passage of the SAFE Act, we do not believe the above barriers to entry would be significantly reduced. We feel due to the high cash nature of the business, which we believe
will persist in the near and mid-term, and the illicit history of cannabis, many potential competitors will remain hesitant to serve the industry, resulting in an outsized opportunity for the Company.

Additional significant changes involve the Department of Health and Human Services recommendation to reschedule cannabis from a ‘schedule 1’ drug to a ‘schedule 3” drug classification. This recommendation
has been provided to the Drug Enforcement Administration (the “DEA™) and is pending further comment or action from the DEA, if any. The rescheduling of cannabis could impact 280E IRS Tax code presently
applied to cannabis licensees; increasing the potential for greater cash flow, increase deposit activity and balances, and ability to service debt.
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Key Regulatory Challenges
Legal Environment

Cannabis remains a controlled substance under the CSA. The conflict between federal and state laws allows for prosecution at the federal level, assets remain subject to seizure, and there are potential punitive
actions by third parties (including regulated) against financial institutions and financial services providers for entering the business. The uncertainty of the legal landscape has increased with the previous Attorney
General’s January 2018 rescission of the Cole Memorandum, which was guidance issued in August 2013 from then Deputy Attorney General James M. Cole to federal prosecutors that de-prioritized the
enforcement of federal marijuana prohibitions. Although, in our opinion, the authority to prosecute cannabis related violations appears to remain vested in each state’s Attorney General, we believe that the 2014
FinCEN Guidance provide an important framework for compliance to parties providing services to CRBs. We also believe that the successful completion of 16 regulatory examinations of PCCU, our largest
financial institutional client, for which we provide onboarding services demonstrates that it is possible to structure onboarding, validation and monitoring services in a compliant manner.

Pending Legislation

Legislation pending at the federal level such as the SAFER Banking Act described above will provide limited protection to financial institutions banking the industry and other financial services providers in as
much as the companies and their officers will not be prosecuted or fined simply for servicing the cannabis industry. However, legislation will not protect financial institutions from breaches of BSA regulations,
which may lead to significant penalties, often resulting in substantial fines assessed by FInCEN. Given inherent risks associated with the cannabis industry such as the remaining illicit market and illegal past, the
need to bank the industry at an elevated level of compliance will not change if the legislation passes at the federal level unless BSA changes, which is unlikely.

Complexity of Business

The nature of the cannabis business is such that businesses utilize sophisticated business structures for asset protection and to create ways to maximize tax efficiencies. This makes for very complex business
structures with some companies having many related entities that financial institutions must monitor for adherence to anti-money laundering (“AML”)/BSA regulations. This understanding, diligence and
underwriting is labor-intensive work requiring significant hands-on resources.

Regulatory Uncertainty

Due to the divergence between cannabis-related state and federal law, we believe venturing into providing access to banking and financial services for CRBs remains “cutting edge.” We feel that the scrutiny and
pressure under which financial institutions and financial services providers must operate to maintain compliant while servicing CRBs, coupled with the pending status of further federal legislation, causes most
financial institutions and financial services providers to shy away from the industry. We, however, view this as an opportunity. While the Company is not regulated as a subsidiary of a regulated financial institution,
our agreements with our financial institution partners and the nature of our services typically require we provide these services in a compliant manner. This primarily relates to offering services that are compliant
with the 2014 FinCEN Guidance and the BSA. In addition, given our history working with credit unions, our services historically have been subject to regulatory oversight from the National Credit Union
Administration (“NCUA”). The Company will nevertheless continue to be subject to a range of laws, rules, and regulations, including those applicable to the Company that is an SEC registrant. In order to ensure
we provide our services in an appropriate manner, we maintain policies and procedures we believe to be aligned with the requirements of 2014 FinCEN Guidance and the BSA. These policies and procedures are
continuously assessed by management and formally reviewed at least annually. All employees are provided ongoing and annual training to ensure our services are delivered in an appropriate manner. A third party
is engaged to audit our compliance with certain policies on a quarterly and annual basis.

BSA/AML Regulations and Ramifications

BSA penalties for non-compliance are significant. For example, during March 2022, FinCEN issued a consent order issuing a $140 million civil penalty to a financial institution for failing to address previously
identified AML program issues and other BSA compliance issues. This fine was unrelated to CRBs, which we believe provides a higher risk industry. We believe that most institutions cannot withstand such a
penalty and will not take that risk. BSA experienced talent, particularly experience with cannabis businesses, is difficult to find and delegating such legal risk to BSA staff takes a great deal of trust, training, and
additional resources to monitor activities and protect the financial institution. We believe our history and experience of providing compliant financial services and in conjunction with our financial institution clients
successfully completing regulatory examinations reduces our risk in this area and provides us with a competitive advantage. We are committed to providing services in a compliance first fashion.
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Cannabis Focused Fintech Competition

Financial regulators have created a real or perceived barrier to entry for most financial institutions. This has created the utilization of fintech models to provided financial services to the cannabis industry.
Unregulated financial technology companies (“fintechs™), i.e., those not formally regulated by federal agencies, are not subject to the same restrictions as chartered financial institutions (i.e., concentration limits on
the percentage of balance sheet composed of higher risk cannabis deposits). Fintechs may enjoy this less restricted environment for a period of time, but we anticipate these companies will become subject to
increasing regulatory requirements. We believe competition at the fintech level remains limited, as the emerging cannabis market requires the creation of sustainable fintech models that understand the regulatory
environment, combining technology and regulation. While not fully regulated, fintech models are responsible for moving funds through the financial system via banking partners and must therefore be aware of
regulations surrounding the movement of funds and implement BSA programs themselves.

How the Company Addresses Regulatory Challenges

The Company’s onboarding process for CRBs desiring banking services is a multi-step process that is designed to fulfill the financial institution’s “know your customer” requirements and the diligence expectations
set forth in the 2014 FinCEN Guidance related to providing services to CRBs, particularly developing an understanding of the normal and expected activity for the business.

® The account opening process begins with an application and supporting documentation provided by the CRB, which are uploaded and logged so that, following a quality control review, open items and
questions are flagged for follow up. All account-related documentation is stored in a secure database that allows the Company’s oversight, audit and exam functions to have access to all of the CRB’s
documents.

® As part of the Company’s diligence process, background checks are performed on all business owners, with the need for additional background checks of indirect owners or investors determined in the
application review stage.

o Other diligence includes, among other things, as applicable, confirmation of licensure, on-site visits and regular audits to review business processes and inspect business locations, verification of sources
of funds, review of business and inventory records, and review of other information necessary for a full understanding of the prospective customer’s business and historical operations.

® The account opening process is completed with the assistance of a financial institution staff member.

The Company’s solutions are designed to address the key challenges faced by financial institutions desiring to provide banking services to CRBs. Today’s industry participants lack sufficient and reliable access to
traditional financial services. We believe our solutions offer valuable services making communities safer, drive growth in local economies and foster long term partnerships.

The Company serves financial institutions desiring to provide banking services to the regulated cannabis industry and maintains a high standard of accountability, transparency, monitoring, reporting and risk
mitigation measures while meeting BSA obligations in-line with the 2014 FinCEN Guidance relating to CRBs. BSA obligations vary depending on the growth and complexity of the CRB banking customers’
business, resulting in financial service providers constantly adjusting activities to meet expectations as well as the size of the cannabis portfolio maintained. The Company’s program has actual “hands-on”
experience in the market since January 2015. We have increased BSA activities every year to manage emerging market risks and growth of the portfolio. This experience has allowed for the formulation of best
practices and standardized processes that provide for a better understanding of these risks in order to mitigate them. We believe that the Company’s brand has been optimized on a national level to include sound
and recognized exposure with financial institutions, legislators, governing officials, attorneys’ generals, regulators and the overall cannabis industry.

We have developed proprietary software built specifically for the cannabis industry from input gathered from our experience handling the onboarding of CRB accounts for PCCU. Our software enables our
financial institution clients to manage the customer onboarding process, including applications and intake, “know your customer” diligence, and ongoing compliance monitoring, coupled with financial services
relationship monitoring. Our software is continuously improved based on our experience and is updated to include new options and functions associated with the emerging cannabis market. Our software is able to
run on multiple core banking systems, so as a result we are able to offer this software to financial institution clients who desire to use our software for diligence and monitoring purposes for their own CRB
customers without our assistance. Ultimately, we believe that our software can be updated to accommodate new industries and to enhance existing processes for increased efficiencies.

Financial institutions continue to shy away from banking the cannabis market due to cannabis remaining a Schedule 1 drug, thus illegal under federal law. Because there is no “safe harbor” for financial institutions
seeking to provide banking services to CRBs, it provides us the opportunity to capitalize on our knowledge and position as a market leader. We believe most financial institutions will not enter the market until
federal legalization occurs — especially the large, multi-state financial institutions. Even then, the industry will still be considered a higher-risk banking sector needing strong experience and vetted programs. The
2014 FinCEN Guidance issued in February 2014 detailed the regulatory agency’s compliance and monitoring expectations for financial institutions servicing the cannabis industry. In our opinion, this created a
window of opportunity allowing for the ability to serve the cannabis industry. We believe this window of opportunity, along with our proven track record, reduces the risk of negative consequences as a result of
servicing the cannabis industry.

It is our opinion that many competitors will attempt to enter the financial services market without understanding the complexity or regulatory demands and we believe many will quit once they assess required
resources to maintain a compliant program. We have seen several financial institutions divest their balance sheet of cannabis risk in the last year due to regulatory pressures and demands on BSA dedicated
resources.

Banking, or the lack of banking provided to the cannabis industry, remains a national issue due to the conflict in federal and state laws, reputational risk, and AML/BSA regulatory requirements. CRBs have been
unbanked or even banked secretly. Many financial institutions start serving the industry only to quickly close down their cannabis focused operations due to 1) lack of industry knowledge, ii) regulatory pressure, iii)
cash management volume, and iv) the labor-intensive monitoring and reporting requirements.

Traditional fintech operations typically have difficulty obtaining banking relationships in which to conduct business as the financial institution still remains liable for BSA obligations and yet the fintech retains
control of all safety and soundness processes - a high and potentially expensive financial institution risk without direct control. The Company, under the umbrella of our partner financial institution, PCCU,
methodically built its platform in a regulated manner under the supervision of financial regulators. This allows the Company to continue to operate with attention and activities based upon required regulations and
provide financial institution partners with whom we work confidence in our ability to manage the higher-risk cannabis industry. Going forward, the Company will continue to operate in a manner to ensure a
smooth transition once regulations are standardized for businesses providing financial services under a fintech model.

Future Legislative Developments

Congress may enact legislation from time to time that affects the regulation of the financial services industry, and state legislatures may enact legislation from time to time affecting the regulation of financial
institutions chartered by or operating in their states. Federal and state regulatory agencies also periodically propose and adopt changes to their regulations or change the manner in which existing regulations are
applied. The substance or impact of pending or future legislation or regulation, or the application thereof, cannot be predicted, although any change could impact the regulatory structure under which we or our
competitors operate and may significantly increase costs, impede the efficiency of internal business processes, require an increase in regulatory capital, require modifications to our business strategy, and limit our
ability to pursue business opportunities in an efficient manner. It could also affect our competitors differently than us, including in a manner that would make them more competitive. A change in statutes,
regulations or regulatory policies applicable to us or any of our affiliates could have a material, adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Concentrations

Currently, substantially all deposits are maintained at PCCU, and all transmissions of funds to or from these deposit accounts are handled directly by PCCU. We intend to expand our relationships with other
financial institutions that similarly hold the CRB deposit accounts and handle transmissions of funds to and from the accounts. Although we do not directly hold the deposit accounts, we believe that account
retention is a measure of our ability to efficiently and compliantly onboard, validate and monitor CRB accounts. The largest 10 CRB accounts held at PCCU for the period ended December 31, 2024 represented
less than 5% of fee income from onboarded deposits, which is currently our largest source of revenue. Building upon the existing foundation, we believe the Company has the ability to continue to grow the
financial institution clients for which it onboards deposits and related fee income at a strong pace. In addition, we plan to add access to additional financial services to the Company’s platform, such as merchant
processing, custodial relationships, insurance products, broker/dealer services, payment processing services and investment services, although in each case these services would be provided by a third party holding
necessary licenses.

Loans Receivables

The Company had one loan on its balance sheet as of December 31, 2024. The Company entered into the Amended CAA, effective December 31, 2024, and as of that date, no indemnified loans remain
outstanding. In contrast, as of December 31, 2023, the Company had indemnified a total of twenty loans, with three loans individually accounting for more than 10% of the total indemnified loan balance. Under
the previous CAA, loan interest income was determined based on a fixed percentage fee structure, where PCCU received a share of interest income from CRB-related loans. Additionally, the Company earned
servicing fees of 0.25% annually on loans funded by PCCU and 0.35% on loans both financed and serviced by PCCU. Under the amended CAA, the Company’s loan interest income will now be determined using
a loan yield allocation formula incorporating the Constant Maturity US Treasury Rate, along with a proprietary risk rating formula to determine the fee split. This transition restructures the revenue-sharing model,
eliminating fixed servicing fees while providing SHF with greater control over loan interest income.

The breakdown of the loan portfolio on December 31, 2023, by region, including loan amounts, regional concentration, collateral segmentation between real estate and business assets, and loan-to-value ratios for
each region are as follows:

Business Total
Region Loan Balance Concentration Real Estate Assets Collateral LTV
Southeast 6,626,915 11.90% 10,275,000 - 10,275,000 64.50%
Southwest 2,970,819 5.30% 4,600,000 - 4,600,000 64.60%
West 26,276,954 47.20% 73,396,354 - 73,396,354 35.80%
Northeast 18,343,094 33.00% 6,438,000 39,533,463 45,971,463 39.90%
Midwest 1,428,872 2.60% 2,210,000 - 2,210,000 64.70%
Total 55,046,654 96,919,354 39,533,463 136,452,817 40.80%

As a result of the Amended CAA, the Company no longer has any indemnified loans, and therefore the loan portfolio breakdown as of December 31, 2024, is no longer relevant.
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Employees

As of December 31, 2024, we had forty-one full time employees, and one part time employee. None of our employees are represented by a labor union or covered by a collective bargaining agreement.
Human Capital Management

The Company’s key human capital management objectives are to attract, retain and develop the highest quality talent. To support these objectives, the Company’s human resources programs are designed to
continuously develop talent; reward and support our team members through competitive pay and benefits; enhance the Company’s culture through efforts aimed at making the workplace more engaging and
inclusive; and engage team members as brand ambassadors of our products and experiences.

Our corporate culture and core values (focus on the customer, innovative and forward thinking, sound financial management, doing what is right, collaborative thinking, developing our people and strengthening
our communities) reflect our commitments to our customers, investors, team members, and the communities in which we do business. These values serve as guiding principles to provide a safe and positive work
environment for our team members and delivering on our goals to our customers, investors, stakeholders and communities we serve. We believe we have a strong workforce, with a good mix of professional
credentials, experience, tenure and diversity, that coupled with their commitment to uncompromising values, provide the foundation for our Company’s success.

The Company’s Human Capital Management includes the following areas of focus:

Experience. Due to the high risk and complex nature of serving cannabis businesses, we strive to build a workforce with experience with the cannabis industry. We can more easily train compliance and financial
services, but cannabis expertise is difficult to train.

Talent. Attracting, developing, and retaining the best talent with the right skills is central to our long-term strategy to drive our success.

Our workforce composition aligns with our business needs. Management trusts that it has adequate human capital to operate the business successfully. The company had 41 full-time equivalent employees (FTEs)
at the end of 2024. Approximately 76% of our workforce is based in Colorado, with another 12% in Arkansas, supported by an efficient remote workforce that cultivates new and existing cannabis relationships
across multiple states. The remaining employees are spread across six other states.

Talent acquisition efforts focused on sales, business development and income generator roles. Our talent acquisition team uses internal and external resources to recruit highly skilled and talented workers, and we
encourage and reward employee referrals for open positions. We hire the best person for the job without regard to gender, ethnicity or other protected traits and it is our policy to comply fully with all federal and
state laws relating to discrimination in the workplace. New employees are provided industry-relevant compliance training and are introduced to our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, which is posted on our
website at www.shfinancial.org. The inclusion of our website addressed in this Form 10-K does not include or incorporate by reference the information on our website into this Form 10-K.

Fair and Consistent Practices. Employees want to know that if they are working hard and dedicated to the company, the person next to them should be as well. All of our communications, evaluations, assessments,
and monitoring ensure that our employees are treated with respect and are able to trust that the company will ensure fair and consistent treatment. Performance evaluations done on a quarterly and annual basis
provide for competitive pay increases and access to the equity incentive plan. We work to make them feel part of the team no matter what role they fill. Evaluations are used to build staff expertise, efficiencies and
competencies; utilizing objective criteria on which to base rewards.

Learning and Development. Our team members are inspired to achieve their full potential through learning and development opportunities, recognition, and motivation. We invest in creating opportunities to help
them grow and build their careers, through a multitude of learning and development programs. These include online instructor-led, cannabis industry focused conferences, and on-the-job learning assignments.
Understanding that all employees learn differently, we offer a variety of learning options including traditional classroom learning, virtual learning, any time learning, mobile learning, and social collaboration.

Leadership Development and Succession Planning. We focus on growing leadership internally and ensuring the continuity of business at all levels. We do this with mentoring programs, delegating to train
employees to the next level, and specific leadership training programs to encourage staff to reach higher levels. Promoting from within is a solid strategy for long term success and loyalty.

Employee engagement. To assess and improve employee retention and engagement, the Company regularly conducts anonymous surveys to seek feedback from our employees on a variety of topics, including but
not limited to, confidence in company leadership, competitiveness of our compensation and benefits package, career growth opportunities, and improvements on how we could make our company an employer of
choice. The Company closely monitors the implementation of these surveys and results are shared with our employees and reviewed by senior leadership, who analyze areas of progress or deterioration and
prioritize actions and activities to drive meaningful improvements in employee engagement. Management believes that the Company’s employee relations are favorable.

We also hold regular strategic update meetings to review corporate strategies and financial successes to ensure they understand the underlying reason for assigned tasks and goals. We establish regular functional
area meetings at which employees are encouraged to provide client and operational feedback, ensuring they contribute and demonstrate future potential talent. Cross functional meetings are also scheduled regularly

to ensure cross functional teamwork.
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Health and Safety. Consistent with our operating principles, the health and safety of our employees is of top priority. Hazards in the workplace are actively identified and management tracks incidents so remedial
actions can be taken to improve workplace safety. The COVID-19 pandemic underscored the importance of keeping our employees safe and healthy. In response to the pandemic, the Company has continued taking
actions aligned with the World Health Organization and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention to protect its workforce so they can more safely and effectively perform their work. We implemented remote
work options that have granted employees a combination of working at the office or from home. We ensure further safety by encouraging any employee that might not feel well or have family members that might
be ill to work from home in order to protect the office environment.

Diversity and Inclusion. Our diversity and inclusion goals are to build teams that reflect the communities we serve while hiring and supporting a diverse array of talent. Over 48% of our workforce is female with
over 24% of management also comprised of female employees. Likewise, we have over 22% of the workforce represented as Latino, Hispanic or African American.

Our diversity and inclusion pillars are also reflected in our employee learning programs, particularly with respect to our policies against harassment and the elimination of bias in the workplace. Annual harassment
training is done by all employees to ensure a workplace free of any type of harassment. Any and all complaints are dealt with in the most professional and expedited manner, creating a level of trust between
management and staff.

Total Rewards (Compensation and Benefits). As part of our compensation philosophy, we believe in a competitive, total rewards program aligned with our business objectives and the interests of our stakeholders.
We remain committed to delivering a compensation program with the fundamental principles of fairness, transparency, efficiency, and compliance with laws and regulations. Based on specific job position and
market conditions, our total rewards program combines fixed and variable compensation: base salary, short-term incentive, equity-based long-term incentive, and a broad range of benefits. This compensation
approach plays a significant role in our ability to attract, retain and motivate the quality of talent necessary to achieve our strategic business goals and drive sustained performance. Our compensation model
engages employees to contribute towards the achievement of shared corporate objectives, while differentiating pay on performance based on individual contributions.

Wellness. The Company takes pride in providing excellent health and wellness benefits to our employees and their families. The benefits package offered includes comprehensive medical, dental, vision, as well as
supplemental short and long-term life and out of pocket costs insurance. Along with these benefits, we also offer and fund a portion of employee Health Savings Accounts (“HSA”) monthly.

Medical Plans. Our nationwide healthcare plans allow full-time and part time employees to select from multiple health plan options. The company provides competitive medical premiums. The Company
contributes a percentage of the employee premium depending upon tenure, with those employed longest receiving full payment of premium for employee coverage. The Company also contributes monthly towards
the HSA accounts.

Dental, Vision and Legal Plans. Employees are eligible to participate in our dental, vision, and legal plan offerings. The Company contributes up to 100% depending on the plan and chosen tier and provides access
to numerous providers across the country. Employees can also choose to purchase out-of-pocket insurance policies providing income protection and cash for services with different plans from accident, short-term
disability, long term disability, additional life insurance, and more.

401K Retirement Plan. In addition to health insurance benefits, the Company also offers to all employees a tax-qualified retirement contribution plan, with the Company’s 100% matching contribution up to 4% of
a participant’s eligible compensation, and a non-tax qualified retirement contribution plan to certain eligible highly-compensated employees. Our total benefits package supports our employees’ well-being to
achieve a healthy and financial lifestyle goal.

PTO Plan. Employees enjoy a solid paid time off (“PTO”) plan that allows for four weeks of personal time off their first year. Employees are also allowed to sell back PTO weeks based upon their tenure, allowing
for a benefit many take advantage of to fund vacations, family situations, and even holiday shopping. They are allowed to carry over 80 hours into a new year and excess hours are paid to the employee at that time.

Corporate History

The Company was founded in 2015 as a solution to a major problem that plagued the nascent legalized cannabis industry in Colorado - access to reliable and compliant financial services. Cannabis related funds
were already finding their way into the financial system, including via hidden, misrepresented accounts and unlawful banking practices. Based upon our research, we determined that the appropriate step was to
protect the financial system from criminal activity and provide legitimacy to the legal state CRBs. From decades of regulatory and banking experience, we created a detailed compliance program to assist financial
institutions desiring to provide safe and sound financial services that would accomplish industry accountability and protect the financial system. The compliance program provides onboarding, validation and
monitoring services to financial institutions desiring to provide traditional banking services to all types of marijuana, hemp, and CBD businesses, and to ancillary businesses that provide services to the cannabis
industry. These ancillary businesses include payroll companies, payment processors, and professionals providing services to and receiving payment from CRBs. As the lawful cannabis industry grew beyond
Colorado, the Company evolved its business practices to build a national footprint and currently provides services to financial institutions that provide banking services in 41states and territories of the United
States of America where cannabis is either legal medicinally or for full adult use.

15




Table of Contents

Safe Harbor Financial (SHF) was established by PCCU following the approval of a contribution of certain assets and operational activities from select PCCU branches and Safe Harbor Services, a wholly owned
subsidiary of PCCU. These assets and operations were first transferred to SHF Holding Co., LLC, which then contributed them to SHE. PCCU’s investment in SHF was maintained at the SHF Holding Co., LLC
level (collectively referred to as the “Pre-Public Company”). This reorganization took effect on July 1, 2021.

As part of the reorganization, all employees involved in the Carved-Out Operations—including those from PCCU—were transitioned to SHF. Following this transfer, SHF assumed full ownership of the Carved-
Out Operations, and the Pre-Public Company was dissolved. Additionally, on July 1, 2021, SHF entered into an Account Servicing Agreement and a Support Services Agreement with PCCU, formalizing their
operational relationship. These agreements were later amended and restated, as detailed in Note 8 of the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Form 10K.

On September 28, 2022, the Company acquired all outstanding membership interests of SHF through a Business Combination. This transaction was completed under a Unit Purchase Agreement dated February 11,
2022 (the “Business Combination Agreement”), involving SHF, SHF Holding Co., LLC (a wholly owned subsidiary of PCCU and direct parent of SHF), PCCU, NLIT (a special purpose acquisition company), and
its sponsor, 5SAK, LLC. Following the completion of the Business Combination, NLIT was renamed “SHF Holdings, Inc.” In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the terms “we,” “us,” “our,” “Safe Harbor,” and the
“Company” refer to SHF Holdings, Inc. and its operations after the closing of the Business Combination.

Corporate Information
Our mailing address is 1526 Cole Blvd., Suite 250, Golden, Colorado 80401. Our telephone number is (303) 431-3435.
Available Information

We maintain a website at the address shfinancial.org. On our website, you can access, free of charge, our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, our annual
proxy statement on Schedule 14A, and amendments to those materials filed or furnished pursuant to Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Exchange Act. Materials are available online as soon as reasonably practicable
after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. In addition, the SEC maintains a website at the address www.sec.gov that contains the information we file or furnish electronically with the
SEC. The information contained on our website or on the SEC’s website is not incorporated by reference in, or considered part of, this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Emerging Growth Company Status

We are an “emerging growth company,” or “EGC”, as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (the “JOBS Act”). As such, we are eligible to take advantage of certain exemptions from various
reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not “emerging growth companies,” including, but not limited to, not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements
of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirements of holding a non-
binding advisory vote on executive compensation and shareholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved.

In addition, Section 107 of the JOBS Act also provides that an EGC can take advantage of the extended transition period provided in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act, for complying with new or revised
accounting standards. In other words, an EGC can delay the adoption of certain accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply to private companies. We intend to take advantage of the benefits
of this extended transition period, for as long as it is available. We will remain an EGC until the earlier of (1) the last day of the fiscal year (a) following the fifth anniversary of the date of the first sale of our
common equity securities pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act and (b) in which we have total annual gross revenue of at least $1.07 billion, (2) the date on which we are deemed
to be a large accelerated filer, which means the market value of our common stock that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of the last business day of our most recently completed second fiscal quarter,
and (3) the date on which we have issued more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt during the prior three-year period. References herein to “emerging growth company” have the meaning provided in the
JOBS Act.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors.

For a complete discussion of the Company’s risks and uncertainties, please refer to the risk factors included under the caption “Risk Factors” in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2022, filed with the SEC on April 14, 2023. As of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, there have been no material changes to the risk factors previously disclosed under Part I, Item 1A,
except for the following update regarding non-compliance with Nasdaq listing requirements:

e On April 1, 2025, the Company received a letter from the Staff, indicating that the Company had not regained compliance with the Minimum Bid Price Requirement by March 31, 2025, and unless the
Company requests a hearing and appeals the determination by April 8, 2025, the Company’s class A common stock and warrants would be delisted from The Nasdaq Capital Market and that trading of the
Company’s securities will be suspended, effective at opening of business on April 10, 2025. Further, the Company was notified that on April 10, 2025, a Form 25-NSE will be filed with the SEC, which will
remove the Company’s securities from listing and registration on The Nasdaq Stock Market.

On April 7, 2025, the Company was notified by the staff (the “Staff””) of The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC’s Listing Qualifications Department that the Staff has determined that for 10 consecutive business days,
from March 24, 2025 to April 4, 2025, the minimum closing bid price for the Company’s Class A common stock was at least $1.00 per share or greater.

Accordingly, the Staff has determined that the Company has regained compliance with Minimum Bid Price Requirement, and, as such, the Staff has indicated that the matter of the Company’s compliance with
Minimum Bid Price Requirement is now closed.

e On April 7, 2025, the Company received a notice from Nasdaq indicating that it no longer meets the continued listing requirements for the Nasdaq Capital Market. Specifically, the Company’s stockholders’
equity as of December 31, 2024, was a deficit of $12,288,014, which is below the minimum required stockholders' equity of $2.5 million as stipulated by Nasdaq’s Listing Rule 5550(b)(1). As a result, the
Company does not comply with the Nasdaq Capital Market continued listing standards. Furthermore, the Company does not meet the alternative criteria for continued listing, which are based on the market
value of listed securities or net income from continuing operations.

The Company has been granted 45 calendar days, until May 22, 2025, to submit a plan to regain compliance with Nasdaq’s listing requirements. If the plan is accepted, Nasdaq may grant an extension of up to
180 calendar days from the date of this letter for the Company to meet the continued listing standards. The Company intends to timely submit a Compliance Plan to Nasdaq to regain compliance with the
Shareholders” Equity Requirement. There can be no assurance that Nasdaq will accept the Company’s plan or that the Company will be able to regain compliance with Listing Rule 5550(b)(1) or maintain
compliance with any other Nasdaq requirement in the future.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.
None.
Item 1C. Cybersecurity.

The Company employs internal resources and third-party service providers to manage, operate and administer our day-to-day operations, business and affairs, subject to the direction and supervision of the Board.
The Board recognizes the critical importance of maintaining the trust and confidence of our business partners. The Board plays an active role in overseeing management of our risks, and cybersecurity represents an
important component of the Company’s overall approach to risk management and oversight. The Company and its management are committed to protecting the confidentiality of all non-public information related
to the Company’s clients, shareholders and their personnel.

Risk Management and Strategy

The Company relies on its Management and employees to execute its comprehensive cybersecurity program, and has adopted a written information security program, which is designed to address applicable
requirements under Regulation S-P and the FTC Safeguards Rule. Consequently, the Company also relies on the processes for assessing, identifying, and managing material risks from cybersecurity threats. The
processes include, among other things, maintaining secure digital or physical access to information assets, using manual and automated detection methods for malicious code, due diligence of third-party vendors,
and engaging a leading provider of cybersecurity services to assess and manage cybersecurity risk. For third-party service vendors that perform a variety of important functions for our business, we seek to engage
reliable, reputable service vendors that maintain cybersecurity programs.

All of the Company’s officers and employees are subject to its policies and procedures. The Company utilizes both internal and third-party cybersecurity services, including threat detection and response,
vulnerability assessment and monitoring, security incident response and recovery and general cybersecurity education and awareness. We engage in periodic assessment and training regarding the policies,
standards and practices designed to address cybersecurity threats and incidents. Our cybersecurity risk management is integrated into our overall enterprise risk management and shares common methodologies,
reporting channels and governance processes that apply across our enterprise risk management.

To date, we have not experienced any cybersecurity threats, including as a result of any previous cybersecurity incidents, that have materially affected the Company and we are not aware of any cybersecurity
threats that are reasonably likely to affect the Company, including its business strategy, results of operations or financial condition.

Governance

Management oversees the Company’s cybersecurity risk management process. Management has adopted a charter that provides to periodically review and discuss with the Board the guidelines and policies with
respect to risk assessment and risk management of cybersecurity and other risk exposures relevant to the Company’s computerized information system controls and security. Management may receive additional
training in cybersecurity and data privacy matters to enable its oversight of such risks. Management will report to the Board on the substance of such reviews and discussions and, as necessary, recommend to the
Board such actions as management deems appropriate.

As noted above, the Company relies on our internal Information Systems in connection with the Company’s day-to-day operations. The Company relies on the internal processes for assessing, identifying, and
managing material risks from cybersecurity threats.

The Company’s Chief Financial Officer, Chief Legal Officer, and Head of IT work collaboratively with other employees of the Company to ensure protection of the Company’s Information Systems from
cybersecurity threats and to promptly respond to any cybersecurity incidents. These members of the Company’s management team monitor the prevention, detection, mitigation and remediation of cybersecurity
threats and incidents and report such threats and incidents to the board when appropriate. They have gained relevant knowledge, skills and experience in information technology and cybersecurity risk management,
including overseeing third-party vendors in such areas, over their careers at the Company or other organizations.
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Item 2. Properties.

The Company leases approximately 8,043 square feet of office space as its executive offices in Golden, Colorado at a cost of approximately $18,130 per month, increasing annually to a maximum of $19,618 for
the final six months of the term. The lease term expires July 31, 2029. In addition, the Company also leases approximately 2,705 square feet of office space in Little Rock, Arkansas. The lease term continues
through and including July 31, 2026 at an expense of approximately $3,000 per month. The Company believes its existing facilities and equipment, which are used, are in good operating condition and are suitable
for the conduct of its business.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

On October 17, 2024, the Company caused a Complaint to be filed in the District Court for the City and County of Denver, Colorado, captioned SHF Holdings, Inc. v. Daniel Roda, Gregory W. Ellis, and James R.
Carroll, Case No. 2024CV33187 (Denver County District Court). On November 21, 2024, in connection with the Company’s request, the Company caused the Merger Payment to be deposited into the Denver
County District Court’s registry so that it can be distributed in accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement. The Merger Payment has already been accounted for in the working capital deficit disclosed in
the Liquidity and Going Concern section. On December 19, 2024, Daniel Roda, Gregory W. Ellis, and James R. Carroll caused an answer and counterclaim to be filed in response to the Company Complaint. For
additional details, please refer to the section titled “Abaca legal case in Denver” in the Recent Updates above as well as the Company’s Current Reports on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 18, 2024 and
December 19, 2024.

Beyond the foregoing, we may, from time to time, in the ordinary course, be subject to various legal proceedings and disputes. In addition, as part of the ordinary course of business, we may be parties to litigation
involving claims relating to the ownership of funds in particular accounts, the collection of delinquent accounts, credit relationships, challenges to security interests in collateral and foreclosure interests, which are
incidental to our regular business activities. While the ultimate liability with respect to these other litigation matters and claims cannot be determined at this time, we are currently not aware of any such pending or
threatened legal proceedings or claims that we believe will have or is likely to have, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse effect on our business, financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
Where appropriate, reserves for these various matters of litigation are established, under FASB ASC Topic 450, Contingencies, based in part upon management’s judgment and the advice of legal counsel.

At least quarterly, we assess our liabilities and contingencies in connection with outstanding legal proceedings utilizing the latest information available. For those matters where it is probable that we will incur a
loss and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated, we record a liability in our consolidated financial statements. These legal reserves may be increased or decreased to reflect any relevant developments
based on our quarterly reviews. For other matters, where a loss is not probable or the amount of the loss cannot be estimated, we have not accrued legal reserves, consistent with applicable accounting guidance.
Based on information currently available to us, advice of counsel, and available insurance coverage, we believe that our established reserves are adequate and the liabilities arising from the legal proceedings will
not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial condition. We note, however, that in light of the inherent uncertainty in legal proceedings there can be no assurance that the ultimate resolution will
not exceed established reserves. As a result, the outcome of a particular matter or a combination of matters, if unfavorable, may be material to our financial position, results of operations or cash flows for a
particular period, depending upon the size of the loss or our income for that particular period.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
Not applicable.
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PART I
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.
Market Information
Our Class A Common Stock and Public Warrants are currently listed on The Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbols “SHFS” and “SHFS,” respectively.
Holders of Record

As of March 31, 2025, there were 4,091 holders of our Class A Common Stock and 21 holders of our Public Warrants. The actual number of stockholders is greater than this number of record holders and includes
stockholders who are beneficial owners but whose shares are held in street name by brokers and other nominees.

Dividend Policy

We have not paid any cash dividends on our Class A Common Stock to date. We may retain future earnings, if any, for future operations, expansion and debt repayment and has no current plans to pay cash
dividends for the foreseeable future. Any decision to declare and pay dividends in the future will be made at the discretion of the Board and will depend on, among other things, our results of operations, financial
condition, cash requirements, contractual restrictions and other factors that the Board may deem relevant. In addition, our ability to pay dividends may be limited by covenants of any existing and future outstanding
indebtedness we or our subsidiaries incur. We do not anticipate declaring any cash dividends to holders of the Class A Common Stock in the foreseeable future.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

There have been no securities sold by the Company for the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K which were not registered under the Securities Act. Included are new issues, securities issued upon
conversion from other share classes, and securities issued in exchange for property, services, or other securities.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
None
Item 6. [Reserved]
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

References in this section to “we,” “us,” “our,” “SHF” or the “Company” refer to SHF Holdings, Inc. References to “management” refer to our officers and board of managers. The following discussion and
analysis of our financial performance and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the notes to those financial statements included elsewhere in this Form
10-K This discussion contains forward-looking statements based upon current expectations that involve risks and uncertainties. See “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.” Our actual results
may differ materially from those contained in or implied by any forward-looking statements.

Overview

Founded in 2015 by Partner Colorado Credit Union (“PCCU”) (please see “Business Reorganization” below for a description of SHF’s organization), SHF’s mission is to provide access to reliable and compliant
financial services for the legal cannabis industry. Through that mission and as an early leader with over ten years of experience, SHF is a leading provider of access to reliable and compliance driven banking,

lending and other financial services to financial institutions desiring to provide those services to the cannabis industry.

Through our proprietary platform and on a multi-state level, SHF provides access to the following banking related services through PCCU and other financial institutions:

. Business checking and savings accounts;

. Cash management accounts;

. Savings and investment options;

. Commercial lending;

. Courier services (via third-party relationships);

. Remote deposit services;

. Automated Clearing House (ACH) payments and origination; and
. Wire payments.

Our services allow Cannabis Related Businesses (herein referred to as “CRBs”) to obtain services from financial institutions that allow them to run their business more efficiently and effectively with improved
financial insight into their business and access to resources to help them grow. Due to limited availability of payment and other banking solutions for the cannabis industry, most businesses transact with high
volumes of cash. Our fintech platform benefits CRBs and financial institutions by providing CRBs with access to financial institutions and financial institutions access to increased deposits with the comfort of
knowing that those deposits have been compliantly monitored and validated. By facilitating the daily deposits of cash receipts between CRBs and financial institutions, the risks associated with high cash on hand
are mitigated, creating a safer atmosphere for the CRB’s employees and the financial institutions at which the deposit accounts are held. Because the Company is not a financial institution, it does not hold customer
deposits. All deposit accounts are held by the Company’s financial institution clients and all transmissions of funds to and from deposit accounts are handled directly by the financial institutions. In an industry with
limited capital and financing options, we offer access to loan options at what we believe to be competitive rates, often with less punitive terms than the current industry average. Our financial institution clients offer
loan options including senior secured debt and operating lines of debt. Collateral types include real estate, equipment, and other business assets. We also provide access to lending options for ancillary service
providers serving the cannabis industry as these businesses also can have difficulty finding reliable financial services.

To ensure access to consistent and dependable banking access to CRBs, we provide our compliance, validation and monitoring services to financial institutions in a compliance driven environment ensuring strict
adherence to the Bank Secrecy Act/FInCEN guidance and related anti money laundering provisions. Since inception, the Company has assisted in the processing of more than $24.9 billion in cannabis related

depository funds. Through its relationship with its financial institution clients, the Company has successfully navigated over 16 state and federal banking exams.
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In strategically selected geographic areas, the Company has licensed its proprietary software and Safe Harbor Program (the “Program”) to other financial institutions to provide compliance-related services to
CRBs. As part of the Program, we provide the following to financial institutions interested in licensing the Program to assist in compliant cannabis banking:

. Initial customer due diligence — Know Your Customer;
. Customer application management;
. Program management support;
. Compliance monitoring; and
. Regulatory exam assistance.
Key Metrics

In addition to the measures presented in our consolidated financial statements, our management regularly monitors certain measures in the operation of our business. These key metrics are discussed below.
Non-GAAP Financial Measures

In addition to financial measures presented in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”), this document contains non-GAAP financial measures where
management believes it to be helpful in understanding our results of operations or financial position. Where non-GAAP financial measures are used, the comparable GAAP financial measure, as well as the
reconciliation to the comparable GAAP financial measure, can be found herein.

Earnings Before Interest Taxes Depreciation and Amortization (EBITDA) and Adjusted EBITDA

To provide investors with additional information regarding our financial results, we have disclosed EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA, both of which are non-GAAP financial measures that we calculate as net loss
before taxes and depreciation and amortization expense in the case of EBITDA and further adjusted to exclude non-cash, unusual and/or infrequent costs in the case of Adjusted EBITDA. Below we have provided
a reconciliation of net loss (the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure) to EBITDA and from EBITDA to Adjusted EBITDA.

We present EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA because these metrics are a key measure used by our management to evaluate our operating performance, generate future operating plans, and make strategic decisions
regarding the allocation of investment capacity. Accordingly, we believe that EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA provide useful information to investors and others in understanding and evaluating our operating

results in the same manner as our management.

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA have limitations as an analytical tool, and it should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for analysis of our results as reported under GAAP. Some of these limitations are
as follows:

e although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized may have to be replaced in the future, and both EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA do not reflect
cash capital expenditure requirements for such replacements or for new capital expenditure requirements;

e EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA do not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs; and

e EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA do not reflect tax payments that may represent a reduction in cash available to us.
Because of these limitations, you should consider EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA alongside other financial performance measures, including net loss and our other GAAP results.
A reconciliation of net loss to non-GAAP EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023

Net loss $ (48,319,475) $ (17,279,847)
Interest expense 533,390 1,094,736
Depreciation and amortization 711,929 1,373,707
Provision (benefit) for income taxes 43,859,686 (1,829,701)
EBITDA (3,214,470) (16,641,105)
Other adjustments —

Credit loss (benefit) expense (1,393,131) 290,857

Change in the fair value of warrants and forward purchase derivatives (2,803,640) 1,853,920

Change in the fair value of deferred consideration (361,449) (4,570,157)

Deferred loan origination fees and costs (63,275) 27,271

Stock based compensation 1,575,952 3,739,156

Goodwill and long-lived intangible assets impairment 9,148,881 18,907,739
Adjusted EBITDA $ 2,888,868 $ 3,607,681
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For the year ending December 31, 2024, our adjusted EBITDA declined primarily due to a decrease in account fee income resulting from a reduction in the number of accounts, as well as higher professional
expenses, particularly legal fees associated with ongoing litigation. These factors contributing to our financial performance are further discussed in the “Discussion of our Results of Operations™ section below.
Other adjustments include estimated future credit losses not yet realized, including amounts indemnified to PCCU for loans funded by them. The Company entered into the PCCU CAA with PCCU, under which it
agreed to indemnify PCCU for claims related to CRB activities, including loan default-related losses for loans funded by PCCU. This agreement was subsequently amended and restated, effective December 31,
2024, to eliminate the Company’s indemnification liability. Deferred loan origination fees and costs represent the change in net deferred loan origination fees and costs. When included with a new loan origination,
we receive an upfront loan origination fee in conjunction with new loans funded by our financial institution partners and incur costs associated with originating a specific loan. For accounting purposes, the cash
received for loan origination fees and costs is initially deferred and recognized as interest income utilizing the interest method.

Other Metrics
For our business operations, we monitor the following key metrics.

Total account balances, number of accounts and average account balances

Our ability to originate loans for PCCU is dependent on the size of our managed deposit base and number of active accounts. In addition, fees are generated based on open accounts and account activity. We
monitor account activity including deposits, withdrawals and ending account balance daily. Total account balances represent the balance of onboarded and monitored deposits on hand at financial institution clients
at period end. Average account balance represents the total account balance divided by the number of accounts at the period end.

Account fees per average active accounts managed

Currently a significant amount of our fees is generated from account openings, active accounts and account activity. As a result, we monitor account openings and closings on a daily, weekly and monthly basis. We
strive to meet the appropriate balance between depository balances and fees and therefore review account fees per average number of active accounts managed.

Year Ended December 31, 2024 2023 Change Change (%)
Average monthly ending deposit balance (1) $ 117,847,512 204,923,090 (87,075,578) (42.49)%
Account fees 2) $ 5,073,186 7,735,582 (2,662,396) (34.42)%
Average active accounts 3) 757 932 (175) (18.78)%
Average account balance 4) $ 155,728 219,835 (64,107) (29.16)%
Average fees per account “4) $ 6,704 8,298 (1,594) (19.21)%

(1) Represents the average of monthly ending account balances

2) Reported account activity fee revenue

3) Represents the average of monthly ending active accounts

4) Refer to the below section — Discussion of Results of our Operations for additional discussion of trends.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, there was a decline in the average number of accounts and associated fees compared to the prior period, mainly due to a reduction in clientele following the termination of
the agreement with the Central Bank of Arkansas which was acquired in 2022 as part of the Abaca Acquisition. However, we anticipate a reversal of this trend as we focus on our lending program, which generally
requires borrowers to maintain deposits with financial institutions with which we have established relationships.

We are focused on expanding and enhancing our lending platform. As this part of our business scales, we will track key metrics, such as average loan balance, average repayment term, effective interest rate, loan
status, and other relevant indicators, to measure growth and performance.

Components of our Results of Operations

Revenue

The Company generates interest and fee income through providing a variety of services to our financial institutions to facilitate its banking services to CRBs including, among other things, Bank Secrecy Act and
other regulatory compliance and reporting, onboarding, responding to account inquiries, responding to customer service inquiries relating to CRB deposit accounts held at financial institution clients, and sourcing
and originating loans. In addition, the Company provides these similar services and outsourced support to other financial institutions providing banking to the cannabis industry.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses consist of compensation and benefits, professional services, rent expense, credit loss (benefit) expense and other general and administrative expenses.
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Compensation and benefits consist of employee wages and associated benefits while professional services consist of legal, general consulting and accounting fees.

The Company reports provisions for credit losses on internally funded and indemnified loans. Prior to December 31, 2024, the Company indemnified PCCU against losses on sourced loans. With effect from the

Amended CAA, the indemnification obligation ceased on December 31, 2024.

Other general and administrative expenses consist of various miscellaneous items including account hosting fees, insurance expense, advertising and marketing, travel meals and entertainment and other office and

operating expense.

Discussion of our Results of Operations —2024 Compared to 2023 (Year Ended December 31)

Revenue

Year Ended December 31, 2024 2023 Change ($) Change (%)

Account fee income $ 6,447,201 8,614,945 (2,167,744) (25.16)%
Safe Harbor Program income 76,920 130,688 (53,768) (41.14)%
Investment income 2,092,863 5,844,836 (3,751,973) (64.19)%
Loan interest income 6,625,576 2,972,434 3,653,142 122.90%
Total Revenue $ 15,242,560 17,562,903 (2,320,343) (13.2D)%

Account fee income consists of deposit account fees, activity fees and onboarding income. We receive a flat fee and lower rates for ancillary accounts, which are accounts provided to businesses servicing the
cannabis industry in general but do not manufacture, possess, distribute or transport cannabis. The decrease in account fee income was primarily attributable to the previously disclosed reduction in the number of

accounts and the average monthly ending deposit balance.
The reconciliation of account fee income and account hosting fees are as follows:

Account fee income:

Year Ended December 31, 2024 2023 Change ($) Change (%)

PCCU $ 4,565,545 5,150,397 (584,852) (11.36)%
Central Bank 1,190,700 3,193,067 (2,002,367) (62.71)%
Pacific Valley Bank 46,989 21,799 25,190 115.56%
Five Star Bank 490,117 78,864 411,253 521.47%
Others 153,850 170,818 (16,968) (9.93)%
Total account fee income $ 6,447,201 8,614,945 (2,167,744) (25.16)%
Account hosting fees:

Year Ended December 31, 2024 2023 Change ($) Change (%)

PCCU $ 452,371 529,208 (76,837) (14.52)%
Central Bank - 878,430 (878,430) (100.00)%
Pacific Valley Bank 19,460 8,720 10,740 123.17%
Five Star Bank 72,963 11,864 61,099 514.99%
Total account hosting fees $ 544,794 1,428,222 (883,428) (61.86)%

Account fees, net of hosting fees, were $5,902,407 and $7,186,723 for December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023, respectively, reflecting an 8% margin improvement on reduced fees.

The Company provides similar account services and outsourced support to other financial institutions that offer banking services to the cannabis industry. These services are provided under the Safe Harbor Master
Program Agreement.

Investment income

We have agreements with PCCU and Five Star Bank (FSB), where our financial institution clients pay us interest on daily account balances as per the rates outlined in the agreements.

Until March 29, 2023, we operated under a Loan Servicing Agreement with PCCU, where PCCU reported the loan balances on its financial statements. This agreement was later superseded by the PCCU CAA,
under which we paid a hosting fee equivalent to 25% of the investment income derived from PCCU-related funds. For the year ended December 31, 2024, investment income associated with PCCU totaled
$1,903,422, with the Company incurring $457,105 in investment hosting fees. In comparison, for the year ended December 31, 2023, PCCU’s contribution to investment income was $5,803,114, resulting in

$1,445,517 in investment hosting fees. These expenses were recorded under “General and Administrative Expenses” in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The Amended CAA eliminates the 25% investment hosting fees. Under the Amended CAA, the Company is entitled to receive 100% of the investment income. For further details, please refer to the ‘Amended and
Restated CAA with PCCU” section in the Recent Updates above.

Loan interest income

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company serviced twenty-four loans, compared to twelve loans in the year ended December 31, 2023. In 2024, the Company recognized $6,254,175 in loan interest
income attributable to PCCU activities. Related expenses for this income included $143,217 in loan servicing fees, in compliance with both the Loan Servicing Agreement and the PCCU CAA. In 2023, loan
interest income from PCCU operations amounted to $2,883,192, with associated loan servicing fees totaling $81,577, pursuant to the same agreements. These expenses were also categorized under “General and

Administrative Expenses” in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Under the Amended CAA, the Company’s loan interest income will be determined by a new loan yield allocation formula. This formula incorporates the Constant Maturity US Treasury Rate and a proprietary risk
rating to determine the fee split for each loan. Please refer to the ‘Amended and Restated CAA with PCCU’ section in the Recent Updates above.
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Operating expenses

Year Ended December 31, 2024 2023 Change ($) Change (%)

Compensation and employee benefits $ 7,783,331 $ 10,334,212 $ (2,550,881) (24.68)%
General and administrative expenses 4,018,094 6,587,392 (2,569,298) (39.00)%
Impairment of goodwill 6,058,000 13,208,276 (7,150,276) (54.13)%
Impairment of long-lived intangible assets 3,090,881 5,699,463 (2,608,582) “45.71%
Professional services 2,518,394 1,858,137 660,257 35.53%
Rent expense 258,477 315,615 (57,138) (18.10)%
Credit loss (benefit) expense (1,393,131) 290,857 (1,683,988) (578.97)%
Total Operating Expenses $ 22,334,046 $ 38,293,952 $ (15,959,906) (41.68)%

In 2024, we reduced expenses by $15,959,906, which is a 41.68% reduction in expenses compared to 2023.

Compensation and employee benefits expenses decreased due to decrease in stock-based compensation and a lower headcount as compared to previous year. Restructuring efforts will continue as we optimize our
talent portfolio.

General and administrative expenses decreased across various categories including: i) $988,412 in investment hosting fees as a result of the decrease in investment income, ii) $900,034 in decreased bank sharing
fees due to the decrease in the number of accounts, and iii) $661,776 in decreased amortization and depreciation.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the impairment of goodwill and finite-lived intangible assets was recognized as a result of the Company’s annual impairment assessment conducted on December 31, 2024.
Similarly, for the year ended December 31, 2023, impairment of goodwill and finite-lived intangible assets was recorded following both the annual impairment assessment on December 31, 2023, and an interim
impairment assessment on June 30, 2023. The interim assessment was necessitated by the termination of the Master Services and Revenue Sharing Agreement with the Central Bank, under which the Company
provided expertise and intellectual property to cannabis-related businesses, primarily in Arkansas.

The professional services expense increased primarily due to higher legal fees related to ongoing litigation.

The indemnity liability was eliminated from the Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2024, due to the Amended CAA, which led to the complete reversal of the liability under the ‘credit loss (benefit) expense.”
Please refer to the ‘Amended and Restated CAA with PCCU” section in the Recent Updates above.

Other (income) /expenses

Year ended December 31, 2024 2023 Change ($) Change(%)
Change in the fair value of deferred consideration $ (361,449) $ (4,570,157) $ 4,208,708 (92.09)%
Interest expense 533,390 1,094,736 (561,346) (51.28)%
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities (2,803,638) 1,853,920 (4,657,558) (251.23)%
$ (2,631,697) $ (1,621,501) $ (1,010,196) 62.30%

The deferred consideration from the Abaca acquisition is classified as a derivative liability under ASC 815 and recorded at fair value, with periodic adjustments. Its value fluctuates based on factors such as the
company’s stock price, market volatility, risk-free interest rates, and amendments to the agreement. For the year ended December 31, 2024, the fair value of deferred consideration decreased by $361,449 from its
balance as of December 31, 2023. This reduction was due to a decline in the fair value adjustment on the stock and cash consideration payable to the Abaca shareholders, which affected the fair value of the third
anniversary payment.

Interest expense for 2024 primarily consists of interest liability on the Senior Secured Promissory Note. In contrast, interest expense for 2023 primarily comprised interest liabilities on both the Senior Secured
Promissory Note and the deferred obligation related to the reverse acquisition of NLIT (see Note 8 for details on the issuance of shares to PCCU). For the year ended December 31, 2024, interest expense decreased
by $561,346. This reduction was mainly due to the restructuring of the deferred obligation payable related to the reverse acquisition, which was converted into a Senior Secured Promissory Note on March 29,
2023.

The Company has warrant liabilities related to Public, Private Placement, PIPE, and Abaca Warrants, which may be settled in cash or stock depending on conditions such as stock price or registration status. These
warrants are accounted for as derivative liabilities due to their contingent nature. The liabilities are subject to adjustments based on terms and stock performance. The change in the fair value of warrant liabilities

by $2,803,638 from December 31, 2023 was attributable to the decrease in the share price.

Income taxes

Year ended December 31, 2024 2023 Change ($) Change (%)
Income tax expense (benefit), net $ 43,859,686 $ (1,829,701) $ 45,689,387 (2,497.10)%
$ 43.,859.686 $ (1.829,701) $ 45,689.387 (2.497.10)%

The Company recognized a deferred tax asset, primarily arising from temporary differences between financial accounting and tax reporting related to the reverse acquisition of NLIT, the acquisition of Abaca, and
Net Operating Loss (NOL) carryforwards (see Note 18 for a detailed breakdown of deferred tax assets). For the year ended December 31, 2024, the provision for income taxes increased by $45,689,387 compared
to the same period in 2023. This increase was principally due to our determination that it is more likely than not the deferred tax assets cannot be realized.

Financial Condition

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash, cash equivalents totaled $2,324,647 and $4,888,769 as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.
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Cash flows

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company generated $430,477 in cash from operations, compared to cash used of $832,144 for the year ended December 31, 2023. This improvement was mainly due to
lower operating expenses and the greater number of performing loans at better interest rates than the previous period.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company generated $12,394 in cash from investing activities, compared to cash used of $2,180,448 for the year ended December 31, 2023. The decrease was primarily
due to the repayment of loans by customers in the previous period.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company used $3,006,993 in cash for financing activities, compared to $488,834 in the corresponding period of 2023. This was mainly due to the repayments on the
senior secured promissory note during 2024.

Contract assets and liabilities

Deferred revenue is primarily related to contract liabilities associated with the Company agreements. As of December 31, 2024, SHF reported a contract asset and liability of $0 and $28,335 respectively and on
December 31, 2023, SHF reported a contract asset and liability of $0 and $21,922, respectively.

Liquidity and going concern

Liquidity refers to our ability to meet anticipated cash demands, including servicing debt, funding operations, maintaining assets, and covering other routine business expenses. Our primary cash outflows include
debt principal and interest repayments, operating costs, and general business expenditures. The main source of our liquidity continues to be cash inflows generated from operational performance. As of December
31, 2024, the Company does not have significant capital investment commitments.

Going concern

Under Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 205-40, Presentation of Financial Statements—Going Concern, the Company is responsible for evaluating whether conditions or events raise substantial doubt
about its ability to meet future financial obligations within one year of the financial statement issuance date. This evaluation involves two steps: (1) assessing whether conditions or events raise substantial doubt
about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, and (2) if substantial doubt is raised, evaluating whether the Company has plans to mitigate that doubt. Disclosures are required if substantial doubt
exists or if the Company’s plans alleviate the doubt.

While the company reported a net working capital deficit of $983,833 at the end of 2024, this figure includes several non-cash liabilities that do not affect liquidity. After adjusting for these non-cash items and
considering the cost of the Amended PCCU Note the adjusted working capital calculation is as follows:

Amount
Working capital deficit as on December 31, 2024 3 (983,833)
Forward purchase agreement, net 2,725,359
Third anniversary payment consideration 322,000
Fees paid in 2025 on the Amended PCCU Note (53,742)
Adjusted working capital as on December 31, 2024 $ 2,009,784

The Company has the following non-cash items on its balance sheet that impact the working capital calculation as reported, thus improving working capital:

- Obligation under the Forward Purchase Agreement: As of December 31, 2024, the Company had a forward purchase receivable of $4,584,221 and a forward purchase derivative liability of
$7,309,580, resulting in a net liability of $2,725,359. This liability can be settled in common stock at the Company’s discretion, offering flexibility to improve working capital, which is management’s plan
and intention.

- Obligation under the Third Anniversary Consideration Payment: As of December 31, 2024, the Company had an outstanding liability of $322,000, payable to the Abaca shareholders. This liability
can also be settled in common stock at the Company’s discretion, providing further flexibility to enhance working capital, which is management’s plan and intention.

At December 31, 2024, the Company reported cash of $2,324,647 and a net working capital deficit of $983,833, compared to cash of $4,888,769 and a net working capital deficit of $135,355 as of December 31,
2023. The Company’s ability to continue as a going concern depends on its capacity to generate sufficient liquidity to meet financial obligations, including interest repayments under the senior secured note with

PCCU. The Company incurred operating losses of $7,091,486 and $20,731,049 for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

The reported working capital deficit and operating losses, before adjustment for non-cash activity raises substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve
months from the date these consolidated financial statements are issued.

Management’s Plan Related to Going Concern

To address these concerns, the Company has performed actions, including renegotiating its senior secured loan with PCCU. On January 29, 2025, the Company and PCCU entered into a letter agreement to defer
the principal payments for February and March 2025 (the “Deferral Period”). While interest has been repaid during the Deferral Period, the note repayment schedule has been extended by an additional two months.

Furthermore, on March 1, 2025, the Company entered into an Amended PCCU Note with PCCU, modifying the outstanding principal of $10,748,408 with an interest rate of 4.25% per annum. The new repayment
schedule includes interest-only payments from March 1, 2025, to January 5, 2027, followed by monthly principal and interest payments from February 5, 2027, to September 5, 2030, with the full loan balance due
by October 5, 2030. This two-year deferment of principal has unlocked $6,437,050 in cash flow, significantly improving the Company’s liquidity position.

On December 31, 2024, as a result of the Amended PCCU Note, the Company excluded the short-term obligations of the PCCU Note totaling $2,883,167 from current liabilities and reclassified it as non-current
liabilities.

In the first quarter of 2025, the Company commenced utilizing its stock-based compensation as an alternative to cash payments to attract and retain talent, the Board of Directors restructured their compensation
towards stock-based compensation, and the Company has continued to reduce costs through lower headcount and other operational spend. The Company has established a budget and monitors its liquidity position
and will make adjustments as needed.

Due to the uncertainty surrounding cash flows from operations, the management plans outlined above do not entirely resolve the uncertainty regarding the going concern assumption. As a result, management has
determined that there remains substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from the date these consolidated financial statements are issued.

If the Company is not able to sustain its present level of operations, it may be forced to make reductions in spending, extend payment terms with suppliers, liquidate assets where possible, or suspend or curtail
planned expansion programs. Any of these actions could materially harm the Company’s business, results of operations and future prospects.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming the Company will continue as a going concern, which contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in
the normal course of business, and do not include any adjustments to reflect the possible future effects on the recoverability and classification of assets or amounts and classification of liabilities that may result

should the Company not continue as a going concern as a result of this uncertainty.
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Litigation

On October 17, 2024, the Company caused a Complaint to be filed in the District Court for the City and County of Denver, Colorado, captioned SHF Holdings, Inc. v. Daniel Roda, Gregory W. Ellis, and James R.
Carroll, Case No. 2024CV33187 (Denver County District Court). On November 21, 2024, in connection with the Company’s request, the Company caused the Merger Payment to be deposited into the Denver
County District Court’s registry so that it can be distributed in accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement. The Merger Payment has already been accounted for in the working capital deficit disclosed in
the Liquidity and Going Concern section. On December 19, 2024, Daniel Roda, Gregory W. Ellis, and James R. Carroll caused an answer and counterclaim to be filed in response to the Company Complaint. For
additional details, please refer to the section titled “Abaca legal case in Denver” in the Recent Updates above as well as the Company’s Current Reports on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 18, 2024 and
December 19, 2024.

Critical Accounting Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes are prepared in accordance with GAAP. Preparing consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, and expenses, as well as disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. An appreciation of our critical accounting policies is necessary to understand our
financial results. In some cases, we could reasonably use different accounting policies and estimates, and changes in our estimates are reasonably likely to occur from period to period. Accordingly, actual results
could differ materially from our estimates, and our financial condition or results of operations could be affected. We base our estimates on our experience and other assumptions that we believe are reasonable, and
we evaluate these estimates on an ongoing basis. We refer to the following accounting estimates as critical accounting estimates, based on their importance to the financial reporting and potential for changes in
future periods:

Revenue recognition

The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with ASC 606, allocating transaction prices to specific services provided within a contract. The primary revenue streams include account fee income, interest
income on loans, and investment income, each classified as gross revenue due to the Company’s control over the respective processes. An important element of the estimation process is the determination of a
principal-vs-agent (gross-vs-net) relationship.

Account Fee Income

Revenue from account fee income is recognized when the Company fulfills its service obligations, including fees charged for financial services such as account maintenance, transaction processing, and other
miscellaneous services. The transaction price is determined based on contractual terms and potential fluctuations in customer usage. The Company recognizes revenue on a gross basis, as it is directly responsible
for compliance monitoring, account management, and reporting services, and has sole discretion in setting service fees.

Interest Income on Loans

The Company earns revenue from interest on loans, previously determined using a fixed percentage fee structure, where PCCU received a share of interest income from CRB-related loans. Revenue is recognized
over the loan period as earned. The Company reports this revenue on a gross basis as a principle, as it is responsible for identifying customers, evaluating and onboarding borrowers, and determining loan interest
rates. Additionally, under the PCCU CAA, the Company is required to pay PCCU a loan servicing fee of 0.35% of the outstanding loan balance and monthly service fees, which vary based on account balances
above or below $1 million.

Investment Income

Revenue from investment income consists of interest earned on daily deposit balances maintained with financial institutions. The Company’s customer base primarily includes financial institutions serving
cannabis-related businesses (CRBs), with revenue primarily generated in the United States. Revenue is recognized on a gross basis, as the Company retains first rights over deposit balances and controls their
allocation for loan funding, subject to contractual ceiling limits. The Company maintains control over the utilization of deposit balances, reinforcing its principal role in this revenue stream. Additionally, the

Company paid PCCU a 25% hosting fee based on investment earnings derived from PCCU-related deposits.

These revenue recognition policies align with ASC 606, ensuring the appropriate allocation of transaction prices to the Company’s distinct performance obligations, including setup fees, ongoing service charges,
and financial management activities.

Stock-based compensation

In conjunction with the 2022 Plan, as of December 31, 2024, the Company had granted stock options and restricted stock units which are described in more detail below:

Stock options

The Company awards stock options to incentivize employee ownership and performance, applying ASC 718 for equity-based payments. Options, with a 10-year term with their fair value determined at the grant
date, considering either market price or the Black-Scholes model. This model factors in expected option term, stock price volatility (set at 100% due to significant price fluctuations since listing), risk-free interest
rates (aligned with U.S. Treasury rates), and an assumed zero dividend yield, given the Company’s history of not paying dividends. The expected option term is derived using the simplified method, averaging the
contractual term and vesting period. Compensation cost is recognized over the service period on a straight-line basis, with immediate recognition of forfeitures. Changes in valuation assumptions could significantly

alter fair value estimates.
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Restricted Stock Units / Restricted Stock Awards

The Company values equity-based payments under ASC 718, using fair value at grant date for stock awards, recognizing expenses over the service period. Fair value is estimated via the market price or Black-
Scholes model, considering variables like expected term, stock volatility, risk-free rates, and forfeiture rates. Given the stock’s limited listing period and significant price drop, volatility is presumed at 100%. Risk-
free rates align with U.S. Treasury rates matching the awards’ lifespans. The options” expected term merges the contractual and vesting durations. The Company assumes zero dividend, reflecting the Company’s
history and future dividend outlook, impacting the valuation of stock-based compensation. Changes in valuation assumptions could significantly alter fair value estimates.

Forward Purchase Agreement

The Company, under a Forward Purchase Agreement (“FPA”) with Midtown East, which was later reassigned to Verdun and Vellar (both such terms defined below), involved complex transactions around Class A
Common Stock. Initially, about 0.19 million shares were acquired from the market. Post-business combination, the Company disbursed $39.6 million for these shares and associated costs. The FPA allows for an
early termination sale of shares by the assignees, with proceeds above the reset price going to them and the rest to the Company. The final settlement at the maturity date includes a cash or share payment based on
the forward price and a maturity cash consideration. In 2022, the reset price adjustment, influenced by the common stock’s trading value and preferred share conversions, significantly reduced the FPA receivable
from $37.9 million to $4.6 million. No further transactions or value changes were noted in the year end December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2024, maintaining the FPA receivable’s value. The value of the
forward purchase agreement could diminish if the Company issues any securities at a price below the reset price of $25.00 per share before the agreement expires.

Forward Purchase Derivative

The Company records the forward purchase derivative from a business combination as per ASC 815, marking it as an asset or liability at fair value, adjusted each reporting period. Fair value adjustments are
recognized in the consolidated statement of operations. The Monte-Carlo Simulation, applying Geometric Brownian Motion for stock price projections, was utilized for valuation. In 2022, the company fully
accounted for the maximum contractual liability. Throughout 2023 and 2024, there were no notable shifts in risk factors that would impact the values of FPA derivatives. As a result, the valuation established on
December 31, 2022, was maintained for the years ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2024.

Impairment of Goodwill and Finite-lived intangible assets

The Company assesses goodwill and intangible assets for impairment in accordance with ASC 350 and ASC 360, utilizing various valuation methodologies that involve significant management judgment and
estimation.

On December 31, 2024, the Company conducted its annual goodwill impairment test under ASC 350, employing a combination of the Discounted Cash Flow (DCF) Method and the Guideline Public Company
(GPC) Method. The DCF method estimated the present value of projected future cash flows using an appropriate discount rate, while the GPC method compared key financial metrics against publicly traded
comparable companies. As a cross-check, the enterprise value approach was used to validate the results. The impairment determination incorporated an equally weighted enterprise value derived from both the DCF
and GPC methods. Since the fair value of the asset group was lower than its carrying amount, the Company recorded a full goodwill impairment charge of $6.06 million.

Additionally, under ASC 360, the Company conducted a recoverability test by comparing the sum of estimated undiscounted future cash flows of the asset group to its carrying amount. As the undiscounted cash
flows were lower than the carrying amount, the Company proceeded with a fair value assessment using a DCF analysis. The results indicated that the fair value of the asset group was lower than its carrying
amount, leading to impairment charges of $0.05 million for market-related intangible assets, $0.05 million for customer relationships, and $2.99 million for developed technologies.

The determination of impairment is inherently subjective and relies on key assumptions regarding future economic conditions, industry-specific factors, and Company performance. For goodwill and intangible
asset impairment testing under ASC 350 and ASC 360, the Company applies critical estimates, including projected future cash flows based on expected revenue growth, market demand, and operational
performance, discount rate selection reflecting asset-specific risks and prevailing market conditions, useful life estimates for intangible assets, which impact the recoverability assessment, and customer attrition
rates affecting the valuation of customer-related intangible assets. These estimates are influenced by broader macroeconomic factors, including interest rate fluctuations, inflationary pressures, and sector-specific
developments. Given the complexity and judgment involved, impairment test results may significantly vary over time due to changes in market conditions, operational performance, technological advancements, or
strategic business decisions such as asset sales or discontinued operations. As a result, impairment charges may fluctuate materially across reporting periods, highlighting the sensitivity of these estimates to
evolving financial and market dynamics.

Warrants Liability

The Company’s accounting for warrants, including Public, Private Placement, PIPE, and Abaca warrants, constitutes a critical accounting estimate due to the significant judgments and assumptions involved in
their valuation and the potential impact on our financial statements. These warrants are recorded at fair value on a recurring basis, requiring the use of observable market data and valuation techniques that involve
significant estimates and assumptions. For Public warrants, the Company utilizes Level 1 inputs, relying on exchange-traded prices which provide a transparent and observable market valuation. This approach
minimizes the level of estimation uncertainty associated with these warrants. Private Placement, PIPE and Abaca Warrants valuations are based upon internal assessments by the Company, employing Level 3
inputs derived from unobservable inputs. Key assumptions in the valuations include the expected volatility of our stock, exercise price, the fair market value of the underlying Class A Common Stock, the risk-free
interest rate, the expected life of the warrants, and the dividend yield. Future variations in these critical assumptions could arise from changes in market conditions, such as fluctuations in the volatility of the
Company’s stock, alterations in the risk-free interest rate reflecting broader economic shifts, or adjustments in the expected life of the warrants due to changes in the holders’ exercise behavior. Additionally,
regulatory changes or shifts in the market perception of the Company could also necessitate adjustments to these assumptions. Changes in these assumptions could lead to significant variations in the recorded fair
value of the warrants, impacting the Company’s financial position and results of operations. The Company closely monitors these assumptions and market conditions to ensure that the warrant valuations accurately
reflect their fair market value on reporting date.
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Deferred consideration

The Company’s accounting for the deferred consideration arising from the acquisition of Abaca represents a critical accounting estimate, consistent with ASC Topic 815, “Derivatives and Hedging” (“ASC 815”).
This consideration is accounted for as a derivative liability. This approach necessitates the recognition of this obligation on the balance sheet at its fair value, with subsequent adjustments to fair value reflected at
each reporting period end. The determination of fair value involves significant judgments and assumptions, particularly in light of the complex terms outlined in the Abaca merger agreement and its amendments.
The deferred consideration includes cash payments scheduled at various anniversaries of the merger closing, the issuance of common stock based on specified conditions, and the introduction of additional
consideration and stock warrants as per the latest amendments to the agreement. The fair value assessment of these components is influenced by several factors, including the Company’s stock price, the volatility
of the stock, the risk-free interest rate, and the specific terms of the deferred and stock considerations as amended. Future variations in the fair value of this derivative liability could arise from changes in the
Company’s stock price, fluctuations in market volatility, alterations in the risk-free interest rate, or changes in the terms of the agreement as negotiated with the Abaca stockholders. Such changes could be
prompted by evolving business strategies, market conditions, or regulatory environments that impact the financial and operational aspects of the agreement. These estimates and assumptions are subject to inherent
uncertainties and the exercise of management’s judgment. Changes in these critical assumptions could lead to significant adjustments in the recorded fair value of the derivative liability associated with the Abaca
acquisition’s deferred consideration. These adjustments could materially impact the Company’s financial position and results of operations, emphasizing the importance of the estimates and assumptions used in the
valuation of this complex financial instrument. The Company closely monitors related developments and market conditions to ensure the derivative liability is accurately valued, providing transparency and
reliability on the reporting date.

Emerging Growth Company Status

The Company is an emerging growth company (“EGC”), as defined in the JOBS Act. Under the JOBS Act, EGCs can delay adopting new or revised accounting standards issued until such time as those standards
apply to private companies. In electing this relief, the JOBS Act does not preclude an EGC from adopting a new or revised accounting standard earlier than the time that such standard applies to private companies.
SHF has elected to use this relief and will do so until the earlier of the date that it (a) is no longer an emerging growth company or (b) affirmatively and irrevocably opts out of the extended transition period
provided in the JOBS Act. As a result of the elected JOBS Act relief, these combined and consolidated financial statements may not be comparable to companies that do not elect JOBS Act relief or choose to early
adopt different accounting pronouncements than SHF.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In connection with our management assessment of internal control over financial reporting as of and for the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company has identified material weaknesses within our internal
controls over financial reporting. Refer to Item 9A of this document for additional details.

Related Party Relationships

PCCU is considered a related party as it holds a significant ownership interest in the Company and serves as its position as the Company’s sole lending institution. The agreements between PCCU and the Company
are as follows:

Account Servicing Agreement

The Company had an Account Servicing Agreement with PCCU. The Company provides services as per the agreement to CRB accounts at PCCU. In addition to providing the services, the Company assumed the
costs associated with the CRB accounts. These costs include employees to manage account onboarding, monitoring and compliance, rent and office expense, insurance and other operating expenses necessary to
service these accounts. Under the agreement, PCCU agreed to pay the Company all revenue generated from CRB accounts. Amounts due to the Company were due monthly in arrears and upon receipt of invoice.
This agreement was replaced and superseded in its entirety by the PCCU CAA, which was entered into on March 29, 2023, and later amended and restated on December 31, 2024, between PCCU and the Company

Support Services Agreement

On July 1, 2021, SHF entered into a Support Services Agreement with PCCU. In connection with PCCU hosting the depository accounts and the related loans and providing certain infrastructure support, PCCU
receives (and SHF pays) a monthly fee per depository account. In addition, 25% of any investment income associated with CRB deposits is paid to PCCU. This agreement was replaced and superseded in its
entirety by the PCCU CAA, which was entered into on March 29, 2023, and later amended and restated on December 31, 2024, between PCCU and the Company.

Loan Servicing Agreement

Effective February 11, 2022, the Company entered into a Loan Servicing Agreement with PCCU. The agreement sets forth the application, underwriting and approval process for loans from PCCU to CRB
customers and the loan servicing and monitoring responsibilities provided by both PCCU and the Company. PCCU receives a monthly servicing fee at the annual rate of 0.25% of the then-outstanding principal
balance of each loan funded and serviced by PCCU. For the loans that are subject to this agreement, the Company originates the loans and performs all compliance analysis, credit analysis of the potential
borrower, due diligence and underwriting and all administration, including hiring and incurring the costs of all related personnel or third-party vendors necessary to perform these services. Under the Loan
Servicing Agreement, the Company has agreed to indemnify PCCU from all claims related to default-related credit losses as defined in the Loan Servicing Agreement. This agreement was replaced and superseded
in its entirety by the PCCU CAA, entered into on March 29, 2023, between PCCU and the Company, which was subsequently amended on December 31, 2024.
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Commercial Alliance Agreement

On March 29, 2023, the Company and PCCU entered into the PCCU CAA, which was subsequently amended and restated on December 31, 2024. This agreement set forth the terms and conditions of lending and
account-related services, governing the relationship between the Company and PCCU. The PCCU CAA outlined the application, underwriting, loan approval, and foreclosure processes for loans issued by PCCU to
CRBs, as well as the loan servicing and monitoring responsibilities of both parties.

In particular, the PCCU CAA provided procedures to be followed upon the default of a loan to ensure that neither the Company nor PCCU would take title to or possession of cannabis-related assets, including real
property that may have served as collateral for loans funded by PCCU pursuant to the agreement.

Under the PCCU CAA, PCCU had the right to receive monthly fees for managing loans. For SHF-serviced loans (CRB loans provided by PCCU but primarily handled by SHF), a yearly fee of 0.25% of the
remaining loan balance was applied. For loans both financed and serviced by PCCU, a yearly fee of 0.35% on the outstanding balance was charged. These fees were calculated based on the average daily balance of
each loan for the preceding month.

Additionally, the Company was obligated under the PCCU CAA to indemnify PCCU from certain default-related loan losses, as fully defined in the agreement.

Furthermore, the PCCU CAA outlined certain fees to be paid to the Company for specified account-related services, including cannabis-related income such as loan origination fees, interest income on CRB-related
loans, participation fees, servicing fees, investment income, account activity fees, processing fees, and other revenue. These fees were set at $30.96 per account in 2022, $25.32-827.85 per account in 2023, and
$26.08-$28.69 in 2024.

Regarding CRB deposits held at PCCU, investment and interest income earned on these deposits (excluding interest income on loans funded by PCCU) was shared at a ratio of 25% to PCCU and 75% to the
Company. Additionally, PCCU maintained its CRB-related deposits to total assets ratio at 60%, unless otherwise dictated by regulatory, regulator, or policy requirements. The initial term of the PCCU CAA was
two years, with a one-year automatic renewal, unless either party provided a one hundred twenty-day written notice prior to the end of the term.

Up to the third quarter of 2023, the Company’s investment earnings came solely from interest on deposits at the Federal Reserve Bank, capped at the earnings accrued by PCCU from its reserves. However, in the
fourth quarter of 2023, a strategic shift led the Company to adopt the Federal Reserve’s interest rates applied to the daily average balance of SHF customer deposits, with certain exclusions. This method, applied
retroactively from the beginning of 2023, resulted in an incremental revenue of $549,000, which was recognized in the fourth quarter. Under the PCCU CAA, the Company was obligated to pay a 25% of the
investment earnings as a hosting fee to PCCU based on this income.

On December 31, 2024, the Company and PCCU entered into an Amended CAA, extending the term through December 31, 2028, with automatic two-year renewal periods unless a party provides written notice of
non-renewal at least 12 months before the current term expires.

Key modifications under the Amended CAA include:

e  Elimination of Indemnification Obligations: The Company is no longer required to indemnify PCCU for any loan-related losses under either the original or future agreements.

e  Elimination of Prior Fees and Implementation of Asset Hosting Fee Structure: Under the previous agreement, the Company was required to pay various fees to PCCU, including per-account servicing fees,
investment hosting fees, and loan servicing fees. The Amended CAA eliminates all these charges and replaces them with a fixed account servicing fee. Under the new structure, the Company will pay a single
asset hosting fee which is calculated as 0.01 multiplied by the average daily balance of account relationships generated by the Company, divided by the number of days in the year, and multiplied by the
number of days in the applicable month. This revised model aligns servicing costs with account balances rather than a flat per-account charge, offering a more scalable and efficient fee structure.

e [nvestment Income Entitlement: Under the Amended CAA, the Company received all investment income earned on CRB funds invested on its behalf by PCCU, effectively eliminating the investment hosting
fees that were previously payable to PCCU.

®  Loan Yield Allocation Formula: The Company’s interest income will be determined using a loan yield allocation formula incorporating the Constant Maturity US Treasury Rate and a proprietary risk rating
formula for determining the fee split.

®  Loan-to-Share Ratio Compliance: The Amended CAA introduces penalties for the Company, if it fails to maintain the agreed Loan-to-Share (LTS) Ratio. If the LTS Maximum (60%) is exceeded for over 90
days, the Asset Hosting Fee increases from 1.00% to 1.10% of the average daily balance (ADB) until compliance is restored. If the LTS Minimum (27.5%) is breached, SHF must pay a quarterly adjustment
fee based on the shortfall. Additionally, if the LTS Ratio exceeds 100% for 90 days, SHF incurs an interest charge at the Federal Funds Rate + 120 bps, calculated daily and paid monthly.

The schedule below demonstrates the ratio of CRB related loans funded by PCCU to the relative lending limits on December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023.

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
CRB related deposits $ 116,064,487 $ 129,350,998
Capacity at 60% 69,638,692 77,610,599
PCCU net worth 82,400,677 81,087,746
Capacity at 1.3125 108,150,889 106,670,306
Limiting capacity 69,638,692 77,610,599
PCCU loans funded 56,794,446 55,660,039
Amounts available under lines of credit 1,131,708 525,000
Incremental capacity $ 11,712,538 $ 21,425,560
The revenue from operation on the statement of operations consists of the following agreement mentioned above for the year ended December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023:

Year ended Year ended

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Account Servicing Agreement $ = $ 3,075,458
Commercial Alliance Agreement 12,601,271 10,761,245
Total $ 12,601,271 $ 13,836,703
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The operating expense on the statement of operations consists of the following agreement mentioned above for the year ended December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023:

Year ended Year ended
December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Support Services Agreement $ - $ 378,730
Loan Servicing Agreement - 11,929
Commercial Alliance Agreement 1,052,693 1,665,644
Total $ 1,052,693 $ 2,056,303

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.
The Company is a smaller reporting company as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act and is not required to provide the information otherwise required with respect to market risk.

Item 8. Fi ial S and Suppl ary Data.

Consolidated Financial Statements Information

The consolidated financial statements information required by this item is contained under the section titled “Index to Consolidated Financial Statements” (and the consolidated financial statements and related
notes referenced therein) included beginning on page F-1 of this Form 10-K.

Item 9. Ch in and Disagr ts With A on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). The Company’s internal
control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of our financial reporting and the preparation of our financial statements in accordance with GAAP.
Under the supervision and with the participation of management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.
Our management has identified material weaknesses, two of which were recognized in 2022. A “material weakness”, represents a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial
reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements would not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Based on the material
weaknesses identified in the management team’s evaluation of internal controls over financial reporting, management has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was not effective as of
December 31, 2024.

We do not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures will prevent all errors and all instances of fraud. Disclosure controls and procedures, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only
reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the disclosure controls and procedures are met. Further, the design of disclosure controls and procedures must reflect the fact that there are resource
constraints, and the benefits must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all disclosure controls and procedures, no evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures can provide
absolute assurance that we have detected all our control deficiencies and instances of fraud, if any. The design of disclosure controls and procedures also is based partly on certain assumptions about the likelihood
of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls and procedures are controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed in our reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer, to allow timely

decisions regarding required disclosure.
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As required by Rules 13a-15 and 15d-15 under the Exchange Act, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer carried out an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure
controls and procedures. Based upon their evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of December 31, 2024 due
to the material weaknesses described below. In light of the material weaknesses, we performed additional analysis as deemed necessary to ensure that our consolidated financial statements were prepared in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Accordingly, management believes that the financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K present fairly in all material respects
our financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the periods presented.

We consider the following material weaknesses to be outstanding as of December 31, 2024:

Revenue Recognition: The Company has identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting related to the need to enhance the design and operating effectiveness of internal controls over
the review of revenue recognition from calculations that occur on a monthly basis between the Company and PCCU.

To remediate this material weakness, the Company is developing a tool aimed at improving oversight and accuracy in the revenue calculation process. The tool is currently in the testing phase, and management
expects that, once fully implemented, it will enable the Company to establish more robust internal processes for revenue reconciliation with financial institution partners. Additionally, the tool will improve the
Company’s ability to serve its customer base more effectively.

Acc ing for Fii ial Instr : Prior to the year ended 2024, the Company identified a material weakness in the effectiveness of management’s review controls related to the accounting, disclosure, and
valuation of complex financial instruments. In 2023, the Company did not initially properly account for certain warrants and deferred consideration payable to the Abaca shareholders which was corrected before
the filing of the financial statement. Remediation plans were put in place in 2024 over these financial instruments, and the Company subsequently accounted for these warrants and deferred consideration correctly
under GAAP for all 2024 quarterly periods, including the year-end period ending December 31, 2024. Despite these efforts, on December 31, 2024 the Company did not appropriately apply the guidance under
ASC 470, Debt, in connection with the reclassification of the Amended PCCU Note. The PCCU Note, which was amended on March 1, 2025, met the criteria for classification as a non-current liability under ASC
470, but was incorrectly presented as a current liability in the Company’s financial statements. This classification error resulted from the material weakness pertaining to these management review controls
remaining ineffective as of year-end 2024. The Company is in the process of designing its approach to remediation.

Going concern: As of December 31, 2024, the Company identified a material weakness in its internal control over financial reporting related to its going concern assessment. Specifically, management reached an
incorrect conclusion regarding the absence of substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, due to deficiencies in the application of ASC 205-40 and SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin
No. 59 (Topic 1.M). While the Company considered a number of positive indicators—such as adjusted working capital, a three-year trend of public adjusted EBITDA, material reductions in non-rate expenses, the
Amended PCCU Note, and the ability to renegotiate vendor arrangements—management’s evaluation initially failed to be evaluated based on financial cash flow projections from the date the financial statements
would be issued. As a result of these factors, the Company’s initial conclusion regarding its ability to continue as a going concern was not appropriately supported under GAAP. Ineffective management review
constitutes a material weakness in the Company’s internal control over the going concern analysis. The Company is in the process of designing its approach to remediation.

Information technology: Certain users with unnecessary privileged access were noted within the financially relevant systems resulting in segregation of duty risk. The Company’s controls over logical access,
specifically user access reviews and privileged access to financially relevant systems and underlying accounting records were not effectively designed. Access logs from the Company’s business systems indicate
that the certain users never inappropriately accessed these systems or posted any transactions resulting in inaccurate financial reporting. As of the filing, the unnecessary access has been removed and the Company
is designing a remediation plan to mitigate this material weakness.

We plan to continue to assess and improve our internal controls and procedures and to take further action as necessary or appropriate to address any other matters we identify.

Completion of remediation does not provide assurance that our remediation or other controls will continue to operate properly. A failure to maintain effective internal controls over financial reporting could result in
errors in its financial statements that could require the Company to restate past financial statements, cause the Company to fail to meet its reporting obligations and cause investors to lose confidence in the
Company’s reported financial information, all of which could materially and adversely affect the Company.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Other than the efforts to remediate the material weakness noted above, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024, covered by this Report
on Form 10-K that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

The Company’s management has expended, and will continue to expend, effort and resources for their mediation of the material weakness and improvement of our internal control over financial reporting. While
we have processes to properly identify and evaluate the appropriate accounting technical pronouncements and other literature for all significant or unusual transactions, we have expanded and will continue to
improve these processes to ensure that the nuances of such transactions are effectively evaluated in the context of the increasingly complex accounting standards.

Item 9B. Other Information.

None.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections.

Not applicable.
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PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

Information required by this item and not set forth below will be set forth in our definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the Commission within 120 days after the conclusion of our year ended December 31,
2024 (the “Proxy Statement”) pursuant to General Instructions G(3) of Form 10-K and is incorporated herein by reference.

Certain information relating to the Executive Officers of the Company appears in Part I of this Form 10-K under the heading “Information about Our Executive Officers” and is incorporated by reference in this
section.

Code of Ethics
We have adopted a Code of Conduct and Ethics applicable to all officers, directors and employees. A copy of our Code of Conduct and Ethics is filed as Exhibit 14 to this Form 10-K.
Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The information required under this Item will be contained in the Company’s Proxy Statement under the caption “Compensation Committee Report,” “Director Compensation,” “Executive Compensation” and
“Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation,” which information is incorporated by reference herein.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

The information required under this Item will be contained in the Company’s Proxy Statement under the caption “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners” and “Equity Compensation Plan Information,”
which information is incorporated by reference herein.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence.

The information required under this Item will be contained in the Company’s Proxy Statement under the caption “Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions” and “Corporate Governance,” which
information is incorporated by reference herein.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

The information required under this Item will be contained in the Company’s Proxy Statement under the caption “Ratification of the Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm,” which
information is incorporated by reference herein.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Fi ial St: t Schedul

List of documents filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

1) C lidated Fi ial S

The consolidated financial statements required by this item are contained under the section entitled “Index to Consolidated Financial Statements” (and the consolidated financial statements and related
notes referenced therein) included beginning on page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

@C lidated Fi ial S ts Schedul

All financial statement schedules are omitted because they are either not applicable, not required, or because the information required is included in the above referenced consolidated financial statements
and notes thereto.

(3) List of Exhibits
The exhibit list in the Exhibit Index is incorporated herein by reference as the list of exhibits required as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

EXHIBIT INDEX

The following exhibits are filed as part of, or incorporated by reference into, this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

No. Description of Exhibit

217 Unit Purchase Agreement dated February 11, 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 14, 2022).

2.2 First Amendment to Unit Purchase Agreement dated September 19, 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 19, 2022).

2.3 Second Amendment to Unit Purchase Agreement dated September 22, 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 23, 2022).

2.4 Third Amendment to Unit Purchase Agreement dated September 28, 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on September 29, 2022).

2.5% Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated October 29, 2022, by and among SHF Holdings, Inc., Merger Sub I, Merger Sub II, Rockview Digital Solutions, Inc. d/b/a Abaca and Dan Roda, solely in such
individual’s capacity as the representative of Abaca security holders (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on October 31, 2022).

2.6 Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated November 11, 2022, by and among SHF Holdings, Inc., Merger Sub I, Merger Sub II, Rockview Digital Solutions, Inc. d/b/a Abaca and Dan
Roda, solely in such individual’s capacity as the representative of the Abaca security holders (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on
November 15, 2022).

2.7 Second Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated October 26, 2023, by and among SHF Holdings, Inc., Merger Sub I, Merger Sub II, Rockview Digital Solutions, Inc. d/b/a Abaca and
Dan Roda, solely in such individual’s capacity as the representative of the Abaca security holders (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on
October 27, 2023).

2.8 First Amendment to Second Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Merger, Warrant Agreement, and Lock-up Agreement dated February 27, 2024 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on March 4, 2024).

3.1 Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on September 29, 2022).

3.2 Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed March 20, 2025.

33 Bylaws of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed on June 2, 2021).
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4.7 Description of Registered Securities (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on April 1, 2024).

10.13 Amended and Restated Commercial Alliance Agreement, dated December 30, 2024, between the Company and Partner Colorado Credit Union (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on January 7, 2025).

10.15 Amended and Restated - 2022 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on April 1, 2024).

10.16 Form SHF Holdings, Inc. Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on April 1, 2024).

10.17 Form of SHF Holdings, Inc. Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 5 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on April 1, 2024).

10.18 Security Agreement, dated March 29, 2023, by and between the Company and Partner Colorado Credit Union (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q, filed May 15, 2023).

10.20 Letter Agreement dated January 29, 2025 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on February 3, 2025).

10.21 Amendment to Employment Agreement dated April 2, 2024 between the Company and James Dennedy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K,
filed on April 8, 2024).

10.22 Amendment to Employment Agreement dated April 2, 2024 between the Company and Donald Emmi (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K,
filed on April 8, 2024).

10.23 Amendment to Employment Agreement dated August 1, 2024 between the Company and Sundie Seefried (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K,
filed on September 4, 2024).

10.24 Amendment to Employment Agreement dated August 1, 2024 between the Company and Dan Roda (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed
on August 27, 2024).

10.25 Amendment to Employment Agreement dated August 1, 2024 between the Company and Tyler Beuerlein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K,
filed on August 27, 2024).

10.26 Executive Employment Agreement, dated January 21, 2025, between the Company and Terrance Mendez (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K,
filed on January 27, 2025).

14 Code of Ethics and Business Conduct (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on April 1, 2024).

19* Insider Trading Policies and Procedures]

21.1%* Subsidiaries of the Registrant

23.1* Consent of Marcum LLP, independent registered public accounting firm

31.1%* Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15(d)-14(a), as adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2% Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15(d)-14(a), as adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1%% Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2%* Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

97 Clawback policy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 97 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on April 1, 2024).

101.INS* Inline XBRL Instance Document

101.CAL* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.SCH* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.DEF* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Document

101.PRE* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

104* Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)

* Filed herewith.

HE Furnished.

T Certain of the exhibits and schedules to this exhibit have been omitted in accordance with Regulation S-K Item 601(a)(5). The Company agrees to furnish supplementally a copy of all omitted exhibits and

schedules to the SEC upon its request.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary.

None.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
SHF HOLDINGS INC.
Date: April 10, 2025 /s/ Terrance E. Mendez
Name:  Terrance Mendez

Title: Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: April 10, 2025 /s/ James H. Dennedy
Name:  James H. Dennedy
Title: Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this Annual Report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized.

Signature Title Date
/s/ Terrance E. Mendez Chief Executive Officer April 10, 2025
Terrance E. Mendez
/s/ James H. Dennedy Chief Financial Officer April 10, 2025
James H. Dennedy
/s/ Jonathon F. Niehaus Director April 10, 2025
Jonathon F. Niehaus
/s/ Douglas Fagan Director April 10, 2025
Douglas Fagan
/s/ Jennifer Meyers Director April 10, 2025
Jennifer Meyers
/s/ Jonathan Summers Director April 10, 2025
Jonathan Summers
/s/ Karl Racine Director April 10, 2025
Karl Racine
/s/ Richard Carleton Director April 10, 2025
Richard Carleton
/s/ Sundie Seefiied Director April 10, 2025

Sundie Seefried
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of
SHF Holdings, Inc.

Opinion on the Fi ial Sta t

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of SHF Holdings, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the related consolidated statements of operations,
stockholders’ (deficit) equity, and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2024, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements™). In our opinion, the
financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in
the period ended December 31, 2024, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Explanatory Paragraph — Going Concern

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. As more fully described in Note 2, the Company has a significant working capital
deficiency, has incurred significant losses and may need to raise additional funds to meet its obligations and sustain its operations. These conditions raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern. Management’s plans in regard to these matters are also described in Note 2. The financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting
firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities
laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free
of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are
required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such
procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Marcum LLP

Marcum LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2022.

Hartford, CT
April 10, 2025

F-2




Table of Contents

ASSETS

Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable — trade
Accounts receivable — related party
Prepaid expenses — current portion
Accrued interest receivable
Forward purchase receivable
Short-term loans receivable, net
Other current assets

Total Current Assets
Long-term loans receivable, net
Property, plant and equipment, net
Operating lease right to use assets
Goodwill
Intangible assets, net
Deferred tax asset, net
Prepaid expenses — long term position
Forward purchase receivable
Security deposit

Total Assets

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ (DEFICIT) EQUITY
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accounts payable-related party
Accrued expenses
Contract liabilities
Lease liabilities — current
Senior secured promissory note — current portion
Deferred consideration — current portion
Forward purchase derivative liability
Other current liabilities
Total Current Liabilities
Warrant liabilities
Deferred consideration — long term portion
Forward purchase derivative liability
Senior secured promissory note—long term portion
Net deferred indemnified loan origination fees
Lease liabilities — long term
Indemnity liability
Total Liabilities
Commitment and Contingencies (Note 13)
Stockholders’ (Deficit) Equity

SHF Holdings, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,

December 31,

Convertible preferred stock, $.0001 par value, 1,250,000 shares authorized, 111 and 1,101 shares issued and outstanding on December 31, 2024, and

December 31, 2023, respectively

Class A Common Stock, $.0001 par value, 130,000,000 shares authorized, 2,783,667 and 2,728,169 issued and outstanding on December 31, 2024,

and December 31, 2023, respectively

Additional paid in capital

Retained deficit

Total Stockholders” (Deficit) Equity

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ (Deficit) Equity

2024 2023
$ 2,324,647 S 4,888,769
134,609 121,875

968,023 2,095,320

659,536 546,437

16319 13,780

4,584,221 -

13,332 12,391

3,000,000 82,657

$ 11,700,687 § 7,761,229
378,854 381,463

3,154 84,220

703,524 859,861

- 6,058,000

- 3,721,745

- 43,829,019

412,500 562,500

- 4,584,221

19,568 18,651

$ 13218287 § 67,860,909
$ 140,723 $ 217,392
75,608 577,315

1,301,378 1,008,987

28,335 21,922

161,952 132,546

255,765 3,006,991

3,338,343 2,889,792

7,309,580 -

72,836 41,639

$ 12,684520 § 7,896,584
1,360,491 4,164,129

- 810,000

- 7,309,580

10,748,408 11,004,175

- 63,275

712,882 875,447

- 1,382,408

$ 25,506,301 S 33,505,598
278 273

108,467,253 105,924,859
(120,755,545) (71,569.821)

s (12,288.014) 34355311
$ 13.218287 § 67,860,909

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Revenue

Operating expenses
Compensation and employee benefits
General and administrative expenses
Professional services
Lease expense
Credit loss (benefit) expense
Impairment of goodwill
Impairment of long-lived intangible assets
Total operating expenses
Operating loss
Other (income) expenses
Interest expense
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities
Change in the fair value of deferred consideration
Total other (income) expenses
Net loss before income tax
Provision (benefit) for income taxes
Net loss
Weighted average shares outstanding, basic
Basic net loss per share
Weighted average shares outstanding, diluted
Diluted net loss per share

SHF Holdings, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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For the year ended December 31,

2024 2023

15,242,560  $ 17,562,903
7,783,331 $ 10,334,212
4,018,094 6,587,392
2,518,394 1,858,137
258,477 315,614
(1,393,131) 290,857
6,058,000 13,208,276
3,090,881 5,699,464
22,334,046 $ 38,293,952
(7,091,486) (20,731,049)
533,390 1,094,736
(2,803,638) 1,853,920
(361,449) (4,570,157)
(2,631,697) $ (1,621,501)
(4,459,789) (19,109,548)
43,859,686  $ (1,829,701)
(48,319,475  § (17,279,847)
2,772,867 2,128,728
(1743)  $ (8.12)
2,772,867 2,128,728
(17.43) $ (8.12)
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SHF Holdings, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ (Deficit) Equity

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023

Class A Additional Total
Preferred Stock C Stock Paid-in Retained Shareholders’ (Deficit)
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital (Deficit) Equity

Balance, January 01, 2023 14,616 $ 1 1,186,644 $ 119 $ 44808286 $§ (39,695,281) $ 5,113,125
Cumulative effect from adoption of CECL - - - - - (581,318) (581,318)
Issuance of shares to Abaca shareholders - - 291,791 29 4,085,047 - 4,085,076
Conversion of PIPE Shares (13,515) (1) 628,110 63 14,013,313 (14,013,375) -
Restricted stock units - - 61,623 6 1,252,037 - 1,252,043
Stock compensation cost - - - - 2,459,324 - 2,459,324
PCCU Restructuring - - 560,000 56 38,406,352 - 38,406,408
Reversal of deferred underwriting cost - - - - 900,500 - 900,500
Net loss - - - - - (17,279,847) (17,279,847)
Balance, December 31, 2023 1,101 $ - 2,728,168 $ 273 $ 105,924,859 $  (71,569,821) $ 34,355,311
Issuance of equity for marketing services - - 12,117 1 149,999 - 150,000
Conversion of PIPE shares (990) - 39,600 4 866,245 (866,249) -
Restricted stock units - - 3,781 - 63,784 - 63,784
Stock compensation cost - - - - 1,462,366 - 1,462,366
Net loss = - - - - (48,319,475) (48,319,475)
Balance, December 31, 2024 111 $ - 2,783,666 $ 278 $ 108,467,253 $ (120,755,545) $ (12,288,014)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net loss

SHF Holdings, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization expense

Stock compensation expense

Net deferred indemnified loan origination fees

Interest expense

Lease expense

Credit loss (benefit) expense

Impairment of goodwill

Impairment of long-lived intangible assets

Deferred tax expense (benefit), net

Marketing expense settled via common stock

Change in fair value of warrant liabilities

Change in the fair value of deferred consideration
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable - trade

Accounts receivable — related party

Contract assets

Prepaid expenses

Other current liabilities

Accrued interest receivable

Deferred underwriting payable

Other current assets

Accounts payable

Accounts payable — related party

Accrued expenses

Contract liabilities

Security deposit

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchase of property and equipment
Payment to Abaca Shareholder
Loan receivable repayment
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Repayment of senior secured promissory note
Net cash used in financing activities

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents - end of period

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Interest paid
Non-cash transactions:
Marketing expense settled via common stock
Shares issued for the settlement of abaca acquisition
Operating lease right of use assets recognized
Operating lease liabilities recognized
Shares issued for the settlement of PCCU debt obligation
Cumulative effect from adoption of CECL
Reversal of deferred underwriting cost
Interest recognized on PCCU settlement

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Year ended December 31,

2024 2023
(48319,475) $ (17,279,847)
711,929 1,373,707
1,575,952 3,739,156
(63,275) (45,806)
5 663,208
23,181 136,097
(1,393,131) 290,857
6,058,000 13,208,276
3,090,881 5,699,464
43,859,686 (1,829,701)
100,000 =
(2,803,638) 1,853,920
(361,449) (4,570,157)
(12,734) 81,183
1,127,297 (863,593)
- 21,170
86,901 (220,852)
527 =
(2,542) (6.460)
- (550,000)
(2,967,145) 40,370
(76,672) (2,515,442)
(501,709) 386,660
292,396 (464,424)
6,413 20,926
916) (856)
430477 $ (832,144)
5 (208,434)
- (3,000,000)
12,394 1,027,986
1239 $ (2,180,448)
(3,006,993) (488,834)
(3.006,993)  § (488,834)
(2,564,122) (3,501,426)
4,888.769 8,390,195
2,324,647 § 4,888,769
416852 $ 450,258
50,000 $ -
- 4,085,076
= 38,406,408
- 581,318
- 900,500
- 639,521
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Note 1. Organization and Business Operations

Business Description

SHF Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”), based in Golden, Colorado, specializes in financial technology designed to facilitate banking service solutions tailored to the cannabis industry. Initially, the Company’s
operations were developed as a credit union service organization under Partner Colorado Credit Union (“PCCU”). A strategic reorganization on July 1, 2021 consolidated select assets and activities from PCCU
into SHF LLC (“SHF”) under SHF Holding Co., LLC. On September 28, 2022, Northern Lights Acquisition Corp. (“NLIT”) acquired SHF, changing its name from Northern Lights Acquisition Corp. to SHF

Holdings, Inc., (the “Business Combination”). The Business Combination aimed to enhance the Company’s financial services footprint in the cannabis sector.

On October 31, 2022, the Company acquired Rockview Digital Solutions, Inc. d/b/a Abaca (“Abaca”). This merger, executed in two steps, positioned Abaca as a wholly-owned subsidiary, bolstering the
Company’s fintech offerings and market reach.

The Company facilitates a range of financial services through its financial institution customers using a proprietary technology platform for deposit and ongoing deposit activity compliance with banking
regulations and regulators. These include access to business checking and savings accounts, cash management, commercial lending, courier services, remote deposit services, ACH payments, and wire payments.
These services enable cannabis businesses to manage their finances effectively. The Company generates revenue from fee income, investment income, loan interest income and by offering compliance services to
certain financial institutions serving the cannabis industry.

Note 2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

i. Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Material estimates that are particularly subject to change in the near term include the determination of
the allowance for credit losses, valuation of deferred tax assets, and the fair value of financial instruments. Actual results could differ from the estimates.

ii. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements and related notes have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in conformity with GAAP and include the accounts of the Company, and its wholly-
owned subsidiaries. The consolidated financial statements reflect all adjustments that, in the opinion of management, are necessary for the fair presentation of the Company’s results of operations and financial

condition as of and for the periods presented. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

The Company has made certain immaterial reclassifications to the statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2023, to conform to the presentation for the year ended December 31, 2024. These
reclassifications, totaling $18,730 for the year ended December 31, 2023, were moved from ‘Interest Expense’ to ‘General and administrative expenses’.

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of SHF Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries where the Company have controlling financial interests. All intercompany balances and transactions have been
eliminated except that the par value per share remained $0.0001 per share.
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iii. Reverse Stock Split

The Company effected a reverse stock split of 1-for-20 on March 14, 2025. Unless otherwise stated, all share and per share amounts for all periods presented have been adjusted to reflect the reverse stock split.

iv. Concentrations of Risk

The Company’s financial instruments that are exposed to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash. Cash balances are maintained substantially in accounts at PCCU, which are insured by the National
Credit Union Share Insurance Fund (“NCUSIF”) up to regulatory limits. From time to time, cash balances may exceed the NCUSIF insurance limit. The Company has not experienced any credit losses associated

with its cash balances in the past.

In addition to providing compliance and related services for its financial institution partners, the Company offers services to businesses operating primarily in the cannabis industry as well as businesses offering
cannabis adjacent services. Cannabis remains illegal under federal law, and therefore, strict enforcement of federal laws regarding cannabis would likely result in the Company inability to execute our business plan.

Currently the Company substantially relies on PCCU to hold customer deposits and fund its originated loans. The majority of the Company’s revenue is generated by deposits and loans hosted by PCCU pursuant
to the Commercial Alliance Agreement (“PCCU CAA”) dated March 29, 2023 between PCCU and the Company, which was amended on December 31, 2024 .

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company had only one loan on its balance sheet.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company had a total of twenty indemnified loans, three of which individually represented more than 10% of the total balance of indemnified loans. However, following the CAA
amendment effective December 31, 2024, the Company is no longer responsible for these prior indemnifications. Therefore, no concentration related to indemnified loans existed as of December 31, 2024.

v. Segments

We have determined that our Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) serves as the Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM?”), who regularly reviews the financial performance of the business on a consolidated basis
for the purposes of allocating resources and evaluating financial performance. The Company operates as one reportable segment and one operating segment, which focuses on providing financial services,
particularly tailored to the cannabis industry.

In making this determination, we consider factors such as the nature of our operating activities, the organizational and reporting structure, and the information reviewed by the CODM to evaluate and allocate
resources effectively. The CODM utilizes adjusted EBITDA as the primary measure to assess segment performance, considering revenue trends, operating expenses, and overall financial position when making
strategic decisions. All of our assets are located within the United States.

vi. Liquidity and Going Concern

Liquidity refers to our ability to meet anticipated cash demands, including servicing debt, funding operations, maintaining assets, and covering other routine business expenses. Our primary cash outflows include
debt principal and interest repayments, operating costs, and general business expenditures. The main source of our liquidity continues to be cash inflows generated from operational performance. As of December

31, 2024, the Company does not have significant capital investment commitments.
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Going concern

Under Accounting Standards Codification (*ASC”) 205-40, Presentation of Financial Statements—Going Concern, the Company is responsible for evaluating whether conditions or events raise substantial doubt
about its ability to meet future financial obligations within one year of the financial statement issuance date. This evaluation involves two steps: (1) assessing whether conditions or events raise substantial doubt
about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, and (2) if substantial doubt is raised, evaluating whether the Company has plans to mitigate that doubt. Disclosures are required if substantial doubt
exists or if the Company’s plans alleviate the doubt.

While the company reported a net working capital deficit of $983,833 at the end of 2024, this figure includes several non-cash liabilities that do not affect liquidity. After adjusting for these non-cash items and
considering the cost of the Amended PCCU Note the adjusted working capital calculation is as follows:

Amount
‘Working capital deficit as on December 31, 2024 $ (983,833)
Forward purchase agreement, net 2,725,359
Third anniversary payment consideration 322,000
Fees paid in 2025 on the Amended PCCU Note (53,742)
Adjusted working capital as on December 31, 2024 $ 2,009,784

The Company has the following non-cash items on its balance sheet that impact the working capital calculation as reported, thus improving working capital:

- Obligation under the Forward Purchase Agreement: As of December 31, 2024, the Company had a forward purchase receivable of $4,584,221 and a forward purchase derivative liability of
$7,309,580, resulting in a net liability of $2,725,359. This liability can be settled in common stock at the Company’s discretion, offering flexibility to improve working capital, which is management plan
and intention.

- Obligation under the Third Anniversary Consideration Payment: As of December 31, 2024, the Company had an outstanding liability of $322,000, payable to the Abaca shareholders. This liability
can also be settled in common stock at the Company’s discretion, providing further flexibility to enhance working capital, which is management plan and intention.

At December 31, 2024, the Company reported cash of $2,324,647 and a net working capital deficit of $983,833, compared to cash of $4,888,769 and a net working capital deficit of $135,355 as of December 31,
2023. The Company’s ability to continue as a going concern depends on its capacity to generate sufficient liquidity to meet financial obligations, including interest repayments under the senior secured note with
PCCU. The Company incurred operating losses of $7,091,486 and $20,731,049 for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

The reported working capital deficit and operating losses, before adjustment for non-cash activity raises substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve
months from the date these consolidated financial statements are issued.

Management's Plan Related to Going Concern

To address these concerns, the Company has performed actions, including renegotiating its senior secured loan with PCCU. On January 29, 2025, the Company and PCCU entered into a letter agreement to defer
the principal payments for February and March 2025 (the “Deferral Period”). While interest has been repaid during the Deferral Period, the note repayment schedule has been extended by an additional two months.

Furthermore, on March 1, 2025, the Company entered into an Amended PCCU Note with PCCU, modifying the outstanding principal of $10,748,408 with an interest rate of 4.25% per annum. The new repayment
schedule includes interest-only payments from March 1, 2025, to January 5, 2027, followed by monthly principal and interest payments from February 5, 2027, to September 5, 2030, with the full loan balance due
by October 5, 2030. This two-year deferment of principal has unlocked $6,437,050 in cash flow, significantly improving the Company’s liquidity position.

On December 31, 2024, as a result of the Amended PCCU Note, the Company excluded the short-term obligations of the PCCU Note totaling $2,883,167 from current liabilities and reclassified it as non-current
liabilities.

In the first quarter of 2025, the Company commenced utilizing its stock-based compensation as an alternative to cash payments to attract and retain talent, the Board of Directors restructured their compensation
towards stock-based compensation, and the Company has continued to reduce costs through lower headcount and other operational spend. The Company has established a budget and monitors its liquidity position
and will make adjustments as needed.

Due to the uncertainty surrounding cash flows from operations, the management plans outlined above do not entirely resolve the uncertainty regarding the going concern assumption. As a result, management has
determined that there remains substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from the date these consolidated financial statements are issued.

If the Company is not able to sustain its present level of operations, it may be forced to make reductions in spending, extend payment terms with suppliers, liquidate assets where possible, or suspend or curtail
planned expansion programs. Any of these actions could materially harm the Company’s business, results of operations and future prospects.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming the Company will continue as a going concern, which contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in
the normal course of business, and do not include any adjustments to reflect the possible future effects on the recoverability and classification of assets or amounts and classification of liabilities that may result
should the Company not continue as a going concern as a result of this uncertainty.

vii. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, amounts due from financial institutions, and investments with maturities of three months or less.

viii. Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Credit losses

Accounts receivable are recorded based on account fee schedules. While fees are generated from individual CRB-related accounts, amounts are initially collected by the financial institution and remitted in the
subsequent month. Accounts receivable - related party represents amounts due from PCCU under related party contracts disclosed in Note 8. The Company maintains allowances for doubtful accounts for estimated
losses resulting from customers’ inability to make required payments. In accordance with the adoption of ASU 2016-13, the Company estimates anticipated losses from doubtful accounts using the current expected
credit loss (CECL) model. This model considers both historical collection experience and forward-looking information, including changes in economic conditions that may not be reflected in historical trends, such
as customers in bankruptcy, liquidation, or reorganization. The Company estimates losses based on days past due as measured from the contractual due date. Receivables are written off against the allowance for
doubtful accounts when they are determined to be uncollectible. Such determination includes an analysis of the specific conditions of the account, including time intervals since last collection, customer
performance against agreed-upon payment plans, solvency of the customer, and any bankruptcy proceedings.

As of December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023, there were no recorded allowances for doubtful accounts on accounts receivable.
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ix. Loans Receivable

CRB Loans that significantly support the Company’s operations are recognized as assets on the balance sheet. These loans, intended to be held either for the foreseeable future or until their maturity or full
repayment, are recorded at their outstanding principal balance. This amount is adjusted for any credit loss allowances and net of any deferred loan origination fees and costs, as applicable, to reflect the net
investment in these loans. The Company recognizes interest income on CRB Loans over the loan term using the simple-interest method based on outstanding principal amounts. This approach ensures a systematic
recognition of income, aligning with the time value of money principle.

Interest income recognition is suspended when there is uncertainty regarding full loan repayment, such as in cases of loan impairment or when payments are overdue by ninety days or more. Loans under these
conditions are placed on nonaccrual status. Any accrued interest not received by the time a loan is placed on nonaccrual is reversed from interest income. Subsequent interest payments on nonaccrual loans are
recorded using either the cash basis or the cost recovery method until the loan meets the criteria for reclassification to accrual status.

Loans are returned to accrual status when they become current (less than ninety days past due) and when there is reasonable assurance of future payment compliance, evidenced by the full satisfaction of both
principal and interest payments due.

Loans are assessed individually for potential charge-off, which typically occurs at the point of foreclosure. Charge-offs are executed to reflect the realizable value of loans that are deemed uncollectible.

The determination of a loan’s past-due status is based on its contractual repayment terms. Loans are either placed on nonaccrual status or charged-off ahead of their contractual delinquency dates if the collection of
principal and interest is deemed doubtful, ceasing the recognition of interest income on such loans.

x. Allowance for Credit Losses (ACL) and Indemnification

The Company accounts for credit losses in accordance with ASC 326 — Financial Instruments — Credit Losses (CECL methodology), which replaces the incurred loss model with an expected credit loss approach.
The allowance for credit losses (ACL) is established to reflect the estimated lifetime credit losses on financial assets carried at amortized cost, including loans held for investment. The ACL consists of an asset-
specific component for individual loans with unique risk characteristics and a pooled component based on expected loss models, incorporating probability of default (PD) and loss given default (LGD). Given the
evolving nature of cannabis-related lending and the absence of extensive historical industry data, the Company applies significant judgment to estimate credit losses using comparable non-cannabis loan data while
adjusting for industry-specific risks.

The ACL estimation process incorporates macroeconomic conditions, economic forecasts, and reasonable future expectations. Expected credit losses are measured over the contractual term of the loans, adjusted
for expected prepayments where applicable. Recoveries on previously charged-off loans are credited to the ACL upon collection.

The Company previously recorded an indemnity liability under ASC 460 — Guarantees related to its obligation to indemnify PCCU against credit losses on cannabis-related loans. This liability was measured using
the same methodology as the ACL and included an assessment of potential losses from defaulted loans. However, following the execution of the Amended and Restated CAA on December 31, 2024, the Company
is no longer obligated to indemnify PCCU for credit losses, resulting in the complete reversal of the indemnity liability into the statement of operations. As of December 31, 2024, the Company no longer has any
outstanding indemnified loans.
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xi. Property and Equipment, net

Property and equipment are recorded at historical cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is provided over the assets’ useful lives on a straight-line basis 3-5 years for equipment and furniture and
fixtures. Repairs and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred.

Management periodically assesses the estimated useful life over which assets are depreciated or amortized. If the analysis warrants a change in the estimated useful life of property and equipment, management will
reduce the estimated useful life and depreciate or amortize the carrying value prospectively over the shorter remaining useful life.

The carrying amounts of assets sold or retired and the related accumulated depreciation are eliminated in the period of disposal and the resulting gains and losses are included in the results of operations during the
same period.

The Company capitalizes certain costs related to software developed for internal-use, primarily associated with the ongoing development and enhancement of our technology platform. Costs incurred in the
preliminary development and post-development stages are expensed. These costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the related asset, generally five years.

xii. Right of Use Assets and Lease Liability

The Company has entered into lease agreements for a certain facility and certain items of equipment, which provide the right to use the underlying asset and require lease payments over the term of the lease. At
inception of the lease agreement, the Company assesses whether the agreement conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period in exchange for consideration, in which case it is classified as a
lease. Each lease is further analyzed to check whether it meets the classification criteria of a finance or operating lease. All identified leases are recorded on the consolidated balance sheet with a corresponding
lease right-of-use asset, net, representing the right to use the underlying asset for the lease term and the operating lease liabilities representing the obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. The
Company has elected not to recognize lease assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases (leases with a term of 12 months or less) and leases of low-value assets. Lease right-of-use assets, net and lease liabilities
are recognized at the commencement date of the lease based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term and include options to extend or terminate the lease when they are reasonably certain to be
exercised. The present value of lease payments is determined primarily using the incremental borrowing rate based on the information available as of the lease commencement date.

Lease expense for operating leases is recorded on a straight-line basis over the lease term and variable lease costs are recorded as incurred. The Company’s lease agreements do not contain any material residual
value guarantees or material restrictive covenants. Finance lease interest expense is recognized based on an effective interest method and depreciation of assets is recorded on a straight-line basis over the shorter of
the lease term and useful life of the asset. Both operating and finance lease right of use assets are reviewed for impairment, consistent with other finite lived assets, whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. After a right of use asset is impaired, any remaining balance of the asset is amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the remaining lease term or
the estimated useful life.

xiii. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The Company’s methodology for allocating the purchase price of an acquisition is based on established valuation techniques that reflect the consideration of a number of factors, including a valuation performed by
a third-party appraiser. Goodwill is measured as the excess of the cost of an acquired business over the fair value assigned to identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually, unless any events or circumstances indicate it is more likely than not that the fair value of the goodwill is less than its carrying value at the elected measurement
date of December 31.
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Goodwill is considered impaired when the estimated fair value of the reporting unit that was allocated the goodwill is less than its carrying value. If the estimated fair value of such reporting unit is less than its
carrying value, goodwill impairment is recognized based on that difference, not to exceed the carrying amount of goodwill. A reporting unit is an operating segment or a component of an operating segment
provided that the component constitutes a business for which discrete financial information is available and management regularly reviews the operating results of that component.

Finite-lived intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful life, which is the period over which the assets are expected to contribute directly or indirectly to the future cash flows of the Company.
Intangible assets should be tested for impairment at the time of a triggering event, if one were to occur. Finite-lived intangible assets may be impaired when the estimated undiscounted future cash flows generated
from the assets are less than their carrying amounts.

xiv. Stock-based Compensation

The Company measures all equity-based payment arrangements to employees and directors in accordance with ASC 718, Compensation—Stock Compensation. The Company’s stock-based compensation cost is
measured based on the fair value at the grant date of the stock-based award. It is recognized as expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period for the entire award. Forfeitures are recognized as
they occur. The Company estimates the fair value of each stock-based award on its measurement date using either the current market price of the stock or Black-Scholes option valuation model, whichever is most
appropriate. The Black-Scholes valuation model incorporates assumptions such as expected term of the instrument, volatility of the Company’s future share price, risk free rates, future dividend yields and
estimated forfeitures at the initial grant date, by reference to the underlying terms of the instrument, and the Company’s experience with similar instruments. Changes in assumptions used to estimate fair value
could result in materially different results.

The stock price of the Company has dropped significantly from the date of listing, based on which the Company has considered the expected volatility at 100% for the purpose of stock compensation. The risk-free
interest rates are based on quoted U.S. Treasury rates for securities with maturities approximating the awards’ expected lives. The expected term of the options granted is calculated based on the simplified method
by taking average of contractual term and vesting period of the awards. The expected dividend yield is zero as the Company has never paid dividends and does not currently anticipate paying any in the foreseeable
future.

xv. Fair Value Measurements

The Company utilizes the fair value hierarchy to apply fair value measurements. The fair value hierarchy is based on inputs to valuation techniques that are used to measure fair values that are either observable or
unobservable. Observable inputs reflect assumptions market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability based on market data obtained from independent sources, while unobservable inputs reflect a
reporting entity’s pricing based upon its own market assumptions. The basis for fair value measurements for each level within the hierarchy is described below:

Level 1 — Quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.

Level 2 — Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active; or model-derived valuations whose inputs are
observable or whose significant value drivers are observable.

Level 3 —Valuations derived from valuation techniques in which one or more significant inputs to the valuation model are unobservable.
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xvi. Revenue Recognition

SHF recognizes revenue in accordance with ASC Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ASC 606”). The core principle of ASC 606 requires that an entity recognize revenue to depict the transfer of
promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which SHF expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. ASC 606 defines a five-step process to achieve this
core principle including identifying performance obligations in the contract, estimating the amount of variable consideration to include in the transaction price and allocating the transaction price to each separate
performance obligation.

Revenue is recorded at a point in time when the performance obligation is satisfied, and no contingencies exist. Revenue consists primarily of fees earned on deposit accounts such as bank account charges,
onboarding income, account activity fee income and other miscellaneous fees.

Revenue from account fee income is recognized when the Company fulfills its service obligations, which include fees charged for financial services such as account maintenance, transaction processing, and other
related services.

Revenue from interest on loans is recognized over the loan period as earned. The Company utilizes a fixed percentage fee structure, under which financial institutions receive a share of interest income from CRB-
related loans.

Revenue from investment income is recognized based on interest earned on daily deposit balances maintained with financial institutions.

In addition, the Company recognizes revenue from the Master Program Agreement. The Master Program Agreement is a non-exclusive and non-transferable right to implement and utilize the Safe Harbor Program.
The Safe Harbor Program has two performance obligations; an implementation fee recognized when the contract is effective and a service fee recognized ratable over the contract term as the compliance program is
executed.

Amounts received in advance of the service being provided is recorded as a liability under deferred revenue on the consolidated balance sheets.

Customers consist of financial institutions providing services to CRBs. Revenues are concentrated in the United States of America.

xvii. Contract Assets / Contract Liabilities

A contract asset is the Company’s right to consideration in exchange for goods or services that the Company has transferred to a customer. Conversely, the Company recognizes a contract liability if the customer’s
payment of consideration precedes the reporting entity’s performance.

As of December 31, 2024, the Company reported contract assets and contract liabilities of $0 and $28,335, respectively, from contracts with customers. As of December 31, 2023, the Company reported a contract
asset and liability of $0 and $21,922, respectively.

xviii. Warrants Liabilities

The Company has four separate warrants including public, private, PIPE and Abaca and has evaluated each of the warrant arrangements separately in accordance with ASC 480 and 815, to determine classification
as either equity instruments or liabilities based on the specific terms and features of each warrant. Warrants are recognized as equity if they are indexed to our own stock and meet the equity classification criteria in
ASC 815-40. These warrants are recorded within stockholders’ equity at their issuance date and are not subsequently remeasured at fair value. Conversely, warrants that do not meet the criteria for equity
classification under ASC 815-40 are classified as liabilities. Such warrants are initially recorded at fair value on the issuance date and are subject to remeasurement at each balance sheet date thereafter. Any
changes in fair value are recognized in the statement of operations. None of our warrant contracts met criteria to be considered indexed to their own stock, and as a result, have each been accounted for as a
liability financial instrument. The fair value of warrants classified as liabilities is determined using appropriate valuation models, such as the Black-Scholes model, which incorporates various inputs, including the
current stock price, expected volatility, risk-free interest rate, and the expected term of the warrants.

xviii. Deferred consideration
In line with ASC Topic 815, “Derivatives and Hedging” (“ASC 815”), the Company treats the deferred consideration from the Abaca acquisition as a derivative liability, since it does not fulfill the equity
classification criteria. As a result, this obligation is recognized as a liability on the balance sheet at fair value and is adjusted to reflect its fair value at the end of each reporting period. The liability will be

reassessed at fair value on every balance sheet date until the obligation’s term concludes. Fluctuations in its fair value are recorded in the consolidated statements of operations.
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xxi. Forward purchase derivative

The Company accounted for the forward purchase derivative in the business combination in accordance with the guidance contained in ASC Topic 815, the Company classifies the forward purchase derivative as
an asset or liability carried at fair value and adjusts the forward purchase derivative to fair value at each reporting period. Under the terms of the contract, the forward purchase derivative may be settled in either
cash or stock upon maturity, at the discretion of management. This derivative asset or liability is subject to re-measurement at each balance sheet date until the conditions under the forward purchase agreement are
exercised or expire, and any change in fair value is recognized in the consolidated statement of operations. On December 31, 2022, a Monte-Carlo Simulation within a risk-neutral framework was used to estimate
the forward purchase derivative’s fair value, assuming Geometric Brownian Motion for future stock prices. Values from each simulation path were determined per contractual terms and discounted by a matching
risk-free rate. In 2023 and 2024, no FPA holder sales occurred, and no significant risk factor changes affecting FPA derivative values were noted. Consequently, management retained the December 31, 2022
valuation for year-end 2023 and 2024.

xx. Earnings Per Share

Basic and diluted earnings per share are computed and disclosed in accordance with ASC Topic 260, Earnings Per Share. The Company utilizes the two-class method to compute earnings available to common
stockholders. Under the two-class method, earnings are adjusted by accretion amounts to redeemable noncontrolling interests recorded at redemption value. The adjustments represent dividend distributions, in
substance, to the noncontrolling interest holder as the holders have contractual rights to receive an amount upon redemption other than the fair value of the applicable shares. As a result, earnings are adjusted to
reflect this in substance distribution that is different from other common stockholders. In addition, the Company allocates net earnings to each class of common stock and participating security as if all of the net
earnings for the period had been distributed. The Company’s participating securities consist of share-based payment awards that contain a non-forfeitable right to receive dividends and therefore are considered to
participate in undistributed earnings with common stockholders (Refer to Note 14). Basic earnings per common share excludes dilution and is calculated by dividing net earnings allocated to common shares by the
weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted earnings per common share is calculated by dividing net earnings allocable to common shares by the weighted-average number of
common shares outstanding for the period, as adjusted for the potential dilutive effect of non-participating share-based awards.

xxi. Income Tax

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated future tax consequences attributable to differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are adjusted through the provision for income taxes as changes in tax laws or rates are enacted.

A valuation allowance is established when it is determined that it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets may not be realized .

ASC Topic 740 also prescribes a recognition threshold and a measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. For those
benefits to be recognized, a tax position must be more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon examination by taxing authorities. The Company recognizes accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax
benefits, if any, as income tax expense. There were no unrecognized tax benefits and no amounts accrued for interest and penalties as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023. The Company is currently not

aware of any issues under review that could result in significant payments, accruals or material deviation from its position.
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xxii. Recently Issued Accounting Standards

From time to time, new accounting pronouncements are issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, or other standard setting bodies and adopted by the Company as of the specified effective
date. Unless otherwise discussed, the impact of recently issued standards that are not yet effective are not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial position or results of operations upon
adoption.

Adopted Standards

Segment Reporting

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280), requiring public entities to disclose significant segment expenses and other segment items. It also mandates that public entities
provide, in interim periods, all disclosures related to a reportable segment’s profit or loss and assets that were previously required only annually.

Public entities with a single reportable segment must comply with all ASC 280 disclosure requirements, including significant segment expense disclosures. The guidance upon adoption has been applied
retrospectively to all periods presented unless impractical.

This ASU applies to all public entities and is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and for interim periods beginning after December 15, 2024. The Company has adopted ASU 2023-07,
Segment Reporting (Topic 280) and applied disclosure requirements throughout the financial statements.

Fair Value Measurement of Equity Securities Subject to Contractual Sale Restrictions

This Accounting Standard Update (ASU 2022-03) clarifies that a contractual restriction on the sale of an equity security is not considered part of the unit of account of the equity security and, therefore, is not
considered when measuring fair value. Recognizing a contractual restriction on the sale of an equity security as a separate unit of account is not permitted. This ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2023, including interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company has prospectively adopted this standard during the year ended December 31, 2024, and the ASU has not had a material impact
on the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements.

Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Deferral of the Sunset Date of Topic 848

This Accounting Standard Update (ASU 2022-06) defers the Sunset Date of ASC Topic 848, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848), which provides temporary optional relief in accounting for the impact of
Reference Rate Reform. This ASU is effective upon issuance (December 21, 2022) and generally can be applied through December 31, 2024. The Company has prospectively adopted this standard during the year
ended December 31, 2024, and the ASU has not had a material impact on the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements.

Investments-Equity Method and Joint Ventures

In March 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-02, Investments-Equity Method and Joint Ventures (Topic 323): Accounting for Investments in Tax Credit Structures using the Proportional Amortization Method. The
FASB issued final guidance allowing entities to apply the proportional amortization method to equity investments in all tax credit programs that meet the conditions in ASC 323-740, rather than just investments in
qualified affordable projects that generate low-income housing tax credits, as was required under the legacy guidance. The guidance is effective for public business entities for fiscal years beginning after December
15, 2023 and interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company has prospectively adopted this standard during the year ended December 31, 2024, and the ASU has not had a material impact on the
Company’s audited consolidated financial statements.
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Standards Pending to be Adopted
Income Taxes

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740). This ASU requires public business entities to disclose in their rate reconciliation table additional categories of information about
income taxes paid, including certain disclosures that would be disaggregated by jurisdiction and other categories. This ASU is effective for fiscal years after December 15, 2024. Early adoption would be permitted.
The Company does not expect this ASU to have a material impact on its audited consolidated financial statements.

In January 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-01, Compensation-Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Scope Application of Profits Interests and Similar Awards, which clarifies the scope and application of profits
interest awards under ASC 718 by providing illustrative guidance. The amendments apply to all entities that account for profits interest awards as compensation for services provided by employees or non-
employees. The amendments are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, including interim periods within those years, for public entities, and for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2025, for all other entities, with early adoption permitted. The Company will adopt this standard prospectively and is currently assessing the impact of adopting this guidance on its financial statements and related
disclosures.

In March 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-02, Codification Improvements: Amendments to Remove References to the Concepts Statements. Since the Concept Statements are not considered authoritative and do
not establish Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP), the ASU eliminates references to these statements from the codification. The amendments are effective for public entities for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2024, and for all other entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2025, with early adoption permitted. The Company will adopt this ASU prospectively and does not
anticipate a material impact on its financial reporting as a result of adopting this ASU.

ASU 2024-03, Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses, was issued in November 2024 and requires public business entities to disaggregate certain income statement expense captions in the footnotes of the
financial statements. Specifically, entities must provide disclosures that separately present expenses related to purchases of inventory, employee compensation, depreciation, intangible asset amortization, and
depletion (including depreciation, depletion, and amortization for oil and gas producing activities). While this ASU does not change the presentation of expense captions on the face of the income statement, it
requires detailed disclosures in the notes to the financial statements. The amendments are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2026, and for interim periods within fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2027, with early adoption permitted. The Company will adopt this ASU prospectively and does not anticipate a material impact on its financial reporting as a result of adopting this ASU.

In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-04, Debt—Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20): Induced Conversions of Convertible Debt Instruments, which provides clarification on the
accounting treatment of convertible debt settlements that occur under terms differing from those of the original instrument. The amendments specify that if the settlement is considered an induced conversion, an
entity must recognize an inducement expense at the offer acceptance date. Conversely, if the settlement is treated as a debt extinguishment, an entity must recognize a gain or loss at the extinguishment date. This
ASU is effective for all entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2025, including interim periods within those years, with early adoption permitted. The Company will adopt this ASU prospectively and
does not anticipate a material impact on its financial reporting as a result of adopting this ASU.

In January 2025, the FASB issued ASU 2025-01, Income Statement—Reporting Comprehensive Income—Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40). The Board is issuing this Update to clarify the
effective date of Accounting Standards Update No. 2024-03, Income Statement—Reporting Comprehensive Income—Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40): Disaggregation of Income Statement
Expenses. The amendment in this Update applies to all public business entities but only potentially affects non-calendar year-end entities. The amendment in this Update amends the effective date of Update
2024-03 to clarify that all public business entities are required to adopt the guidance in annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2026, and interim periods within annual reporting periods beginning
after December 15, 2027. Early adoption of Update 2024-03 is permitted. The Company will adopt this ASU prospectively and does not anticipate a material impact on its financial reporting as a result of adopting
this ASU.

The Company will continue to monitor the development of these standards and intends to adopt them in accordance with their respective effective dates. Additional disclosures will be provided in future filings as
the Company finalizes its assessment of these standards’ impacts.

F-16




Table of Contents
Note 3. Deferred consideration

On November 11, 2022, as provided in Exhibit 2.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 16, 2022, on November 11, 2022, the Company entered into the first
Amendment to the Merger Agreement and Plan of Merger to that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of October 29, 2022, by and among the Parent, SHF Merger Sub I, a Delaware corporation and a
direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent (“Merger Sub I”), SHF Merger Sub II, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent (“Merger Sub II"” and, together with
Merger Sub I, the “Merger Subs”), Rockview Digital Solutions, Inc., a Delaware corporation, d/b/a Abaca and Dan Roda, solely in such individual’s capacity as the representative of the Company Security Holders
(the “Merger Agreement.”)

The Merger Agreement provided for payment of $30 million through a mix of cash and stock. The payment structure included $9 million in cash, distributed in three equal installments, with the first installment
occurring at the merger closing and the other installments being paid on the first and second anniversaries of the merger closing. Additionally, the Class A Common Stock consideration was settled through 105,000
Class A Common Stock which represented a monetary equivalent calculated against the closing trading price, alongside deferred stock consideration calculated with a 10-day VWAP formula. Adjustments were
made via amendments to redefine the terms and conditions of the deferred stock and cash considerations. The foregoing description of the Merger Agreement does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its
entirety by the Merger Agreement attached as Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 16, 2022.

A Second Amendment to the Merger Agreement, dated October 26, 2023, by and among the Company, Merger Sub I, Merger Sub II, Rockview Digital Solutions, Inc., a Delaware corporation, d/b/a Abaca and
Dan Roda, solely in such individual’s capacity as the representative of the Abaca security holders as referenced in Exhibit 2.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on October 27,
2023 (the “Second Amendment”) amends the Merger Agreement to provide for deferred stock consideration of 291,792 shares of Class A Common Stock to be issued at the first anniversary of the Second
Amendment based on a recalculated value of $40.00 per share. No changes affected the scheduled cash payments under the Amended Second Amendment. Furthermore, a third-anniversary consideration of $1.5
million was introduced, payable in cash or Class A Common Stock at the Company’s discretion, alongside an issue of 250,000 stock warrants at an exercise price of $40.00 per share of Class A Common Stock.
The adjustments and additional considerations have been valued and recorded according to ASC 815, reflecting changes in the fair value of deferred consideration in the consolidated statements of operations.

The change in the amount of deferred consideration from January 1, 2023, to December 31, 2024, is as follows:

Stock Cash Third Anniversary
Consideration Consideration Consideration Payment
January 1, 2023 $ 11,456,639  $ 5,650,775  $ -
Less: Working capital adjustment (108,691) - -
Less: Issuance of shares and payment to sharcholders (4,085,075) (3,000,000) -
Less: Issuance of Abaca warrants (1,643,699) - -
Less: Issuance of third anniversary payment consideration (430,000) - 430,000
Less: Gain recognized in the consolidated statements of operations (5,645,107) - -
Add: Fair value adjustment 455,933 239,017 380,000
December 31, 2023 - 2,889,792 810,000
Add: Fair value adjustment - 126,551 (488,000)
December 31, 2024 $ - 3 3,016,343  § 322,000

On October 17, 2024, the Company caused a Complaint to be filed in the District Court for the City and County of Denver, Colorado, captioned SHF Holdings, Inc. v. Daniel Roda, Gregory W. Ellis, and James R.
Carroll, Case No. 2024CV33187 (Denver County District Court). On November 21, 2024, in connection with the Company’s request, the Company caused the Merger Payment to be deposited into the Denver
County District Court’s registry so that it can be distributed in accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement. The Merger Payment has already been accounted for in the working capital deficit disclosed in
the Liquidity and Going Concern section. On December 19, 2024, Daniel Roda, Gregory W. Ellis, and James R. Carroll caused an answer and counterclaim to be filed in response to the Company Complaint. For
additional details, please refer to the section titled “Abaca legal case in Denver” in the Recent Updates above as well as the Company’s Current Reports on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 18, 2024 and
December 19, 2024.

On November 20, 2024, the Company deposited $3,000,000 with the District Court of Denver, Colorado, for the court to determine the appropriate disbursement method to Abaca shareholders. This amount is
recorded under “Other Current Assets” on the balance sheet.
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Note 4. Goodwill and Finite-lived Intangible Assets
Goodwill

The Company’s goodwill was derived from the Abaca Merger, where the purchase price exceeded the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired. Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually, or more
frequently if a triggering event occurs.

On December 31, 2024, the Company conducted its annual goodwill impairment test in accordance with ASC 350, utilizing a combination of the Discounted Cash Flow (DCF) Method and the Guideline Public
Company (GPC) Method. The DCF method estimated the present value of projected future cash flows using an appropriate discount rate, while the GPC method compared key financial metrics against publicly
traded comparable companies. To validate the results, the enterprise value approach was used as a cross-check. The impairment assessment incorporated an equally weighted enterprise value derived from both the
DCF and GPC methods. As the fair value of the asset group was determined to be lower than its carrying amount, the Company recorded a full goodwill impairment charge of $6.06 million.

In 2023, the Company conducted an interim goodwill and intangible asset impairment assessment on June 30, 2023, which indicated that the carrying value of goodwill exceeded its fair value. As a result, the
Company recognized a non-cash goodwill impairment charge of $13.21 million in its consolidated statements of operations. However, the annual impairment test conducted on December 31, 2023, did not result in
any additional impairment charges, as the fair value remained at or above the carrying value.

The following presents a summary of the Company’s goodwill as of December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023.

Year ended December 31, 2024 2023

Goodwill

Beginning balance $ 6,058,000 $ 19,266,276
Acquisition = =
Impairment (6,058,000) (13,208,276)

Ending balance $ - $ 6,058,000

Finite-lived intangible assets

The Company reviews its finite-lived intangible assets for impairment at least annually on December 31 unless any events or circumstances indicate it is more likely than not that the fair value of the finite-lived
intangible assets is less than its carrying value.

In accordance with the Company’s established policy, an annual impairment review of finite-lived intangible assets was conducted on December 31, 2024. The recoverability test compared the sum of estimated
undiscounted future cash flows of the asset group to its carrying amount. As the undiscounted cash flows were determined to be lower than the carrying amount, the Company performed a fair value assessment
using a Discounted Cash Flow (DCF) analysis. The results indicated that the fair value of the asset group was below its carrying amount, leading to impairment charges of $0.05 million for market-related
intangible assets, $0.05 million for customer relationships, and $2.99 million for developed technologies.

In 2023, following a triggering event in the second quarter, the Company performed an interim impairment assessment for goodwill and intangible assets. In addition, the Company conducted its annual impairment
review on December 31, 2023, in line with its policy. The finite-lived intangible assets evaluated included market-related intangibles, customer relationships, and developed technologies. The interim assessment
resulted in an impairment charge of $3.68 million, primarily related to market-related intangibles and customer relationships, as their carrying values exceeded their fair values. The annual review further identified
an additional impairment charge of $2.02 million related to developed technologies.
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The following presents a summary of the Company’s finite-lived intangible assets as of December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023:

As of December 2024:
Remaining
Useful
Life in Gross Carrying Accumulated Accumulated Net Carrying
Years Amount Amortization Impairment amount
(A) (B) © (A-B-C)
Market related intangible assets - $ 2,100,000 $ 178,633  $ 1,921,367  § =
Customer relationships - 2,000,000 134,848 1,865,152 -
Developed technology - 6,700,000 1,696,172 5,003,828 -
Total intangible assets - 10,800,000 2,009,653 8,790,347 -
As of December 31, 2023:
Remaining
Useful
Life in Gross Carrying Accumulated Accumulated Net Carrying
Years Amount Amortization Impairment amount
(A) B) © (A-B-C)
Market related intangible assets 6.87 Years $ 2,100,000 $ 169,116  $ 1,865,668 $ 65,216
Customer relationships 8.87 Years 2,000,000 128,430 1,814,795 56,775
Developed technology 5.87 Years 6,700,000 1,081,245 2,019,001 3,599,754
Total intangible assets - 10,800,000 1,378,791 5,699,464 3,721,745

During the year ended December 31, 2024, amortization expense and impairment of finite-lived intangible assets were $630,863 and $3,090,881, respectively, compared to $1,199,878 and $5,699,464, respectively,

for the year ended December 31, 2023.
Note 5. Loans Receivable
Commercial real estate loans receivable, net consist of the following:
Commercial real estate loans receivable, gross
Allowance for credit losses
Commercial real estate loans receivable, net

Current portion
Noncurrent portion
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Allowance for Credit Losses

The allowance for credit losses is maintained at a level believed to be sufficient to provide for estimated credit losses based on evaluating known and inherent risks in the loan portfolio. The Company’s estimated
the allowance for credit losses on the reporting date in accordance with the credit loss policy described in Note 2.

The allowance for credit losses consists of the following activity for the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023:

Year ended December 31, 2024 2023
Allowance for credit losses
Beginning balance N 10,723 § 21,488
Cumulative effect from adoption of CECL - 14,980
Charge-offs - -
Recoveries = =
Benefits (10,723) (25,745)
Ending balance $ -8 10,723
Loans receivable:
Individually evaluated for impairment $ 392,186 $ -
Collectively evaluated for impairment - 404,577
$ 392,186  § 404,577
Allowance for credit losses:
Individually evaluated for impairment S -3 -
Collectively evaluated for impairment - 10,723
S -3 10,723

As of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, no loans were past due, or classified as non-accrual or considered impaired. Additionally, no loans were modified during the years ended December 31, 2024, or
2023.

Credit quality of loans:

As part of the on-going monitoring of the credit quality of the Company’s loan portfolio, management tracks credit quality indicators based on the loan payment status on monthly basis. The Company evaluated
the credit quality of each indemnified loan by assessing the risk factors and assigning a risk rating based on a variety of factors. The detailed breakdown of risk factors described in Note 6.

The carrying value, excluding the CECL Reserve, of the Company’s loans held at carrying value within each risk rating is as follows:

Year ended. Year ended
Risk rating December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
6 $ 392,186 $ -
4 - 404,577
Grand total $ 392,186  $ 404,577

Note 6. Indemnification Liability

As of December 31, 2024, the Company had no indemnified loans outstanding. However, as of December 31, 2023, the Company had indemnified a total of twenty loans, three of which individually represented
more than 10% of the total balance of indemnified loans.

The schedule below details outstanding indemnified amounts funded by PCCU and categorized as either collateralized loans or unsecured loans and lines of credit as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023.

December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
Secured term loans $ - 3 55,215,013
Unsecured loans and lines of credit - 431,640
Total loans funded by PCCU $ - $ 55,646,653

As of December 31, 2023, secured loans carried interest rates ranging from 8.00% to 13.00%, while unsecured loans and lines of credit had interest rates between 10.00% and 12.50%. Additionally, unsecured lines
of credit had an incremental availability of $996,958 as of December 31, 2023.
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For the loans outstanding as of December 31, 2023, SHF had agreed to indemnify PCCU for losses on certain PCCU loans. The indemnity liability reflects SHF management’s estimate of probable credit losses
inherent under the agreement as of the balance sheet date. The Company’s estimated indemnity liability on the reporting date was calculated in accordance with the allowance for credit loss and indemnity liability
policies described in Note 2.

As per the Amended CAA, effective December 31, 2024, the Company no longer serves as a guarantor of credit losses to PCCU, accordingly reduced the indemnity liability on loans funded by PCCU to $0 at
December 31, 2024.

The indemnity liability activity are as follows:

Year ended
December 31,
2024 2023
Beginning balance $ 1,382,408  $ 499,465
Cumulative effect from adoption of CECL - 566,341
Charge-offs - -
Recoveries - -
(Benefit) expense (1,382,408) 316,602
Ending balance $ - $ 1,382,408

As of December 31, 2023, one loan had been classified as nonaccrual. On December 29, 2023, the Company successfully negotiated an amendment agreement to the nonaccrual loan agreement, resulting in the
payment of all overdue amounts and restoring the loan to current status. During the second quarter of 2024, the company received the full principal amount of the loan, along with all accrued interest.

Credit quality of indemnified loans:

As part of the on-going monitoring of the credit quality of the Company’s indemnified loan portfolio, management tracks credit quality indicators based on the loan payment status on monthly basis. The Company
continuously evaluates the credit quality of each indemnified loan by assessing the risk factors and assigning a risk rating based on a variety of factors. Risk factors include property type, geographic and local
market dynamics, physical condition, projected cash flow, loan structure and exit plan, loan-to-value ratio, fixed charge coverage ratio, project sponsorship, and other factors deemed necessary. Based on a 10-point
scale, the Company’s loans are rated “0” through “10,” from less risk to greater risk, which ratings are defined as follows:

Risk

rating
0

1

DI NV N )

o

Category  Description
Risk Free  Free of repayment risk. The loan is fully guaranteed by the full faith and backing of the US Government or entirely secured by cash controlled by SHF.
Highest  High caliber loan with the lowest risk of default. Significant excess cash flow after debt service and moderate to low leverage.
Quality
Excellent  High quality loan that carry’s a low risk of default. Strong cash flow and relatively few negative individual risk factors.
Good Loans with lower-than-average level of risk. Excess cash flow and other factors contributing to the overall low level of risk in the loan.
Average  Risk factors may be mixed with some negative and some positive aspects, but the overall rating will indicate an average level of risk.
Fair Loans in this category have the maximum level of risk that can be accepted while still recommending a new loan for origination. The loan risk factors may contain multiple negative factors,
but they are generally outweighed by the positive aspects of the loan.
Watch List  There is a temporary and curable condition resulting in a lower risk rating.
Special There is a potential weakness that may result in the deterioration of the prospect of repayment that are not temporary and may require additional collection or workout efforts.
Mention
Loans in this category are inadequately protected by the current net worth and paying capacity of the obligors or of the collateral pledged and have well-defined weaknesses that jeopardize
Substandard the liquidation of the debt with distinct possibility of loss. SHF may be required to advance additional funds to manage the loan. Escalated collection activities such as foreclosure have been
scheduled with anticipated losses up to 20% of the outstanding balance.
Doubtful Collection or liquidation in full highly questionable and improbable. Escalated collection activities such as foreclosure have commenced with anticipated losses from 20% to 50% of the
outstanding balance.
Loss Uncollectable loans. A complete write-off is imminent although a partial recovery may be affected in the future.
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The carrying value, excluding the CECL Reserve, of the Company’s indemnified loans held at carrying value within each risk rating is as follows:

December 31, December 31,

Risk rating 2024 2023

3 $ - 8 10,100,000

4 - 3,431,640

5 - 28,115,013

6 - 10,900,000

7 - 3,100,000
Grand total $ -8 55,646,653

The provision for credit losses (benefit) on the statements of operations consists of the following activity for the years ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023:

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Commercial real estate Commercial real estate Indemnity
loans Indemnity liability Total loans liability Total
Credit loss (benefit) $ (10,723)  $ (1,382,408) § (1,393,131) § (25,745) $ 316,602  § 290,857
Note 7. Property and equipment, net
Property and equipment consist of the following:
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
Equipment $ 45397 §$ 45,397
Software 51,692 51,692
Improvement 71,635 71,635
Office furniture 215,504 215,504
384,228 384,228
Less: accumulated depreciation (381,074) (300,008)
Property and equipment, net $ 3,154 § 84,220

Depreciation expense was $81,066 and $173,828 for the years ended December 31, 2024, and 2023, respectively.
Note 8. Related party transactions

PCCU is considered a related party as it holds a significant ownership interest in the Company, is our most significant financial institution customer, serves as the Company’s sole lending financial institution, is the
counterparty to the PCCU Note, and is where we maintain the majority of our deposits. The agreements between PCCU and the Company are as follows:
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Account Servicing Agreement

The Company had an Account Servicing Agreement with PCCU. SHF provides services as per the agreement to CRB accounts at PCCU. In addition to providing the services, SHF assumed the costs associated
with the CRB accounts. These costs include employees to manage account onboarding, monitoring and compliance, rent and office expense, insurance and other operating expenses necessary to service these
accounts. Under the agreement, PCCU agreed to pay SHF all revenue generated from CRB accounts. Amounts due to SHF were due monthly in arrears and upon receipt of invoice. This agreement was replaced
and superseded in its entirety by the PCCU CAA, which was entered into on March 29, 2023, and later amended and restated on December 31, 2024.

Support Services Agreement

On July 1, 2021, SHF entered into a Support Services Agreement with PCCU. In connection with PCCU hosting the depository accounts and the related loans and providing certain infrastructure support, PCCU
received (and SHF paid) a monthly fee per depository account. In addition, 25% of any investment income associated with CRB deposits is paid to PCCU. This agreement was replaced and superseded in its
entirety by the PCCU CAA, which was entered into on March 29, 2023, and later amended and restated on December 31, 2024.

Loan Servicing Agreement

Effective February 11, 2022, SHF entered into a Loan Servicing Agreement with PCCU. The agreement sets forth the application, underwriting and approval process for loans from PCCU to CRB customers and
the loan servicing and monitoring responsibilities provided by both PCCU and SHF. PCCU received a monthly servicing fee at the annual rate of 0.25% of the then-outstanding principal balance of each loan
funded and serviced by PCCU. For the loans that are subject to this agreement, SHF originated the loans and performed all compliance analysis, credit analysis of the potential borrower, due diligence and
underwriting and all administration, including hiring and incurring the costs of all related personnel or third-party vendors necessary to performed these services. Under the Loan Servicing Agreement, SHF agreed
to indemnify PCCU from all claims related to default-related credit losses as defined in the Loan Servicing Agreement. This agreement was replaced and superseded in its entirety by the PCCU CAA, which was
entered into on March 29, 2023, and later amended and restated on December 31, 2024.

Commercial Alliance Agreement (the “PCCU CAA”)

On March 29, 2023, the Company and PCCU entered into the PCCU CAA. This Agreement sets forth the terms and conditions of the lending and account-related services, governing the relationship between the
Company and PCCU. The PCCU CAA replaces and supersedes, in their entirety, the following agreements entered into between the aforementioned parties: the Amended and Restated Loan Servicing Agreement
(the “Loan Servicing Agreement”, dated September 21, 2022); the Second Amended and Restated Account Servicing Agreement (“the “Account Servicing Agreement,” dated May 23, 2022, effective February 11,
2022) and the Second Amended and Restated Support Services Agreement (the “Support Agreement,” dated May 23, 2022, effective February 11, 2022).

The PCCU CAA sets forth the application, underwriting, loan approval, and foreclosure process for loans from PCCU to borrowers that are cannabis-related businesses and the loan servicing and monitoring
responsibilities provided by the Company and PCCU. In particular, the PCCU CAA provides for procedures to be followed upon the default of a loan to ensure that neither the Company nor PCCU will take title to
or possession of any cannabis-related assets, including real property, that may be collateral for a loan funded pursuant to the PCCU CAA. Under the PCCU CAA, the PCCU has the right to receive monthly fees for
managing loans. For SHF-serviced loans, which are CRB loans provided by the PCCU but primarily handled by SHF, a yearly fee of 0.25% of the remaining loan balance is applied. On the other hand, loans both
financed and serviced by the PCCU are charged a yearly fee of 0.35% on their outstanding balance. These fees are calculated using the average daily balance of each loan for the preceding month. In addition,
under the PCCU CAA the Company’s is obligated to indemnify PCCU from certain default-related loan losses.
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Furthermore, the PCCU CAA provides for certain fees to be paid to the Company for certain identified account related services to include: all cannabis-related income, including all lending-related income (such as
loan origination fees, interest income on CRB-related loans, participation fees and servicing fees), investment income, interest income, account activity fees, processing fees, flat fees, and other revenue generated
from cannabis and multi-state hemp accounts that are hosted on PCCU’s core system for a monthly fee equal to $30.96 per account in 2022, $25.32-$27.85 per account in 2023, and $26.08-$28.69 in 2024. In
addition, regarding CRB deposits held at PCCU, SHF pays PCCU a fee of 25% of the related income earned from investment and interest on these deposits, excluding interest income on loans funded by PCCU.
Finally, under the PCCU CAA, PCCU will continue to allow its ratio of CRB-related deposits to total assets to equal at least 60% unless otherwise dictated by regulatory, regulator or policy requirements. The
initial term of the PCCU CAA is for a period of two years, with a one-year automatic renewal unless a party provides one hundred twenty days’ written notice prior to the end of the term.

Up to the third quarter of 2023, our investment earnings were solely from interest on deposits at the Federal Reserve Bank, capped at the earnings accrued by PCCU from its reserves. However, a strategic shift in
the fourth quarter of 2023 led us to adopt Federal Reserve’s interest rates applied to the daily average balance of SHF customer deposits, with certain exclusions. This method, applied retroactively from the
beginning of 2023, resulted in incremental revenue of $549,000 recognized in the fourth quarter. Under our PCCU CAA, we are obligated to remit 25% of the investment hosting fees to PCCU based on this
income.

The schedule below demonstrates the ratio of CRB related loans funded by PCCU to the relative lending limits:

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
CRB related deposits $ 116,064,487  § 129,350,998
Capacity at 60% 69,638,692 77,610,599
PCCU net worth 82,400,677 81,087,746
Capacity at 1.3125 108,150,889 106,670,306
Limiting capacity 69,638,692 77,610,599
PCCU loans funded 56,794,446 55,660,039
Amounts available under lines of credit 1,131,708 525,000
Incremental capacity® $ 11,712,538 $ 21,425,560

*If the loans funded by PCCU exceed the limiting capacity, the PCCU CAA specifies that PCCU will be unable to fund additional loans until the incremental capacity is positive.

On December 31, 2024, the Company and PCCU entered into an Amended CAA, extending the term through December 31, 2028, with automatic two-year renewal periods unless a party provides written notice of
non-renewal at least 12 months before the current term expires.

Key modifications under the Amended CAA include:

e Elimination of Indemnification Obligations: The Company is no longer required to indemnify PCCU for any loan-related losses under either the original or future agreements.

e Elimination of Prior Fees and Implementation of Asset Hosting Fee Structure: Under the previous agreement, the Company was required to pay various fees to PCCU, including per-account servicing fees,
investment hosting fees, and loan servicing fees. The Amended CAA eliminates all these charges and replaces them with a fixed account servicing fee. Under the new structure, the Company will pay a single
asset hosting fees which is calculated as 0.01 multiplied by the average daily balance of account relationships generated by the Company, divided by the number of days in the year, and multiplied by the
number of days in the applicable month. This revised model aligns servicing costs with account balances rather than a flat per-account charge, offering a more scalable and efficient fee structure.
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Investment Income Entitlement: Under the Amended CAA, the Company received all investment income earned on CRB funds invested on its behalf by PCCU, effectively eliminating the investment hosting
fees that were previously payable to PCCU.

Loan Yield Allocation Formula: The Company’s interest income will be determined using a loan yield allocation formula incorporating the Constant Maturity US Treasury Rate and a proprietary risk rating
formula for determining the fee split.

Loan-to-Share Ratio Compliance: The Amended CAA introduces penalties for the Company if it fails to maintain the agreed Loan-to-Share (LTS) Ratio. If the LTS Maximum (60%) is exceeded for over 90
days, the Asset Hosting Fee increases from 1.00% to 1.10% of the average daily balance (ADB) until compliance is restored. If the LTS Minimum (27.5%) is breached, SHF must pay a quarterly adjustment
fee based on the shortfall. Additionally, if the LTS Ratio exceeds 100% for 90 days, SHF incurs an interest charge at the Federal Funds Rate + 120 bps, calculated daily and paid monthly.

The revenue from the PCCU CAA recognized in the statements of operations consists of the following for the years ended December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023:

Year ended Year ended
December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Account servicing agreement $ -8 3,075,458
Commercial Alliance Agreement 12,601,271 10,761,245
Total $ 12,601,271  § 13,836,703

The operating expenses from the PCCU CAA recognized in the statements of operations consists of the following for the years ended December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023:

Year ended Year ended

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Support services agreement $ - 8 378,730
Loan servicing agreement - 11,929
Commercial Alliance Agreement 1,052,693 1,665,644
Total $ 1,052,693  $ 2,056,303
The outstanding balances associated with the PCCU disclosed in the balance sheet are as follows:

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Accounts receivable $ 968,023 $ 2,095,320
Accounts payable 75,608 577,315
Senior Secured Promissory Note (Refer to Note 9 to the financial statements below) 11,004,173 14,011,166

Of the $2.3 million and $4.9 million of cash and cash equivalents on December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively, $2.2 million and $4.6 million of the cash and cash equivalents, respectively, were
held in deposit accounts at PCCU.

Issuance of shares to PCCU

On March 29, 2023, the Company and PCCU entered into the following definitive transaction documents to settle and restructure the deferred obligation:

A five-year Senior Secured Promissory Note (the “PCCU Note”) in the principal amount of $14,500,000 bearing interest at the rate of 4.25% and a Security Agreement pursuant to which the Company will
grant, as collateral for the Note, a first priority security interest in substantially all of the assets of the Company. The Company has repaid $3.5 million as of December 31, 2024.

A Securities Issuance Agreement, pursuant to which the Company issued 560,000 shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock to PCCU. In connection with the Securities Issuance Agreement, the parties
also entered into a Registration Rights Agreement and a Lock-Up Agreement. PCCU holds 1,080,807 shares of the company as of December 31, 2024, representing a 39% holding.

The Registration Rights Agreement requires the Company to register the Shares for resale pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”); and the Lock-Up Agreement restricts
PCCU from transferring the Shares until the earlier of (i) six (6) months after the date of the Securities Issuance Documents or (ii) the consummation of a transaction with an unaffiliated third party in which all

of the Company’s stockholders have the right to exchange their shares of Class A Common Stock for cash, securities, or other property; and

The PCCU CAA that sets forth the terms and conditions of the lending-related and account-related services governing the relationship between the Company and PCCU which supersedes the Loan Servicing
Agreement, as well as the Amended and Restated Support Services Agreement and the Amended and Restated Account Servicing Agreement.
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Note 9. Senior Secured Promissory Note

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Senior Secured Promissory Note (current) $ 255,765 $ 3,006,991
Senior Secured Promissory Note (long term) 10,748,408 11,004,175
$ 11,004,173  § 14,011,166

On March 29, 2023, the Company and PCCU entered into definitive transaction documents to settle and restructure the deferred obligation following the Business Combination under which the Company has
issued the five-year Senior Secured Promissory Note (the “PCCU Note”) in the principal amount of $14,500,000 bearing interest at the rate of 4.25% and a Security Agreement, as referenced in Exhibit 3 of the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed with the SEC on May 15, 2023, pursuant to which the Company will grant, as collateral for the PCCU Note, a first priority security interest in substantially all of
the assets of the Company.

The PCCU Note amount was to be paid in 54 installments of $295,487 each, covering both principal and interest, starting from November 5, 2023. For the period between March 29, 2023, and October 5, 2023, the
Company had paid only the interest portion.

On January 29, 2025, the Company and PCCU agreed to a Letter Agreement to defer principal payments on the PCCU Note for February and March 2025, with interest payments continuing. On March 1, 2025, the
Company entered into the Amended PCCU Note, replacing the original note dated March 29, 2023 and the letter agreement. The Amended PCCU Note has a principal balance of $10,748,408, accruing interest at
4.25% annually, with interest-only payments until January 5, 2027, and full repayment by October 5, 2030. The agreement maintains PCCU’s first-priority security interest and enforces a DSCR of 1.4 to 1.0.

Upon the effective date of the Amended PCCU Note and as of December 31, 2024, the Company reflected on its Consolidated Balance Sheet the unpaid balance due to PCCU as a non-current liability

The repayment schedule for the outstanding principal balance as on December 31, 2024, is as follows:

Year

2025 $ 255,765
2026 -
2027 697,614
2028 790,592
2029 826,047
2030 8,434,155
Grand total $ 11,004,173

During the first quarter of 2025, the Company identified that its 2024 Debt Service Coverage Ratio (DSCR), based upon payment terms under the PCCU Note, measured on the balance sheet date, fell below the
required threshold, leading to a potential breach of the covenant under the terms of the PCCU Note. The DSCR covenant mandates that the Company maintain a minimum ratio of 1.4 to 1.0, assessed annually.
PCCU waived the potential covenant breach prior to the Amended PCCU Note thus there was no event of default. Management is actively monitoring the Company’s financial performance and liquidity position to
ensure compliance with all debt covenants in future periods. The Company continues to evaluate operational and financial strategies to strengthen its ability to meet its debt obligations.

Note 10. Deferred underwriter fee

As part of the reverse acquisition of the Company and NLIT, the Company executed a note on September 28, 2022 with EF Hutton related to PIPE financing under which the Company was obligated to pay the
principal sum of $2,166,250 on the following schedule: (i) $715,750 on October 14, 2022, and (ii) $362,625 on each of October 31, 2022, November 30, 2022, December 31, 2022, and January 31, 2023.

The Company made the payment of its first installment of $715,750 and defaulted on the remaining outstanding amounts. On March 13, 2023, the Company and EF Hutton entered into a settlement agreement
pursuant to which the Company paid $550,000 to EF Hutton in full settlement of the amount due and the difference of $900,500 has been accounted for in the “Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ (Deficit)
Equity”, as a component of additional paid in capital.

Note 11. Leases

The Company has non-cancellable operating leases for facility space with varying terms. All of the active leases for facility space qualified for capitalization under FASB ASC 842, Leases. These leases have
remaining lease terms between one to seven years and may include options to extend the leases for up to ten years. The extension terms are not recognized as part of the right-of-use assets. The Company has
elected not to capitalize leases with terms equal to, or less than, one year. As of December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023, net assets recorded under operating leases were $703,524 and $859,861 respectively,

and net lease liabilities were $874,834 and $1,007,993, respectively.
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The Company analyzes contracts above certain thresholds to identify leases and lease components. Lease and non-lease components are not separated for facility space leases. The Company uses its contractual
borrowing rate to determine lease discount rates when an implicit rate is not available. Total lease cost for the year ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, included in Consolidated Statements of
Operations, is detailed in the table below:

Year ended Year ended

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Operating lease cost $ - 3 o
Short-term lease cost 258,477 315,615
Total Lease Cost $ 258477 $ 315,615
ROU assets that are related to lease properties are presented as follows:
Beginning balance $ 859,861 $ 1,016,198
Additions to right-of-use assets - -
Amortization charge for the year (156,337) (156,337)
Lease modifications - -
Ending balance $ 703,524  § 859,861
Further information related to leases is as follows:
Weighted-average remaining lease term 2.42 Years 3.42 Years
Weighted-average discount rate 6.87% 6.87%
Future minimum lease payments as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 are as follows:
Year
2024 - 197,520
2025 217,925 217,925
2026 222,275 222,275
2027 226,705 226,705
2028 231,216 231,216
Thereafter 117,709 117,710
Total future minimum lease payments $ 1,015,830 $ 1,213,351
Less: Imputed interest 140,996 205,358
Operating lease liabilities $ 874,834 $ 1,007,993
Less: Current portion 161,952 132,546
Non-current portion of lease liabilities $ 712,882 $ 875,447

Note 12. Revenue
Disaggregated revenue
Revenue by type are as follows:

Year ended December 31

2024 2023
Account fee income $ 6,447,201 $ 8,614,945
Investment income 2,092,863 5,844,836
Loan interest income 6,625,576 2,972,434
Safe Harbor Program income 76,920 130,688
Total Revenue S 15,242,560 $ 17,562,903
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Account fee income is generated from businesses maintaining accounts with the Company’s financial institution partners and includes deposit account fees, account activity fees, and onboarding income. These fees
are recognized periodically in accordance with the fee schedule established with financial institution partners. The Company also earns income from outsourced support services provided to financial institutions
offering banking solutions to the cannabis industry, with revenue recognized based on usage as specified in the agreements.

Loan interest income consists of interest earned on both direct and indemnified loans under the PCCU CAA. The Company utilizes a fixed percentage fee structure, under which financial institutions receive a share
of interest income from CRB-related loans.

Investment income is derived from interest earned on the daily deposit balances of cannabis businesses held with the Company’s financial institution partners and is recognized monthly based on the average net
daily deposit balance.

The Safe Harbor Program provides financial institutions with a non-exclusive, non-transferable right to implement and utilize the documented process for managing compliance requirements.

Revenue from account fee income, loan interest income, and investment income is recognized at a point in time, while revenue from Safe Harbor Program income is recognized over time. Payments for all revenue
streams, except for Safe Harbor Program income, are collected on a monthly basis. Under the Safe Harbor Program, any difference between amounts collected and revenue recognized as of the reporting date is
recorded as contract assets and contract liabilities. Refunds are applicable only to account fees collected from customers and are granted as part of the ongoing business relationship with the customer.

Under the Company’s PCCU CAA, the Company is obligated to remit as a fee, 25% investment hosting fees to PCCU based on income which is classified as “General and Administrative Expenses” in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations. During the year ended December 31, 2024, PCCU’s contributions to the Company’s revenues included $4,565,545 from deposits, activities, and client onboarding,
$1,903,422 from investment income, and $6,254,175 from loan interest income. The associated expenses for these revenues were $452,371 for account hosting, $457,105 for investment hosting fees, and $143,217
for loan servicing fees, all in accordance with the PCCU CAA, classified as “General and Administrative Expenses” in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. During the year ended December 31, 2023,
PCCU?’s contributions to the Company’s revenues included $5,150,397 from deposits, activities, and client onboarding, $5,803,114 from investment income, and $2,883,192 from loan interest income. The related
expenses for these revenue streams were $529,209 for account hosting, $1,445,517 for investment hosting fees, and $81,577 for loan servicing fees, all in compliance with the Loan Servicing Agreement, classified
as “General and Administrative Expenses” in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
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Note 13. Commitments and Contingencies
Contractual Commitments

In connection with the issuance of Class A Common Stock to Abaca shareholders, the Company commits to registering the stock upon the exercise of Abaca Warrants if required by law or regulation to ensure the
shares can be sold without restrictive legends, known as the “Warrant Registration Requirement”. Should this requirement arise, the Company is obliged to file a registration statement with the SEC within 45
calendar days of notification of the Warrant Registration Requirement. The failure to file within this timeframe constitutes an event of default. Moreover, the Company is dedicated to making the registration
statement effective as promptly as possible and maintaining its effectiveness, along with a current prospectus, until the Warrants expire according to this Agreement’s terms. In the event a registration statement
triggered by a Warrant Registration Requirement is not declared effective by the SEC within one year from its filing date, Warrant holders are entitled to exercise their Warrants on a cashless basis from the 366th
day post-filing until the statement becomes effective.

NASDAQ Listing Compliance

e  On April 8, 2024, the Company received a notification letter from the listing qualifications department staff of Nasdaq (the “Staff”) notifying the Company that for the last 30 consecutive business days, the
Company did not maintain a minimum closing bid price of $1.00 per share for its common stock, and thus, the Company no longer met Nasdaq’s minimum bid price requirement for continued listing on The
Nasdaq Capital Market under Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 5550(a)(2), requiring a minimum bid price of $1.00 per share (the “Minimum Bid Price Requirement”).

On October 3, 2024, the Company received notice from the Staff advising that the Staff determined the Company is eligible for an additional 180 calendar day period, or until March 31, 2025, to regain
compliance with the Minimum Bid Price Requirement based on the Company meeting the continued listing requirement for market value of publicly held shares and all other applicable requirements for initial
listing on The Nasdaq Capital Market with the exception of the bid price requirement, and the Company’s written notice of its intention to cure the deficiency during the second compliance period by effecting
a reverse stock split, if necessary.

If at any time before March 31, 2025, the bid price of our common stock closes at $1.00 per share or more for a minimum of 10 consecutive business days, the Staff will provide written confirmation that the
Company has achieved compliance. If the Company does not regain compliance with the Minimum Bid Price Requirement by the end of the second compliance period, our common stock will become subject
to delisting. In the event that the Company receives notice that our common stock is being delisted, the Nasdaq listing rules permit the Company to appeal a delisting determination by the Staff to a hearings
panel.

In an effort to comply with the $1.00 Minimum Bid Requirement, on March 4, 2025, we filed an amendment to our Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation with the Secretary of State of the
State of Delaware to effect a reverse split of our issued and outstanding Class A Common Stock at a ratio of one for twenty.

On April 7, 2025, the Company was informed by the staff that they had determined the minimum closing bid price for the Company’s Class A common stock was at least $1.00 per share for 10 consecutive
business days, from March 24, 2025, to April 4, 2025.

Accordingly, the Staff has determined that the Company has regained compliance with Minimum Bid Price Requirement, and, as such, the Staff has indicated that the matter of the Company’s compliance with
Minimum Bid Price Requirement is now closed.

e  On April 7, 2025, the Company received a notice from Nasdaq indicating that it no longer meets the continued listing requirements for the Nasdaq Capital Market. Specifically, the Company’s stockholders’
equity as of December 31, 2024, was a deficit of $12,288,014, which is below the minimum required stockholders' equity of $2.5 million as stipulated by Nasdaq’s Listing Rule 5550(b)(1). As a result, the
Company does not comply with the Nasdaq Capital Market continued listing standards. Furthermore, the Company does not meet the alternative criteria for continued listing, which are based on the market
value of listed securities or net income from continuing operations.

The Company has been granted 45 calendar days, until May 22, 2025, to submit a plan to regain compliance with Nasdaq’s listing requirements. If the plan is accepted, Nasdaq may grant an extension of up to
180 calendar days from the date of this letter for the Company to meet the continued listing standards. The Company intends to timely submit a Compliance Plan to Nasdaq to regain compliance with the
Shareholders” Equity Requirement. There can be no assurance that Nasdaq will accept the Company’s plan or that the Company will be able to regain compliance with Listing Rule 5550(b)(1) or maintain
compliance with any other Nasdaq requirement in the future.

Legal and Related Matters

The Company is involved in, or has been involved in, arbitrations or various other legal proceedings that arise from the normal course of its business. The ultimate outcome of any litigation is uncertain, and either
unfavorable or favorable outcomes could have a material impact on the Company’s results of operations, balance sheets and cash flows due to defense costs, and divert management resources. The Company cannot
predict the timing or outcome of these claims and other proceedings. With respect to the cases, described below, we evaluate the associated developments on a regular basis and accrue a liability when we believe a
loss is probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated.

Abaca legal case in Denver

On October 17, 2024, the Company caused a Complaint to be filed in the District Court for the City and County of Denver, Colorado, captioned SHF Holdings, Inc. v. Daniel Roda, Gregory W. Ellis, and James R.
Carroll, Case No. 2024CV33187 (Denver County District Court). On November 21, 2024, in connection with the Company’s request, the Company caused the Merger Payment to be deposited into the Denver
County District Court’s registry so that it can be distributed in accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement. The Merger Payment has already been accounted for in the working capital deficit disclosed in
the Liquidity and Going Concern section. On December 19, 2024, Daniel Roda, Gregory W. Ellis, and James R. Carroll caused an answer and counterclaim to be filed in response to the Company Complaint. For
additional details, please refer to the section titled “Abaca legal case in Denver” in the Recent Updates above as well as the Company’s Current Reports on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 18, 2024 and
December 19, 2024.

Given the uncertainty of legal proceedings, the Company will continue to monitor the litigation and assess any potential financial impact in accordance with ASC 450, Contingencies. At this time, no loss
contingency has been recorded, as the potential impact cannot be reasonably estimated.
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Note 14. Earnings Per Share

Basic net income (loss) per common share is calculated by dividing the net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period,
without consideration for potentially dilutive securities. Diluted net income (loss) per share is computed by dividing the net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders by the weighted average number of
common shares and potentially dilutive securities outstanding for the period. For the Company’s diluted earnings per share calculation, the Company uses the “if-converted” method for preferred stock and
convertible debt and the “treasury stock” method for Warrants and Options.

For year Ended December 31 2024 2023

Net loss $ (48,319.475)  $ (17,279,847)
Weighted average shares outstanding — basic 2,772,867 2,128,728
Basic net loss per share $ (1743) $ (8.12)
Weighted average shares outstanding — diluted 2,772,867 2,128,728
Diluted net loss per share $ (1743) $ (8.12)
Weighted average shares calculation — basic December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Company public shares 196,330 196,330
Company initial stockholders 170,159 170,159
PCCU stockholders 1,129,307 998,896
Issuance of Equity for Marketing Services 3,939 -
Shares issued for Abaca acquisition 396,790 157,762
Restricted stock units issued 65,404 49,980
Conversion of Preferred stock 810,938 555,601
Grand total 2,772,867 2,128,728

Certain share-based equity awards and warrants were excluded from the computation of dilutive earnings/ (loss) per share because inclusion of these awards would have had an anti-dilutive effect. The following
table reflects the awards excluded.

For year Ended December 31 2024 2023

Warrants 601,829 639,329
Share based payments 113,673 132,164
Shares to be issued to Abaca shareholders 37,500 37,500
Conversion of preferred stock 4,440 44,040
Grand total 757,442 853,033

The holders of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive, and the Company shall pay, dividends on shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock equal (on an as-if-converted-to-Class-A-
Common-Stock basis) to and in the same form as dividends actually paid on shares of the Class A Common Stock when, as and if such dividends are paid on shares of the Class A Common Stock. No other
dividends shall be paid on shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock.

Note 15. Forward Purchase Agreement

On June 16, 2022, the Company entered into a Forward Purchase Agreement (“FPA”) with Midtown East Management NL, LLC (“Midtown East”), which subsequently assigned obligations to purchase 83,334
shares of Class A Common Stock each to Verdun Investments LLC (“Verdun”) and Vellar Opportunity Fund SPV LLC — Series 1 (“Vellar”) through assignment and novation agreements. The collective acquisition
involved 0.19 million shares of Class A Common Stock, with Midtown East, Verdun, and Vellar waiving their redemption rights. The Company incurred costs totaling $39.6 million, comprising $39.3 million for
the shares and an additional $0.3 million in related expenses post-closing.

At the maturity of the FPA holders, the parties will receive the value of their shares multiplied by the Forward Price. The Forward Price is the Redemption Price, as defined in Section 9.2(a) of the Counterparty’s
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, filed by the Counterparty with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on June 21, 2021. The FPA holders will also receive an additional amount in cash
or shares, at the Company’s discretion.

An early termination clause allows for the shares to be sold on the open market, with any proceeds exceeding the Reset Price retained by the sellers. The Reset Price is initially the Redemption Price. The Reset
Price shall be adjusted on the first Scheduled Trading Day of each month, commencing on the first calendar month following the closing of the Business Combination, to be the lowest of (a) the then-current Reset
Price, (b) $200.00, and (c) the VWAP Price of the last ten (10) Scheduled Trading Days of the prior calendar month, but not lower than $100.00. However, if the Counterparty offers and sells Shares in a follow-on
offering or series of related offerings at a price lower than, or upon any conversion or exchange price of currently outstanding or future issuances of any securities convertible or exchangeable for Shares being
equal to a price lower than, the then-current Reset Price (the “Offering Price”), the Reset Price shall be further reduced to equal the Offering Price.
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Following a price reset in 2022 to $25 per share, the FPA receivable was reduced from $37.9 million to $4.6 million. As of December 31, 2024, there have been no transactions by the FPA holders, and the value of
the FPA receivable has remained unchanged. The reconciliation statement of the Class A Common Stock held by the parties is as follows:

Shares sold during

As of the year ended As of
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 December 31, 2024
Opening Rest
Name of the Shares Shares Shares price Amount
S.no party (a) Amount (b) Amount (c=a-b) (iii) (c x iii)
1 Vellar 48,560  $ 1,214,005 -8 - 48,560 25 1,214,005
2 Midtown East 75,896 1,897,405 - - 75,896 25 1,897,405
3 Verdun 58,912 1,472,811 - - 58,912 25 1,472,811
Grand total 183,368  §$ 4,584,221 - 8 - 183,368 25 4,584,221

Note 16. Warrant Liabilities

Public and Private Placement Warrants

As of December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023, the Company has 287,500 Public warrants and 13,205 Private Placement Warrants.

The Public and Private Placement Warrants may only be exercised for a whole number of Class A Common Stock.

The Public and Private Placement Warrants became exercisable on September 28, 2022, the date of the Business Combination and will expire on September 28, 2027, or earlier upon redemption or liquidation.

No warrant will be exercisable for cash or on a cashless basis, and the Company will not be obligated to issue any shares to holders seeking to exercise their warrants, unless the issuance of the shares upon such
exercise is registered or qualified under the securities laws of the state of the exercising holder, or an exemption from registration is available.

Redemption of warrants become exercisable when the price per share of Class A Common Stock equals or exceeds $360.00. Once the warrants become exercisable, the Company may redeem the warrants:

in whole and not in part;

at a price of $0.01 per warrant;

upon not less than 30 days’ prior written notice of redemption to each warrant holder; and

if, and only if, the reported last sale price of the Class A Common Stock equals or exceeds $360.00 per share (as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, reorganizations, recapitalizations and the like and
certain issuances of Class A Common Stock and equity-linked securities) for any 20 trading days within a 30-trading day period commencing no earlier than the date the warrants become exercisable and
ending on the third business day before the date on which the Company sends the notice of redemption to the warrant holders.

If and when the warrants become redeemable by the Company, the Company may exercise its redemption rights; this is also the case if the Company is unable to register or qualify the underlying securities for sale
under all applicable state securities laws.

If the Company calls the warrants for redemption, management will have the option to require all holders that wish to exercise the Warrants to do so on a “cashless basis,” as described in the warrant agreement.
The exercise price and number of shares of Class A Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the warrants may be adjusted in certain circumstances including in the event of a stock dividend, or recapitalization,
reorganization, merger or consolidation. However, the warrants will not be adjusted for issuance of Class A Common Stock at a price below its exercise price. Additionally, in no event will the Company be
required to net cash settle the warrants.
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The private placement warrants are identical to the public warrants, except that the private placement warrants and the Class A Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of the private placement warrants were not
transferable, assignable or saleable, subject to certain limited exceptions. Additionally, the private placement warrants are exercisable on a cashless basis and non-redeemable so long as they are held by the initial
purchasers or their permitted transferees. If the private placement warrants are held by someone other than the initial purchasers or their permitted transferees, the private placement warrants will be redeemable by
the Company and exercisable by such holders on the same basis as the public warrants.

PIPE Warrants

As of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the Company had 51,125 PIPE Warrants, as referenced in Exhibit 4.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on October 4, 2022.

The PIPE Warrants have an adjusted exercise price of $100.00 per share of Class A Common Stock to be paid in cash except if the shares underlying the warrants are not covered by an effective registration
statement after the six-month anniversary of the closing date, in which case cashless exercise is permitted. The PIPE Warrants are also subject to adjustment for other customary adjustments for stock dividends,
stock splits and similar corporate actions. The PIPE Warrants are exercisable for a period of five years following the Closing, or September 28, 2027. After exercise of a PIPE Warrant, the Company may be
required to pay certain penalties if it fails to deliver the Class A Common Stock within a specified period of time.

Abaca Warrants

As of December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023, the Company issued 250,000 Abaca warrants, as referenced in Exhibit 2.2 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on October 27,
2023.

The 250,000 Abaca warrants have an exercise price of $40.00 per share of Class A Common Stock to be paid in cash. An Abaca Warrant may be exercised only during the period commencing 1 year of the
Effective Date and terminating five (5) years from the effective date of the registration statement. The Company may, in its sole discretion, settle the Abaca Warrant when exercised, in whole or in part, in cash in
lieu of issuing shares of common stock underlying the Warrant. The Company may elect to pay the Registered Holder in cash in the amount equal to the difference between the fair market value of the Company’s
Class A Common Stock on the date of exercise and the warrant price $40.00 multiplied by the number of shares of Class A Common Stock. The Company commits to promptly registering shares of Class A
Common Stock issued upon Abaca Warrant exercises if required by law, ensuring these shares can be sold without restrictions. This registration must be filed within 45 days of receiving a notification of such a
requirement, with failure to do so constituting a default. The Company will endeavor to keep the registration effective until the Warrants expire. If the registration is not effective within one year, Abaca Warrant
holders may exercise their Warrants on a cashless basis, receiving shares based on a defined fair market value calculation. This process aims to facilitate the straightforward and lawful exercise of the Abaca
Warrants, ensuring the shares issued are readily tradable without the need for restrictive legends.

Note 17. Financial Instruments

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants. The fair value hierarchy ranks the inputs used in
measuring fair value as follows:

o Level 1 — Observable, unadjusted quoted prices in active markets
o Level 2 — Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are directly or indirectly observable for the asset or liability
o Level 3 — Unobservable inputs with little or no market activity that require the Company to use reasonable inputs and assumptions
The Company uses fair value measurements to record adjustments to certain financial assets and liabilities on a recurring basis. The Company may be required to record certain assets at fair value on a nonrecurring
basis in specific circumstances, such as evidence of impairment. Methodologies used to determine fair value might be highly subjective and judgmental in nature; therefore, valuations may not be precise. If the
Company determines that a valuation technique change is necessary, the change is assumed to have occurred at the end of the respective reporting period.
Assets and Liabilities Reported at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis
Public Warrants:
Public warrants are recorded at fair value on a recurring basis. The Company obtains exchange traded price, of Level 1 inputs, based on observable data to value these warrants.
Private Placement Warrants:

Private Placement Warrants are recorded at fair value on a recurring basis based upon an internal Company assessed value of these derivatives with Level 3 inputs, which are derived from the Black-Scholes model.
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PIPE Warrants:

PIPE Warrants are recorded at fair value on a recurring basis based upon an internal Company assessed value of these derivatives with Level 3 inputs, which are derived from the Black-Scholes model.
Abaca Warrants:

Abaca Warrants are recorded at fair value on a recurring basis. The Company assessed the value of these derivatives with Level 3 inputs. Level 3 inputs, based on unobservable data derived from the Black-Scholes
model.

Third anniversary payment consideration:

Third anniversary payment consideration are recorded at fair value on a recurring basis. The Company values these derivatives based on third party reports for Level 3 inputs. Level 3 inputs are based on
unobservable data The Company values these derivatives based on third party reports for Level 3 inputs. Level 3 inputs are based on unobservable data derived from the Monte Carlo Simulation model for 2024
and for 2023 the Black Scholes-Merton model.

Forward purchase option derivatives:

Forward purchase option derivatives are recorded at fair value on a recurring basis. In 2022, the Company values these derivatives based on third party reports for Level 3 inputs. In 2023 and 2024, no significant
risk factors, such as volatility, expected term, reset price, or changes, were observed to affect the values of forward purchase option derivatives.

The following tables summarize financial assets and liabilities recorded at fair value on a recurring basis, by the level of valuation inputs in the fair value hierarchy on December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023:

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Quoted Quoted
Prices in Prices in Significant Other
Active Significant Other Active Unobservable
Markets Unobservable Inputs Markets Inputs
Total Fair Value (Level 1) (Level 3) Total Fair Value (Level 1) (Level 3)

Description
Liabilities:
PIPE warrants $ 79,512 - 79512 § 273,124 - 273,124
Public warrants $ 246,445 246,445 - S 481,850 481,850 -
Private placement warrants $ 9,632 - 9,632 § 25,070 - 25,070
Abaca warrant $ 1,024,900 - 1,024,900 § 3,384,085 - 3,384,085
Forward purchase derivative liability $ 7,309,580 - 7,309,580 $ 7,309,580 - 7,309,580
Third anniversary payment consideration $ 322,000 - 322,000 $ 810,000 - 810,000

Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis

Assets that are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis primarily comprises of property, plant and equipment, right-to-use assets, finite lived intangible assets and goodwill. The Company does not record
these at fair value on a recurring basis, however, the carrying value of the assets may be reduced to fair value when the Company determines that impairment has occurred.

As of December 31, 2024, each of the Company’s finite-lived intangible assets were measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis as part of the annual impairment testing. To assess the fair value, the Company
utilized the Discounted Cash Flow (DCF) Method and the Guideline Public Company (GPC) Method, incorporating an equally weighted enterprise value derived from both methods. In contrast, as of December
31, 2023, the Company’s developed technology assets were measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis using the Relief from Royalty Method for the annual impairment test, providing an accurate reflection of
market conditions and asset performance. (Refer to note 4 - Goodwill and Finite-lived intangible assets).
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The following table presents the carrying amounts and fair values of financial instruments measured on a nonrecurring basis, by the level of valuation inputs in the fair value hierarchy, as of December 31, 2024,
and December 31, 2023:

As on December 31, 2024

Carrying
nt Fair value Fair value ement using
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets
Market related intangible assets - - - - -
Customer relationships - - o - -
Developed technology - - - - -
As on December 31, 2023
Carrying
nt Fair value Fair value ement using
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets
Developed Technology 3,599,754 3,599,754 - - 3,599,754

The following table provides quantitative information regarding Level 3 fair value measurements inputs as it relates to the finite lived intangible assets as of their measurement dates:

As on December 31, 2024 Factor
Discount rate 15.00%
Risk-free Rate 4.90%
Tax rate 26.00%
As on December 31, 2023 Developed technology
Royalty rate 6.50%
Discount rate 14.25%
Estimated useful life 5.87 years
Tax rate 25%

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company uses various methodologies and assumptions to estimate the fair value of certain financial instruments. With the exceptions of loans receivable, warrants and forward purchase option derivatives, the
Company considers the carrying amounts of its financial instruments (cash, accounts receivable and accounts payable) in the balance sheet to approximate fair value because of the short-term or highly liquid nature
of these financial instruments.

The following tables present the carrying amounts and fair values of financial instruments, by the level of valuation inputs in the fair value hierarchy, as of the dates indicated:

As on December 31, 2024

Carrying
amount Fair value Fair value measurement using
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,324,647 $ 2,324,647 $ 2,324,647 $ - $ -
Forward purchase receivables 4,584,221 4,584,221 4,584,221 - -
Loans 360,552 359,505 - - 359,505
Liabilities

Deferred consideration 3,016,343 3,016,343 3,016,343 - -
Senior Secured Promissory note 11,004,173 10,221,652 - - 10,221,652
Public warrants 246,445 246,445 246,445 - -
Private placement warrants 9,632 9,632 - - 9,632
PIPE Warrants 79,512 79,512 - - 79,512
Abaca Warrants 1,024,900 1,024,900 - - 1,024,900
Third anniversary payment consideration 322,000 322,000 - - 322,000
Forward purchase derivative 7,309,580 7,309,580 - - 7,309,580

As on December 31, 2023
Carrying
amount Fair value Fair value measurement using
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 4,888,769  § 4,888,769  $ 4,888,769  § -8 -
Forward purchase receivables 4,584,221 4,584,221 4,584,221 - -
Loans 330,579 363,561 - - 363,561
Liabilities

Deferred consideration 2,889,792 2,889,792 2,889,792 - -
Senior secured promissory note 14,011,166 12,750,204 - - 12,750,204
Public warrants 481,850 481,850 481,850 - -
Private placement warrants 25,070 25,070 - - 25,070
PIPE warrants 273,124 273,124 - - 273,124
Abaca warrants 3,384,085 3,384,085 - - 3,384,085
Forward purchase derivative 7,309,580 7,309,580 - - 7,309,580
Third anniversary payment consideration 810,000 810,000 - - 810,000
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The change in the assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis for which the Company has utilized Level 3 inputs to determine fair value are presented in the following table:

For the Year ended December 31, 2024

Private Third anniversary Forward
Abaca Placement payment Purchase
PIPE Warrants ‘Warrant ‘Warrants consideration Derivative
Balance at the beginning of the period $ 273,124 3,384,085 25,070 810,000 7,309,580
Fair value adjustment (193,612) (2,359,185) (15,438) (488,000) -
Balance at the end of the period $ 79,512 1,024,900 9,632 322,000 7,309,580

For the Year ended December 31, 2023

Private Third anniversary Forward
Abaca Placement payment Purchase
PIPE Warrants ‘Warrant ‘Warrants ideration Derivative
Balance at the beginning of the period $ 286,300 - 19,110 - 7,309,580
Issued to Abaca shareholders - 1,643,699 - 430,000 -
Fair value adjustment (13,176) 1,740,386 5,960 380,000 -
Balance at the end of the period $ 273,124 3,384,085 25,070 810,000 7,309,580

As of December 31, 2024 and on December 31, 2023, the valuation of Private Placement Warrants, PIPE warrants, and Abaca warrants was carried out using the Black-Scholes model, while the fair value of the
Abaca third anniversary payment consideration was determined using the Black Scholes Merton Option pricing model. As of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, these warrants were valued using Level 3
inputs.

As of December 31, 2024, the Company assessed the fair value of its Forward Purchase Agreement (FPA) derivative utilizing a Monte Carlo Simulation within a risk-neutral setting, which is a particular instance
of the Income Approach, based on calculations from December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2023. Throughout the periods ended December 31, of 2023 and 2024, there were no notable alterations in risk factors
such as volatility, expected term and reset price that would impact the valuation of the FPA derivative. Consequently, management retained the December 31, 2022, valuation for December 31, 2023 and December
31, 2024. The Company will continue to monitor the fair value of the forward option derivative each reporting period with subsequent revisions to be recorded in the Statements of Operations.

During the fiscal years 2023 and 2024, there were no changes in the classification of financial instruments within Level 2 and Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

The following table provides quantitative information regarding Level 3 fair value measurements inputs as it relates to the private placement warrants and public warrants as of their measurement dates:

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Third Third
Anniversary Anniversary
PIPE Private Payment Abaca PIPE Private Payment Abaca
Warrants Warrants Consideration Warrants ‘Warrants ‘Warrants Consideration ‘Warrants
Exercise price $ 100.00 230.00 - 40.00 § 100.00 230.00 - 40.00
Share Price $ 9.00 9.00 9.00 9.00 § 28.40 28.40 28.40 28.40
Expected term (years) 2.74 2.74 0.76 3.84 3.74 3.74 1.76 4.84
Volatility 103.00% 103.00% 103.00% 103.00% 62.95% 62.95% 62.95% 62.95%
Risk-free rate 4.26% 4.26% 4.26% 4.33% 4.25% 4.25% 4.25% 4.25%

F-35




Table of Contents

The following table provides quantitative information regarding Level 3 fair value measurements inputs as it relates to the forward purchase derivatives as of their measurement dates on December 31, 2024 and

December 31, 2023:

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Reset Price $ 2500 $ 25.00
Expected term (years) 0.74 1.74
Additional Maturity Consideration per share $ 40.00 $ 40.00
Volatility 46% 46%
Risk-free rate 4.2% 4.2%
Risk-adjusted discount rate 13.4% 13.4%
Note 18. Tax
The major components of income tax expense (benefit) for the years ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023:
For year ended December 31, 2023
Current income tax:
Current tax on profits $ 30,665 $ -
Deferred tax:
Deferred taxation - current year $ 43,829,019 $ (1,829,701)
Income tax expense (benefit) $ 43,859,686  $ (1,829,701)

A reconciliation follows between tax expense (benefit) and the product of accounting loss multiplied by the United States domestic tax rate for the years ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023:

For year ended December 31,

2023

Accounting loss before tax from continuing operations

Accounting loss before income tax

At federal statutory income tax rate of 21%

State income tax benefit, net of federal benefit

Permanent differences, net

Valuation allowance charges affecting the provision for income taxes
Other

Total

Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities

(4,459,789)  §

(19,109,548)

As of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the significant component of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities:

Deferred tax assets:
Loan loss reserve
Capital loss carryover
Stock option expense
Deferred revenue
Property plant and equipment’s
Transaction costs
Change in Forward Purchase Contract
Goodwill
NOL carryforward
Lease liabilities
Total deferred tax assets (A)
Deferred tax liabilities:
Right of use assets
Intangible assets
Total deferred tax liabilities (B)
Deferred tax assets (C=A-B)
Valuation allowance (D)
Deferred tax assets, net (C-D)

(4,459,789) (19,109,548)
(936,555) (4,013,005)
(8,418) (253,649)

583,678 2,207,439

44,277,923 -

(56,942) 229,514
43,859,686  $ (1,829,701)

December 31,
December 31, 2024 2023 Change

$ - 340,982 (340,982)
70,627 72,914 (2,287)
1,674,554 1,322,890 351,664
6,935 5,366 1,569
23,992 20,866 3,126)
942,062 1,014,922 (72,860)
8,155,953 8,155,953 -
28,404,108 30,631,880 (2,227,772)
5,030,672 3,210,838 1,819,834
214,125 246,716 (32,591)
44,523,028 45,023,327 (500,299)
(172,195) (210,460) 38,265

- (910,934) 910,934

(172,195) (1,121,394) 949,199
44,350,833 43,901,933 448,900
(44,350,833) (72,914) (44,277.919)
- 43,829,019 (43.829,019)
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Reconciliation of deferred tax asset, net:

Year on year change December 31, 2023
Opening balance $ 43,829,019 $ 51,593,302
Tax (expense)/ income during the period recognized in the statement of operations (43,829,019) 1,829,701
Acquisitions - (9,593,985)
Closing balance S - $ 43,829,019

The Company offsets tax assets and liabilities only if it has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income
taxes levied by the same tax authority. The Company does not consider their deferred tax assets to be realizable and has established full valuation allowance during the year ending December 31, 2024. The
Company has US federal tax loss carryovers totaling $20.4 million arising from 2020 through 2022 which have an unlimited carryover period. The Company has State of Colorado loss carryovers arising in 2022 of
$21.4 million which begin to expire in 2042. The Company currently has no tax examinations in progress. The Company has open years for examination from Federal and State of Arkansas for the years ending
December 31, 2020 and forward and from State of Colorado from December 31, 2021 and forward. The Company does not have any uncertain tax positions as of December 31, 2023.

Note 19. 401(k) Plan

The Company offers to all employees a tax-qualified retirement contribution plan, with the Company’s 100% matching contribution up to 4% of a participant’s eligible compensation. The Company’s consolidated
matching contributions for the year ended December 31, 2024, amounting to $119,942, and December 31, 2023, amounting to $62,785, respectively.

Note 20. Stockholders’ (Deficit) Equity

On January 28, 2025, the board of directors of the Company approved a reverse stock split of the Company’s Common Stock at a ratio of 1-for-20 shares, which reverse stock split became effective on March 14,
2025.

Preferred Stock

The Company is authorized to issue 1,250,000 shares of preferred stock, with a par value of $0.0001 per share, with such designation rights and preferences as may be determined from time to time by the
Company’s Board of Directors. As of December 31, 2024, there were 111 shares of Class A Preferred Stock issued and outstanding, and there were 1,101 shares of Class A Preferred Stock issued and outstanding
on December 31, 2023. The holders of preferred stock shall be entitled to receive, and the Company shall pay, dividends on shares of preferred stock equal (on an as-if-converted-to-Class-A-Common-Stock basis)
to and in the same form as dividends actually paid on shares of the Class A Common Stock when, as and if such dividends are paid on shares of the Class A Common Stock. No other dividends shall be paid on the
preferred stock. The terms of the preferred stock provide for an initial conversion price of $10.00 per share of Class A Common Stock, which conversion price is subject to downward adjustment on each of the
dates that are 10 days, 55 days, 100 days, 145 days and 190 days after the effectiveness of a registration statement registering the shares of Class A Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the preferred stock
to the lower of the Conversion Price and the greater of (i) 80% of the volume weighted average price of the Class A Common Stock for the prior five trading days and (ii) $50.00 (the “Floor Price”), provided that,
so long as a preferred stock holders continues to hold any preferred shares, such preferred stock holder will be entitled to receive the aggregate shares of Class A Common Stock that would be issuable based upon
its initial purchase of preferred stock at the adjusted Conversion Price. Additionally, on January 25, 2023, at a special meeting of the Company’s stockholders, the stockholders approved a reduction in the floor
conversion price of the outstanding preferred stock from $40.00 per share to $25.00 per share.

Common Stock

The Company is authorized to issue up to 130,000,000 shares of Class A Common Stock, with a par value of $.0001 per share. Holders of the Company’s Class A Common Stock are entitled to one vote for each
share. As of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, there were 2,783,667 and 2,728,169 shares of Class A Common Stock issued and outstanding, respectively. As of December 31, 2024 and December 31,
2023, 183,369 Class A Common Stock are held by the purchasers under Forward Purchase Agreement dated June 16, 2022, by and among the Company and such purchasers.

2022 Equity Incentive Plan

Share-based compensation expense recognized in the year ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 totaled $1,575,952 and $3,739,156, respectively.

The 2022 Equity Incentive Plan was approved by the Company’s stockholders on June 28, 2022. The 2022 Plan permits the grant of incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation rights,
restricted stock, restricted stock units, stock bonus awards, and performance compensation awards. The Company has not issued stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, stock bonus awards, or performance
compensation awards in the year ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023.

Stock Options

Stock options are awarded to encourage ownership of the Company’s Class A Common Stock by employees and to provide increased incentive for employees to render services and to exert maximum effort for the
success of the Company. The Company’s incentive stock options generally permit net-share settlement upon exercise. The option exercise price, vesting schedule and exercise period are determined for each grant

by the administrator (person appointed by board to administer the stock plans) of the applicable plan. The Company’s stock options generally have a 10-year contractual term.
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The assumptions used to determine the fair value of options granted in the year ended December 31, 2023, using the Black-Scholes-Merton model are as follows:

Dividend yield %
Risk-free interest rate 3.62t04.23%
Expected volatility (weighted-average and range, if applicable) 100%
Expected term 610 6.5 years

The expected term of the options granted is calculated based on the simplified method by taking average of contractual term and vesting period the awards. The shares and the redeemable warrants of the Company
were listed on the stock exchange for a limited period of the time and the share price has also dropped significantly from the date of listing. Based on these factors Management has considered the expected
volatility at 100% for the current period. The risk-free interest rate used is the current yield on U.S. Treasury notes with a term equal to the expected term of the options at the grant date. The expected dividend
yield is based on annualized dividends on the underlying share during the expected term of the option.

A summary of the Company’s stock option activities and related information for the year ended December 31, 2024 is as follows:

‘Weighted- ‘Weighted-
Average Grant Average
Date Fair Value Remaining
No. of Stock Per Stock Contractual Life
Stock Option Option Option (in Years)
January 01, 2024 114301  § 108.62 1.65
Granted - - -
Exercised - -
Expired - - -
Cancelled / Forfeited (9,211) (76.60) -
December 31, 2024 105,090 98.55 0.65
A summary of the Company’s stock option activities and related information for the year ended December 31, 2023 is as follows:
‘Weighted-
‘Weighted- Average
Average Grant Remaining
No. of Stock Date Fair Value Contractual Life
Stock Option Option Per Stock Option (in Years)
January 01, 2023 108,500  § 105.80 2.02
Granted 16,837  § 20.54 1.28
Exercised - - -
Expired - - -
Cancelled / Forfeited (11,036) (53.46) -
December 31, 2023 114,301 $ 108.62 1.65
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The following options were outstanding at their respective exercise price:

e

Exercise price options

December 31, 2024

December 31, 2023

$31.20 18,265 18,826
$51.60 17,500 17,500
$80.00 6,825 15,475
$133.40 62,500 62,500
Total 105,090 114,301
Restricted Stock Units (“RSUs”)
A summary of the Company’s RSU activities and related information for the year ended December 31, 2024 is as follows:
‘Weighted-
Average
‘Weighted- Remaining
Average Grant Contractual
Date Fair Value Life
Restricted Stock Units No. of RSU Per RSU (in Years)
January 01, 2024 16,175 26.20 2.00
Granted - - -
Vested (5,392) 26.20 -
Expired - -
Cancelled / Forfeited (2,200) 26.20 -
December 31, 2024 8,583 26.20 1.00
A summary of the Company’s RSU activities and related information for the year ended December 31, 2023 is as follows:
‘Weighted-
Average
‘Weighted- Remaining
Average Grant Contractual
Date Fair Value Life
Restricted Stock Units No. of RSU Per RSU (in Years)
January 01, 2023 - - ~
Granted 80,001 19.72 2.00
Vested (63,311) (18.02) -
Expired -
Cancelled / Forfeited (515) (26.20) -
December 31, 2023 16,175 26.20 2.00
The following RSU were outstanding at their respective vest price:
Vest price RSU outstanding December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
$26.20 8,583 16,175
Total 8,583 16,175
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Stock-Based Compensation to Vendor

On September 3, 2024, the Company issued 12,116 shares of common stock to Outside The Box Capital Inc. as compensation for marketing and distribution services under a Marketing Services Agreement. The
fair value of the common stock issued was determined based on the market price of the Company’s stock on the grant date, which was $12.38 per share, resulting in a total fair value of $150,000. The fair value of
the award is recorded as an expense under “General and administrative expenses” in the statement of operations, with the expense being recognized over the service period from September 4, 2024, to March 3,
2025, aligning with the period during which the services are rendered. In accordance with ASC 718, “Compensation—Stock Compensation,” as updated by ASU 2018-07, the stock award has been classified as
equity as it is settled through the issuance of common stock and does not contain any terms requiring cash settlement or other liabilities.

Note 21. Subsequent events

The Company has evaluated events and transactions subsequent to December 31, 2024 through the date the consolidated financial statements were issued. Except as disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements previously and items below, there are no other events to report:

e  Effective January 21, 2025, the Company appointed Terrance E. Mendez as Co-Chief Executive Officer (Co-CEO), alongside Sundie Seefried, whose title changed to Co-CEO. Mr. Mendez, age 49, has
extensive leadership experience in cannabis-related businesses and financial management roles. The Company entered into a three-year employment agreement with Mr. Mendez, providing an annual
salary of $360,000, eligibility for performance-based incentives, and stock options vesting over three years. The agreement includes a 10-month post-termination non-compete and non-solicitation clause.

e On January 28, 2025, Sundie Seefried informed the Board of Directors of the Company of her decision to resign as Co-Chief Executive Officer, effective February 28, 2025. Ms. Seefried will continue to
serve as a member of the Board. Her resignation was not due to any disagreement with the Company or concerns regarding its operations, policies, or practices. Upon her departure, Terrance E. Mendez
transitioned from Co-Chief Executive Officer to the sole Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

e On January 29, 2025, the Company and PCCU entered into a letter agreement to defer the principal payments on the Note for the months of February and March 2025 (the “Deferral Period”). The
Company will remain responsible for payment of interest during the Deferral Period and will extend the Note repayment period for an additional two months.

e On March 1, 2025, the Company and PCCU modified the PCCU Note. According to the terms of the Amended PCCU Note, the principal balance is $10,748,408, accruing interest at an annual rate of
4.25%. The Company will make interest-only payments until January 5, 2027, after which it will begin making both principal and interest payments until the maturity date on October 5, 2030. The
Amended PCCU Note also includes provisions for early repayment, along with prepayment fees, such as a yield maintenance fee in the case of prepayment or acceleration. Furthermore, the agreement
preserves PCCU’s first-priority security interest in the Company’s assets as outlined in the security agreement dated March 29, 2023. The Company executed the Amended PCCU Note to restructure its
financial obligations and extend the repayment timeline.

e On April 1, 2025, the Company received a letter from the Staff, indicating that the Company had not regained compliance with the Minimum Bid Price Requirement by March 31, 2025, and unless the
Company requests a hearing and appeals the determination by April 8, 2025, the Company’s class A common stock and warrants would be delisted from The Nasdaq Capital Market and that trading of the
Company’s securities will be suspended, effective at opening of business on April 10, 2025. Further, the Company was notified that on April 10, 2025, a Form 25-NSE will be filed with the SEC, which
will remove the Company’s securities from listing and registration on The Nasdaq Stock Market. On April 7, 2025, the Company was notified by the staff of The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC’s Listing
Qualifications Department that the Staff has determined that for 10 consecutive business days, from March 24, 2025 to April 4, 2025, the minimum closing bid price for the Company’s Class A common
stock was at least $1.00 per share or greater. Accordingly, the Staff has determined that the Company has regained compliance with Minimum Bid Price Requirement, and, as such, the Staff has indicated
that the matter of the Company’s compliance with Minimum Bid Price Requirement is now closed.

e On April 7, 2025, the Company received a letter from Nasdaq indicating that the Company was not in compliance with Nasdaq’s Listing Rule 5550(b)(1) because the Company’s shareholders’ equity for
the year ended December 31, 2024, as reported in the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K on April 1, 2025, was below the minimum shareholders’ equity requirement of $2,500,000 (the
“Shareholders” Equity Requirement”).

The Notice had no immediate effect on the Company’s continued listing on Nasdag, subject to the Company’s compliance with the other continued listing requirements. In accordance with Nasdaq rules,
the Company has been provided 45 calendar days, to submit a plan to regain compliance with the Shareholders’ Equity Requirement (the “Compliance Plan”). If the Compliance Plan is accepted, Nasdaq
may grant up to 180 calendar days from the date of the Notice for the Company to regain compliance with the Shareholders’ Equity Requirement.

The Company intends to timely submit a Compliance Plan to Nasdaq to regain compliance with the Shareholders’ Equity Requirement. There can be no assurance that Nasdaq will accept the Company’s
plan or that the Company will be able to regain compliance with Listing Rule 5550(b)(1) or maintain compliance with any other Nasdaq requirement in the future.
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Hén\E%Q\R Financial Policy on Insider Trading

1. Applicability

This Policy applies to all trading or other transactions in (i) the Company's securities, including common stock, options and
any other securities that the Company may issue, such as preferred stock, notes, bonds and convertible securities, as well
as to derivative securities relating to any of the Company’s securities, whether or not issued by the Company and (ii) the
securities of certain other companies, including common stock, options and other securities issued by those companies as
well as derivative securities relating to any of those companies’ securities.

This Policy applies to all employees of the Company, all officers of the Company, all members of the Company’s board of
directors, and family members of the foregoing.

2. General Policy: No Trading or Causing Trading While in Possession of Material Nonpublic Information

(a) No director, officer, employee, or any of their immediate family members may purchase or sell, or offer to
purchase or sell, any Company security, whether or not issued by the Company, while in possession of material
nonpublic information about the Company. (The terms "material” and “nonpublic” are defined in Part |, Section 3(a)
and (b} below.)

{b) No director, officer, employee, or any of their immediate family members who knows of any material nonpublic
information about the Company may communicate that information to (“tip”) any other person, including family
members and friends, or otherwise disclose such information without the Company’s authorization.

(¢) No director, officer, employee, or any of their inmediate family members may purchase or sell any security of
any other publicly-traded company while in possession of material nonpublic information that was obtained in the
course of his or her involvement with the Company. No director, officer, employee, or any of their immediate family
members who knows of any such material nonpublic information may communicate that information to, or tip, any
other person, including family members and friends, or otherwise disclose such information without the Company's
authorization,

(d) For compliance purposes, you should never trade, tip or recommend securities (or otherwise cause the
purchase or sale of securities) while in possession of information that you have reason to believe is material and
nonpublic unless you first consult with, and obtain the advance approval of, the Compliance Officer (which is
defined in Part I, Section 3(c) below).

(e) Covered Persons must “pre-clear” all frading in securities of the Company in accordance with the procedures set
forth in Part I, Section 3 below.

3. Definitions

(a) Material. Insider trading restrictions come into play only if the information you possess is "material.” Materiality,
however, involves a relatively low threshold. Information is generally regarded as “material” if it has market
significance, that is, if its public dissemination is likely to affect the market price of securities, or if it otherwise is
information that a reasonable investor would want to know before making an investment decision.

Information dealing with the following subjects is reasonably likely to be found material in particular situations:
(i) significant changes in the Company's prospects;
(ii) significant write-downs in assets or increases in reserves;
(iii} developments regarding significant litigation or government agency investigations;
{iv) liquidity problems;
{v) changes in eamings estimates or unusual gains or losses in major operations;
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Exhibit 19




{vi) major changes in the Company’s management or the board of directors;
{vii) changes in dividends;

(viii) extraordinary borrowings;

{ix) major changes in accounting methods or policies;

{x) award or loss of a significant contract;

{xi) cybersecurity risks and incidents, including vulnerabilities and breaches;
{xii) changes in debt ratings;

{xiii) proposals, plans or agreements, even if preliminary in nature, involving mergers, acquisitions,
divestitures, recapitalizations, strategic alliances, licensing arrangements, or purchases or sales of
substantial assets; and

{xiv) offerings of Company securities.

Material information is not limited to historical facts but may also include projections and forecasts. With respect to a
future event, such as a merger, acquisition or introduction of a new product, the point at which negotiations or
product development are determined to be material is determined by balancing the probability that the event will
occur against the magnitude of the effect the event would have on a company’s operations or stock price should it
occur. Thus, information concerning an event that would have a large effect on stock price, such as a merger, may
be material even if the possibility that the event will occur is relatively small. When in doubt about whether particular
nonpublic information is material, you should presume it is material. If you are unsure whether information is
material, you should either consult the Compliance Officer before making any decision to disclose such
information (other than to persons who need to know it) or to trade in or recommend securities to which
that information relates or assume that the information is material.

(b) Nonpublic. Insider trading prohibitions come info play only when you possess information that is material and
“nonpublic.” The fact that information has been disclosed to a few members of the public does not make it public for
insider trading purposes. To be “public” the information must have been disseminated in a manner designed to
reach investors generally, and the investors must be given the opportunity to absorb the information. Even after
public disclosure of information about the Company, and subject to other trading restrictions that may apply, you
must wait until no earlier than the close of business on the frading day after the information was publicly disclosed
before you can treat the information as public.

Nonpublic information may include:
(i) information available to a select group of analysts or brokers or institutional investors;
{ii} undisclosed facts that are the subject of rumors, even if the rumors are widely circulated; and

(i) information that has been entrusted to the Company on a confidential basis until a public
announcement of the information has been made and enough time has elapsed for the market to respond
to a public announcement of the information (normally two trading trading days).

As with questions of materiality, if you are not sure whether information is considered public, you should
either consult with the Compliance Officer or assume that the information is nonpublic and treat it as
confidential.

(c) Compliance Officer. The Company has appointed the Chief Legal Officer as the Compliance Officer for this
Policy. The duties of the Compliance Officer include, but are not limited to, the following:

(i) assisting with implementation and enforcement of this Policy;

(i) circulating this Policy to all employees and ensuring that this Policy is amended as necessary to remain
up-to-date with insider trading laws;




(iii) pre-clearing all trading in securities of the Company by Covered Persons in accordance with the
procedures set forth in Part I, Section 3 below; and

{iv) providing approval of any Rule 10b5-1 plans under Part II, Section 1(c) below and any prohibited
fransactions under Part I, Section 4 below.

{v) providing a reporting system with an effective whistleblower protection mechanism.

4. Exceptions
The frading restrictions of this Policy do not apply to the following:

(a) 401(k) Plan. Investing 401(k) plan contributions in a Company stock fund in accordance with the terms of the
Company’s 401(k) plan. However, any changes in your investment election regarding the Company’s stock are
subject to trading restrictions under this Policy.

(b) Options. Exercising stock options granted under the Company's stock option plan for cash or the delivery of
previously owned Company stock. However, the sale of any shares issued on the exercise of Company-granted
stock options and any cashless exercise of Company-granted stock options are subject to frading restrictions under
this Palicy.

5. Violations of Insider Trading Laws

Penalties for trading on or communicating material nonpublic information can be severe, both for individuals invelved in
such unlawful conduct and their employers and supervisors, and may include jail terms, criminal fines, civil penalties and
civil enforcement injunctions, and termination from employment with the Company. Given the severity of the potential
penalties, compliance with this Policy is absolutely mandatory.

(a) Legal Penalties. A person who violates insider trading laws by engaging in transactions in a company’s
securities when he or she has material nonpublic information can be sentenced to a substantial jail term and
required to pay a criminal penalty of several times the amount of profits gained or losses avoided.

In addition, a person who tips others may also be liable for transactions by the tippees to whom he or she has
disclosed material nonpublic information. Tippers can be subject to the same penalties and sanctions as the
tippees, and the SEC has imposed large penalties even when the tipper did not profit from the transaction.

The SEC can also seek substantial civil penalties from any person who, at the time of an insider trading violation,
“directly or indirectly controlled the person who committed such violation,” which would apply fo the Company
and/or management and supervisory personnel. These control persons may be held liable for up to the greater of
$1 million or three times the amount of the profits gained or losses avoided. Even for violations that result in a small
or no profit, the SEC can seek penalties from a company andfor its management and supervisory personnel as
control persons.

(b) Company-Imposed Penalties. Employees who violate this Policy may be subject to disciplinary action by the
Company, including dismissal for cause. Any exceptions to the Policy, if permitted, may only be granted by the
Compliance Officer and must be provided in writing before any activity contrary to the above requirements takes
place.

6. Inquiries
If you have any questions regarding any of the provisions of this Policy, please contact the Compliance Officer as follows:

Donnie Emmi

Chief Legal Officer
donnie@shfinancial.com
720-212-3412

PARTII




1. Blackout Periods

All Covered Persons are prohibited from trading in the Company's securities during blackout periods as defined below.

{a) Quarterly Blackout Periods. Trading in the Company’s securities is prohibited during the period beginning at
the close of the market on two weeks before the end of each fiscal quarter and ending at the close of business on
the second trading day following the date the Company's financial results are publicly disclosed and Form 10-Q or
Form 10-K is filed. During these periods, Covered Persons generally possess or are presumed to possess material
nonpublic information about the Company’s financial results.

{b) Other Blackout Periods. From time to time, other types of material nonpublic information regarding the
Company (such as negotiation of mergers, acquisitions or dispositions, investigation and assessment of
cybersecurify incidents or new product developments) may be pending and not be publicly disclosed. While such
material nonpublic information is pending, the Company may impose special blackout periods during which
Covered Persons are prohibited from trading in the Company's securities. If the Company imposes a special
blackout period, it will notify the Covered Persons affected.

(c) Exception. These trading restrictions do not apply to fransactions under a pre-existing written plan, contract,
instruction, or arrangement under Rule 10b5-1 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (an "Approved 10b5-1
Plan®) that:

(i) has been reviewed and approved at least one month in advance of any frades thereunder by the
Compliance Officer (or, if revised or amended, such revisions or amendments have been reviewed and
approved by the Compliance Officer at least one month in advance of any subsequent trades);

{ii) was entered into in good faith by the Covered Person at a time when the Covered Person was not in
possession of material nonpublic information about the Company; and

{iii) gives a third party the discretionary authority to execute such purchases and sales, outside the control
of the Covered Person, so long as such third party does not possess any material nonpublic information
about the Company; or explicitly specifies the security or securities to be purchased or sold, the number of
shares, the prices andfor dates of transactions, or other formula(s) describing such transactions.

2. Trading Window

Subject to confirmation and written approval from the Compliance Officer, Covered Persons are permitted fo trade in the
Company’s securities when no blackout period is in effect. Generally, this means that Covered Persons can trade during the
period beginning in-between the Blackout Periods described in Section 1, above. However, even during this trading window,
a Covered Person who is in possession of any material nonpublic information should not trade in the Company’s securities
until the information has been made publicly available or is no longer material. In addition, the Company may close this
trading window if a special blackout period under Part I, Section 1{b) above is imposed and will re-open the trading window

once the special blackout period has ended.
3. Pre-Clearance of Securities Transactions

(a) Because Company Insiders are likely to obtain material nonpublic information on a regular basis, the Company
requires all such persons to refrain from trading, even during a trading window under Part II, Section 2 above,
without first pre-clearing all transactions in the Company’s securities.

(b) Subject to the exemption in subsection {d) below, no Company Insider may, directly or indirectly, purchase or
sell {or otherwise make any transfer, gift, pledge or loan of) any Company security at any time without first obtaining
prior approval from the Compliance Officer. These procedures also apply to transactions by such person’s spouse,
other persons living in such person’s household and minor children and to transactions by entities over which such
person exercises control.

(¢) The Compliance Officer shall record the date each request is received and the date and time each request is
approved or disapproved. Unless revoked, a grant of permission will normally remain valid until the close of trading




two business days following the day on which it was granted. If the transaction does not occur during the two-day
period, pre-clearance of the transaction must be re-requested.

(d) Pre-clearance is not required for purchases and sales of securities under an Approved 10b5-1 Plan. With
respect fo any purchase or sale under an Approved 10b5-1 Plan, the third party effecting fransactions on behalf of
the Company Insider should be instructed to send duplicate confimations of all such transactions fo the
Compliance Officer.

4. Prohibited Transactions

(a) Company Insiders are prohibited from trading in the Company’s equity securities during a blackout period
imposed under an “individual account” reirement or pension plan of the Company, during which at least 50% of the
plan participants are unable to purchase, sell or otherwise acquire or transfer an interest in equity securities of the
Company, due to a temporary suspension of trading by the Company or the plan fiduciary.

(b) Covered Persons, including any person’s spouse, other persons living in such person's household and minor
children and entities over which such person exercises control, are prohibited from engaging in the following
fransactions in the Company’s securities unless advance approval is obtained from the Compliance Officer:

(i) Short-term trading. Company Insiders who purchase Company securities may not sell any Company
securities of the same class for at least six months after the purchase;

(i) Short sales. Company Insiders and Covered Persons may not sell the Company’s securities short;

(i) Options trading. Covered Persons may not buy or sell puts or calls or other derivative securities on the
Company’s securities;

(iv) Trading on margin or pledging. Covered Persons may not hold Company securities in a margin account
or pledge Company securities as collateral for a loan; and

(v) Hedging. Covered Persons may not enter info hedging or monetization transactions or similar
arrangements with respect to Company securities.

5. Acknowledgment and Certification
All Covered Persons are required to sign the attached acknowledgment and certification.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT AND CERTIFICATION

The undersigned does hereby acknowledge receipt of the Company’s Insider Trading Policy. The undersigned has read and
understands (or has had explained) such Policy and agrees to be governed by such Policy at all imes in connection with
the purchase and sale of securities and the confidentiality of nonpublic information.

Date:

(Signature)

{Please print name)
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Subsidiaries of SHF Holdings, Inc.

Name of Subsidiary Jurisdiction of Organization
SHF, LLC d/b/a Safe Harbor Financial Colorado

SHFxAbaca, LLC., d/b/a Abaca Delaware
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INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM’S CONSENT

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on form S-8 (File No. 333-276311) of our report dated April 10, 2025, relating to the consolidated financial statements of SHF Holdings,
Inc. and subsidiaries appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024.

/s/ Marcum LLP

Hartford, CT
April 10, 2025
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Terrance E. Mendez, certify that:

1. I'have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024 of SHF Holdings, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under
which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows
of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal
control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the
end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the
case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to
record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
Date: April 10, 2025 /s/ Terrance E. Mendez

Terrance E. Mendez
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, James H. Dennedy, certify that:

1. I'have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024 of SHF Holdings, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under
which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows
of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal
control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the
end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the
case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to
record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
Date: April 10, 2025 /s/ James H. Dennedy

James H. Dennedy
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)




Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of SHF Holdings, Inc. on Form 10-K for the annual period ended December 31, 2024, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the

“Report”), I, Terrance E. Mendez, Chief Executive Officer of SHF Holdings, Inc., certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my
knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Date: April 10, 2025 /s/ Terrance E. Mendez
Terrance E. Mendez

Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)




Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of SHF Holdings, Inc. on Form 10-K for the annual period ended December 31, 2024 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report™),
I, James H. Dennedy, Chief Financial Officer of SHF Holdings, Inc., certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Date: April 10, 2025 /s/ James H. Dennedy
James H. Dennedy

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)




UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K/A

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024 OR
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to

Commission File Number 001-40524

SHF Holdings, Inc.

(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in Its Charter)

Delaware 86-2409612
(State or other jurisdiction (LR.S. Employer
of incorporation or organization) Identification Number)

1526 Cole Blvd., Suite 250
Golden, Colorado 80401
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (303) 431-3435

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class Trading Symbol(s) Name of each exchange on which registered
Class A Common Stock, $0.0001 par value per share SHFS The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC
Redeemable Warrants, each whole warrant exercisable for one share of Class A SHFSW The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC

Common Stock at an exercise price of $230 per share
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes [I No
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act. Yes [ No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period
that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes X No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the
preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files). Yes Xl No [0

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of “large
accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company,” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer m] Accelerated filer O
Non-accelerated filer Smaller reporting company
Emerging growth company

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided
pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. [0

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its management’s assessment of the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting under Section 404(b) of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 U.S.C. 7262(b)) by the registered public accounting firm that prepared or issued its audit report. [

If securities are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act, indicate by check mark whether the financial statements of the registrant included in the filing reflect the correction of an error to previously issued
financial statements. O

Indicate by check mark whether any of those error corrections are restatements that required a recovery analysis of incentive-based compensation received by any of the registrant’s executive officers during the
relevant recovery period pursuant to §240.10D-1(b). O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes (I No

The aggregate market value of the Class A Common Stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant, based on the closing price of a share of the registrant’s Common Stock on June 30, 2024 as reported by The
Nasdaq Capital Market on such date, was approximately $29.71 million.

As of March 31, 2025, there were 2,784,458 shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock outstanding.
Note Regarding Reverse Stock Split

On March 4, 2025, we filed an amendment to our Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware to effect a reverse split of our issued and
outstanding Class A Common Stock at a ratio of one for twenty. All historical share and per share amounts reflected in this report have been adjusted to reflect the reverse stock split.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

None.




EXPLANATORY NOTE

SHF Holdings, Inc. (“SHF Holdings,” “Safe Harbor,” “we,” “us,” “our,” the “Company” and similar terms refer to the Company and, where appropriate, the Company’s subsidiaries, SHF, LLC and
SHFxAbaca) is filing this Amendment No. 1 on Form 10-K/A (this “Amendment”) to amend our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024, originally filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on April 10, 2025 (the “Original 10-K”) to (i) include the information required by Items 10 through 14 of Part III of Form 10-K and (ii) amend Item 15 of Part IV of the Original
10-K to update the exhibit list. This Amendment also amends and restates the cover page of the Original 10-K. The information required by Items 10 through 14 of Part III of Form 10-K was previously omitted
from the Original 10-K in reliance on General Instruction G(3) to Form 10-K, which permits the information in the above referenced items to be incorporated in the Form 10-K by reference from our definitive
proxy statement if such statement is filed no later than 120 days after our fiscal year-end. We are filing this Amendment to include Part III information in our Form 10-K because a definitive proxy statement
containing such information will not be filed by the Company within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by the Form 10-K.

In accordance with Rule 12b-15 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), Part IIL, Items 10 through 14 of the Original 10-K are hereby amended and restated in their
entirety. Additionally, in accordance with Rules 12b-15 and 13a-14 under the Exchange Act, we have amended Part IV, Item 15, including to include currently dated certifications pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Since no new financial statements have been included in this Amendment and this Amendment does not contain or amend any disclosure with respect to Items 307 and 308 of
Regulation S-K, paragraphs 3, 4, and 5 of the certifications have been omitted. Similarly, since no financial statements have been included in this Amendment, certifications pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 have been omitted.

Except for the changes to Part III and Item 15 of Part IV, including the filing of related certifications added to the exhibit list in Part IV, this Amendment makes no changes to the Original 10-K. This
Amendment does not reflect events occurring after the filing of the Original 10-K or modify disclosures affected by subsequent events. Terms used but not otherwise defined in this Amendment have such meaning
as ascribed to them in the Original 10-K.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.
Management and Board of Directors

Our directors and executive officers are as follows:
Name Age Position
Terrance E. Mendez 50 Chief Executive Officer
James H. Dennedy 59 Chief Financial Officer
Donnie Emmi 45 Chief Legal Officer
Sundie Seefried 63 Director
Douglas Fagan 60 Director
Jennifer Meyers 52 Director
Jonathan Summers 53 Independent Director
Karl Racine 62 Independent Director
Jonathon F. Niehaus 69 Independent Director
Richard Carleton 65 Independent Director
Directors

Sundie Seefried. Ms. Seefried served as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company from July 2021 until February 2025 and currently serves as a member of the Board of Directors, a position she has held since
April 2024. Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Seefried served as the Chief Executive Officer of Partner Colorado Credit Union (“PCCU”) from 2001 until June 2021 and as the Chief Executive Officer of Eagle
Legacy Services, LLC from January 2020 until March 2021. Ms. Seefried previously served as a board member of the Colorado Division of Financial Services from 2019 until 2021, and as a board member of the
Credit Union Association from 2007 until 2015. Ms. Seefried received her Bachelor of Science in Business Management from the University of Maryland and her Master of Business Administration in Finance
from Regis University, Colorado.
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Douglas Fagan. Mr. Fagan currently serves as a member of the Board of Directors, a position he has held since April 2023. Mr. Fagan serves as the President and CEO of PCCU, a position he has held since July
2021. Mr. Fagan previously held the position of President (April 2019 — June 2021) and Chief Financial Officer (September 2017 — June 2021) for PCCU from April 2019 through June 2021. Prior to joining
PCCU, Mr. Fagan served as Senior Vice President of Finance at the $7.5 billion MidFlorida Credit Union headquartered in Lakeland, Florida from October 2010 to September 2017. Mr. Fagan earned his Bachelors
of Science in Accounting and Finance from Florida Southern College (Lakeland, Florida) and his Masters in Business Administration from University of Tampa (Tampa, Florida).

Jonathon F. Niehaus. On September 28, 2022, Mr. Niehaus was appointed as a member of the Board of Directors in connection with the closing of the initial business combination. Mr. Niehaus currently serves as
the Managing Partner of Interactive Global Solutions, a global consulting company, a position he has held since January 2011. Mr. Nichaus previously served as a member of the board of managers of SHF, LLC d/
b/a Safe Harbor Financial (“SHF Predecessor”) from February 2022 until September 2022. From 2003 until 2011, Mr. Nichaus served as a Global SVP for First Data Corporation and the Western Union Company.
In this capacity, Mr. Niehaus was responsible international government relations and public affairs. In addition, he spearheaded outreach to US attorneys general in matters relating to compliance and anti-money
laundering activities. Mr. Niehaus was thereafter appointed to be a senior advisor to the Alliance Partnership, an international rule of law initiative run by the Attorney General Alliance. Mr. Nichaus is an active
board member, serving as the chair of the Farnsworth Group, a multi-state architecture and engineering firm and chair of the Make A Difference Foundation which focusses on green energy initiatives
internationally. He has also served as advisor to other private companies as well as serving 10 years on the board of the Colorado Great Outdoors Trust Fund. Mr. Niehaus received his Bachelor of Science in
Journalism Communications from the University of Iowa.

Jonathan Summers. Mr. Summers currently serves as a member of the Board of Directors, a position he has held since the Company’s inception, and is head of the Audit Committee. Mr. Summers is the Head of
Asset Management for ADGM, the fast-growing and award-winning Financial Freezone in Abu Dhabi, the UAE. Mr. Summers also serves as the chairman of Alicorn Venture Partners, a London-based Secondary-
focused venture capital fund, since official inception in December 2022. Previously he was the chairman of Deepself Ltd, a healthtec company employing artificial intelligence since January 2022. Prior to that Mr.
Summers served as the chairman of EXMceuticals Inc., a Canadian-listed medical cannabis company since May 2019. Mr. Summers also served as a director of Pathfinder Minerals Plc, a mineral exploration
company, since March 2021, and was a member of the Audit Committee thereof. He also served on the advisory board for Mocha Holdings LLC, a data privacy company, from September 2020 to March 2022.
From May 1996 until May 2011, Mr. Summers served in various roles at Goldman Sachs, most recently serving as a Managing Director. Mr. Summers served as the Founding Partner and the Head of Business
Development for Everett Capital Advisors, a $700.0 million London-based investment fund from October 2015 to October 2019, and served as the Founding Principal and Head of Business Development for
Myriad Asset Management, a $5.0 billion Hong Kong-based multi-strategy asset management firm, from September 2011 to December 2014. Mr. Summers holds a Master in Modern History (1st class) from
Oxford University.

Karl Racine. Mr. Racine currently serves as a member of the Board of Directors, a position that became effective in January 2023. He Chairs the Board’s Nomination and Governance Committee. Mr. Racine is a
Partner at Hogan Lovells LLP, where he Chairs the firm’s State Attorney General Practice and leads the U.S. ESG practice. He is also a Board Member of DXC Technology and has been since January 2023. Mr.
Racine previously served as the elected Attorney General of the District of Columbia, a position he held from January 2015 until January 2023. Mr. Racine also served as the Co-Chair of the Conference of Western
Attorneys General Alliance, a position he held from July 2017 until January 2023. Mr. Racine also served as a board member of the National Association of Attorneys General Mission Foundation, a position he
held from July 2018 until January 2023. Previously, Mr. Racine was elected as the President of the National Association of Attorneys General from December 2020 until December 2021 and as the Chair of the
Advisory Board Fair and Just Prosecution from January 2018 until February 2022. Mr. Racine received his Bachelor of Arts from the University of Pennsylvania and his Juris Doctor from the University of
Virginia School of Law.

Jennifer Meyers. On September 28, 2022, Ms. Meyers was appointed as a member of the Board of Directors in connection with the closing of our initial business combination. In addition to serving as a member
of the Board of Directors, Ms. Meyers currently serves as the Chief Financial Officer of PCCU, a position she has held since October 2021. Ms. Meyers previously served as the Chief Financial Officer of Clean
Energy Credit Union from July 2020 until October 2021. Prior to joining Clean Energy Credit Union, Ms. Meyers served as a Finance Executive and Strategist for DaL and LLC, a credit union service
organization, from May 2019 until May 2020. Ms. Meyers also previously served as the Chief Financial Officer of Westerra Credit Union from April 2014 until February 2019. Ms. Meyers received her Bachelor
of Science in Accounting and her Master of Accountancy from the University of Denver. Ms. Meyers is a licensed CPA in the state of Colorado.
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Richard Carleton. On September 28, 2022, Mr. Carleton was appointed as a member of the Board of Directors in connection with the closing of our initial business combination. Mr. Carleton currently serves as
the Chief Executive Officer of the Canadian Securities Exchange, a position he has held since July 2011. Mr. Carleton also currently serves as a director of Tetra Trust, a licensed trust company, and of Blue Ocean
ATS, a U.S. registered alternative trading system, positions he has held since June 2021 and April 2021, respectively. Mr. Carleton previously served as a board member of the Empire Club of Canada and of the
Private Capital Markets Association of Canada, positions held from 2018 and 2017, respectively until stepping down in 2023. Mr. Carleton received his Bachelor of Arts in History from the University of Ottawa
and his LLB from the University of Toronto.

Executive Officers

Terrance E. Mendez. Mr. Mendez currently serves as the Chief Executive Officer for the Company, a position he has held since February 2025 after initially being appointed Co-Chief Financial Officer in January
2025. Before this role, Mr. Mendez served as the Chief Executive Officer of Amos Advisory Solutions (“AMOS”) from August 2016 to February 2025, a management and outsource consulting firm through which
he has held executive leadership roles in several cannabis and cannabis-related business. In connection with his employment with AMOS, Mr. Mendez served from November 2023 to present as the Chief Financial
Officer of 42 Degrees, a cannabis extractor and distributor. From February 2022 to February 2024 as the Chief Executive Officer of Devi Holdings, a vertically integrated multi-state cannabis operator. From
December 2019 to April 2021 as the Chief Executive Officer, of Dalwhinnie Enterprises, a single state vertical integrated cannabis operator. Mr. Mendez was employed from July 2017 to August 2019, as the Vice
President of Finance and Chief Accounting Officer by Hitachi Vantara, a subsidiary of Hitachi, Ltd. (OTCMKTS:HTHIY), a technology conglomerate. From March 2014 to November 2016, Mr. Mendez served as
Vice President and Chief Audit Executive by Arrow Electronics Inc. (NYSE:ARW), an electronics components manufacturer. From September 2011 to March 2014, Mr. Mendez was employed as Vice President of
FP&A and was a Segment Financial Controller by Broadridge Financial Solutions Inc. (NYSE:BR). Mr. Mendez spent 14 years in public accounting with Arthur Andersen & Co. and Deloitte Touche LLC. Mr.
Mendez is a Certified Public Accountant in the States of New York, New Jersey and Colorado and a Charted Global Management Accountant. He holds a Bachelor of Science in Economics from the University of
Pennsylvania’s Wharton School of Business.

James H. Dennedy. Mr. Dennedy currently serves as Chief Financial Officer for the Company, a position he has held since October 2022. Before this role, Mr. Dennedy most recently served in various positions
for urban-gro, Inc. a Nasdag-listed engineering design and services company focused on the commercial horticulture market, including as President and Chief Operating Officer from February 2021 to August
2022, and a board member from August 2018 to August 2022. Prior to that, from April 2018 to August 2019, he served as Chief Financial Officer of Interurban Capital Group, a privately held provider of site
development, lease management, branding, licensing and other consulting services, acquired in March 2020 by Harvest Health & Recreation Inc. From January 2017 to April 2018, he acted as an entrepreneur and
private investor; from May 2011 to January 2017 served as President, Chief Executive Officer, and a board member of Nasdaqg-listed hospitality software company, Agilysys Inc.; and from April 2008 to May 2011,
served as Chief Investment Officer of Arcadia Capital Advisors, a privately held capital management company. Mr. Dennedy earned his B.S. in Economics from the United States Air Force Academy, an MBA
from The Ohio State University, and an M.A. in Economics from the University of Colorado, Boulder, Colorado.

Donnie Emmi. Mr. Emmi currently serves as Chief Legal Officer and Board Secretary for the Company, a position he has held since September 2022. Before this role, Mr. Emmi was Managing Partner of
Hunsaker | Emmi, P.C., a position he held since December 2004. Mr. Emmi was a partner of Hoban Law Group, P.C. from September 2019 until July 2021 when it was merged with Clark Hill, PLC. Following the
merger, Mr. Emmi continues to serve in an of counsel capacity to Clark Hill, PLC. Mr. Emmi previously served as an officer and director of Test Kitchen, Inc., a product developer, from December 2020 until April
2021; and as a director of Pure Harvest Corporate Group, Inc. from December 2020 until December 2021. Mr. Emmi is also the former Chair of the National Cannabis Industry Association Banking and Financial
Services Committee 2020 (Vice Chair 2019). Mr. Emmi received his undergraduate degree from East Stroudsburg University of Pennsylvania and his Juris Doctor from the University of Denver Sturm College of
Law. Prior to practicing law, Mr. Emmi was a licensed Series 7 and 63 securities dealer and served in the United States Air Force from 1999 until 2007.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors consists of Mr. Summers, Mr. Niehaus, and Mr. Carleton. Under The Nasdaq Capital Market (“Nasdaq™) listing standards and applicable SEC rules, we are
required to have at least three members of the Audit Committee, all of whom must be independent. Mr. Summers, Mr. Niehaus, and Mr. Carleton each meet the independent director standard under Nasdaq listing
standards and under Rule 10A-3(b)(1) of the Exchange Act, and Mr. Summers serves as chairperson of the Audit Committee. Our Board of Directors has determined that Mr. Summers qualifies as an “audit
committee financial expert” as defined in applicable SEC rules.

We have adopted an Audit Committee charter, which details the principal functions of the Audit Committee, including:

e the appointment, compensation, retention, replacement, and oversight of the work of the independent registered public accounting firm engaged by us;

e pre-approving all audit and permitted non-audit services to be provided by the independent registered public accounting firm engaged by us, and establishing pre-approval policies and procedures;

e  setting clear hiring policies for employees or former employees of the independent registered public accounting firm, including but not limited to, as required by applicable laws and regulations;

e setting clear policies for audit partner rotation in compliance with applicable laws and regulations;

e obtaining and reviewing a report, at least annually, from the independent registered public accounting firm describing (i) the independent registered public accounting firm’s internal quality-control
procedures, (ii) any material issues raised by the most recent internal quality-control review, or peer review, of the audit firm, or by any inquiry or investigation by governmental or professional authorities
within the preceding five years respecting one or more independent audits carried out by the firm and any steps taken to deal with such issues, and (iii) all relationships between the independent registered
public accounting firm and us to assess the independent registered public accounting firm’s independence;

e reviewing and approving any related party transaction required to be disclosed pursuant to Item 404 of Regulation S-K promulgated by the SEC prior to us entering into such transaction; and

e reviewing with management, the independent registered public accounting firm, and our legal advisors, as appropriate, any legal, regulatory or compliance matters, including any correspondence with
regulators or government agencies and any employee complaints or published reports that raise material issues regarding our financial statements or accounting policies and any significant changes in

accounting standards or rules promulgated by the Financial Accounting Standards Board, the SEC or other regulatory authorities.

The Audit Committee has also established a procedure whereby complaints or concerns regarding accounting, internal controls or auditing matters may be submitted anonymously to the Audit Committee
by email.

Family Relationships
There are no family relationships among any of our executive officers, directors or persons nominated to serve as a director.
Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings
To our knowledge, none of our current directors or executive officers has, during the past ten years:
e been convicted in a criminal proceeding or been subject to a pending criminal proceeding (excluding traffic violations and other minor offenses);
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e had any bankruptcy petition filed by or against the business or property of the person, or of any partnership, corporation or business association of which he was a general partner or executive officer,
either at the time of the bankruptcy filing or within two years prior to that time;

e been subject to any order, judgment, or decree, not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated, of any court of competent jurisdiction or federal or state authority, permanently or temporarily enjoining,
barring, suspending or otherwise limiting, his involvement in any type of business, securities, futures, commodities, investment, banking, savings and loan, or insurance activities, or to be associated with
persons engaged in any such activity;

e been found by a court of competent jurisdiction in a civil action or by the SEC or the Commodity Futures Trading Commission to have violated a federal or state securities or commodities law, and the
judgment has not been reversed, suspended, or vacated;

e been the subject of, or a party to, any federal or state judicial or administrative order, judgment, decree, or finding, not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated (not including any settlement of a civil
proceeding among private litigants), relating to an alleged violation of any federal or state securities or commodities law or regulation, any law or regulation respecting financial institutions or insurance
companies including, but not limited to, a temporary or permanent injunction, order of disgorgement or restitution, civil money penalty or temporary or permanent cease-and-desist order, or removal or
prohibition order, or any law or regulation prohibiting mail or wire fraud or fraud in connection with any business entity; or

e been the subject of, or a party to, any sanction or order, not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated, of any self-regulatory organization (as defined in Section 3(a)(26) of the Exchange Act), any
registered entity (as defined in Section 1(a)(29) of the Commodity Exchange Act), or any equivalent exchange, association, entity or organization that has disciplinary authority over its members or
persons associated with a member.

Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires our directors, executive officers and holders of more than 10% of our common stock to file reports with the SEC regarding their ownership and changes in
ownership of our securities. Based solely on a review of the copies of the forms furnished or available to us, we believe that all filing requirements applicable to our officers, directors and 10% beneficial owners
were complied with during our fiscal year ended December 31, 2024, with the exception of one report covering one transaction that was filed late by Mr. Racine, a director, due to an inadvertent administrative
error.

Code of Ethics

We have adopted a Code of Ethics applicable to our directors, executive officers and employees that complies with the rules and regulations of Nasdaq. The Code of Ethics codifies the business and ethical
principles that govern all aspects of our business. We have previously filed a copy of our form Code of Ethics as Exhibit 14 to our registration statement on Form S-1 in connection with our IPO, filed on June 1,
2021. You may review this document by accessing our public filings at the SEC’s web site at www.sec.gov or on our investor relations website at https:/ir.shfinancial.org/. In addition, a copy of the Code of Ethics
will be provided without charge upon request to our Chief Legal Officer in writing at 1526 Cole Blvd., Suite 250, Golden, Colorado 80401 or by telephone at 720-507-3688. We intend to disclose any amendments
to or waivers of certain provisions of our Code of Ethics in a Current Report on Form 8-K.

Insider Trading Policy
The Company’s Insider Trading Policy governs the purchase, sale and other acquisitions and dispositions of the Company’s securities by the Company and all of its directors, officers and employees. This
policy is reasonably designed to promote compliance with insider trading laws, rules and regulations, and the Nasdaq listing standards. A copy of the Insider Trading Policy is filed as Exhibit 19 to the Original 10-

K.
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Shareholder Nominees

There have been no material changes to the procedures by which our security holders may recommend nominees to the Company’s Board of Directors since the filing of the definitive proxy statement for
the Company’s 2024 annual meeting of shareholders with the SEC on April 29, 2024.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

We qualify as a “smaller reporting company” under the rules promulgated by the SEC, and we have elected to comply with the disclosure requirements applicable to smaller reporting companies.
Accordingly, this executive compensation summary is not intended to meet the “Compensation Discussion and Analysis” disclosure required of larger reporting companies.

As a smaller reporting company, we are required to disclose the executive compensation of our named executive officers, which consist of the following individuals, for the fiscal years ended December
31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively: (i) any individual serving as our principal executive officer or acting in a similar capacity, during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024; (ii) the two other most
highly compensated executive officers of the Company serving as executive officers at the end of the most recently completed fiscal year; and (iii) up to two additional individuals for whom disclosure would have
been provided but for the fact that the individual was not serving as an executive officer at the end of the most recently completed fiscal year.
Summary Compensation Table

The following table discloses compensation paid or to be paid to our named executive officers for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023.

Non-Qualified

Stock Deferred All Other
Fiscal Salary Bonus Awards Comp ion Comy ion Total

Name and Principal Position Year ) ® O ® 8 ®

Sundie Seefried®), 2024 316,728 46,667 32,518 0 0 395,913
Former Chief Executive Officer 2023 342,885 66,767 181,664 — — 591,316
Donnie Emmi, 2024 331,508 38,000 26,459 0 0 395,967
Chief Legal Officer 2023 285,000 20,000 131,563 — — 436,563
James H. Dennedy, 2024 334,699 38,000 26,459 0 0 399,158
Chief Financial Officer 2023 285,000 20,000 131,563 — — 436,563
Terrence Mendez (), 2024 — — — — 72,827 72,827

Chief Executive Officer 2023 — _ _ . . .

(1) Amounts represent the aggregate grant date fair value of stock awards or option awards, as applicable, granted during the year measured pursuant to Financial Accounting Standard Board Accounting
Standards Codification Topic 718 (“Topic 718”), the basis for computing stock-based compensation in our financial statement.

(2) Ms. Seefried resigned as Chief Executive Officer on February 28, 2025.

(3) Prior to becoming the Chief Executive Officer on January 21, 2025, and for the year 2024, all income earned by Mr. Mendez was through his engagement as an independent contractor.
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Narrative Di re to S y C ion Table

P

Overview

The Company has developed an executive compensation program which is designed to align compensation with the Company’s business objectives and the creation of stockholder value, while enabling
the Company to attract, motivate and retain individuals who contribute to the long-term success of the Company.

Decisions on the executive compensation program, as described below, are determined and/or ratified by the Board of Directors with recommendations given by the Compensation Committee.

The decisions regarding executive compensation reflect our belief that the executive compensation program must be competitive in order to attract and retain our executive officers. The Compensation
Committee will seek to implement our compensation policies and philosophies by linking a significant portion of our executive officers’ cash compensation to performance objectives and by providing a portion of
their compensation as long-term incentive compensation in the form of equity awards.

The compensation for our executive officers has three primary components: base salary, an annual cash incentive bonus, and long-term incentive compensation in the form of equity awards.

Base Salary

The Company’s practice has been to ensure that base salary is fair to the executive officers, competitive within the industry and reasonable in light of the Company’s cost structure. The Compensation
Committee determines base salaries and manages the base salary review process, subject to existing employment agreements.

Annual Bonuses

The Company uses annual cash incentive bonuses for the executive officers to tie a portion of their compensation to financial and operational objectives achievable within the applicable fiscal year. The
Company expects that, near the beginning of each year, the Compensation Committee will select the performance targets, target amounts, target award opportunities and other term and conditions of annual cash
bonuses for the executive officers, subject to the terms of any employment agreement. Following the end of each year, the Compensation Committee will determine the extent to which the performance targets were
achieved and the amount of the award that is payable to the executive officers.
Equity Awards

The Company uses equity awards to reward long-term performance of the executive officers. The Company believes that providing a meaningful portion of the total compensation package in the form of
equity awards will align the incentives of its executive officers with the interests of its stockholders and serve to motivate and retain the individual executive officers. Equity awards are awarded under our Equity
Incentive Plan, which has been adopted by the Board of Directors.

In connection with the Company’s executive compensation program, the Company has granted equity awards to its executives.
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Other Compensation

The Company maintains various employee benefit plans, including medical, dental, life insurance and 401(k) plans, in which the executive officers participate.
Employment Agreements

Agreement with Ms. Seefried

On February 11, 2022, the Company entered into an executive employment agreement with Sundie Seefried which became effective September 28, 2022, pursuant to which Ms. Seefried serves as the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company. The executive employment agreement provides for an annual base salary of $350,000, an initial incentive equity grant of options exercisable for 550,000 shares of the
Company’s Class A common stock at $6.67 per share that will vest over two years and other customary benefits. The executive employment agreement, which is for a two-year term, also provides for severance in
the event of a termination by the Company without cause or by Ms. Seefried for good reason, of one year’s base salary. Ms. Seefried resigned as co-Chief Executive Officer of the Company effective on February
28, 2025. Ms. Seefried continues to be a member of the Board.

Agreement with Mr. Mendez

On January 21, 2025, the Company entered into an executive employment agreement with Mr. Mendez which became effective immediately, pursuant to which Mr. Mendez serves as the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company. The executive employment agreement provides for an annual base salary of $350,000, an initial incentive equity grant of options exercisable for 32,700 shares of the Company’s Class A
common stock at $7.79 per share that will vest over two years and other customary benefits. The executive employment agreement, which is for a two-year term, also provides for severance in the event of a

termination by the Company without cause or by Mr. Mendez for good reason, of one year’s base salary.

Agreement with Mr. Dennedy

On January 10, 2023, the Company entered into an executive employment agreement with James Dennedy, pursuant to which Mr. Dennedy serves as the Chief Financial Officer of the Company. The
executive employment agreement provides for an annual base salary of $285,000, an initial incentive equity grant of options exercisable for 350,000 shares of the Company’s Class A common stock at $6.67 per
share that will vest over two years and other customary benefits. The executive employment agreement, which is for a two-year term, also provides for severance in the event of a termination by the Company
without cause or by Mr. Dennedy for good reason, of one year’s base salary.
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On April 2, 2024, the Company entered into an amendment to its original agreement with Mr. Dennedy to facilitate business continuity and stagger contract expirations to accommodate the Company’s
public reporting schedule. The amendment to Mr. Dennedy’s executive employment extends the term of his employment to May 16, 2026. In addition, the amendment contains a provision that, effective April 1,
2024, deletes and replaces Section 4(b) of Mr. Dennedy’s original agreement such that all paid time off (“PTO”) that Mr. Dennedy accrued through March 31, 2024, but had not taken, shall be paid to him during
the month of April 2024. As a result, no PTO shall accrue or be paid out at the time of termination of Mr. Dennedy’s employment with the Company for any reason. The amendment also adds a provision that Mr.
Dennedy shall be entitled to receive supplemental severance in an amount equivalent to six months’ of his then-current base salary, provided that he executes a release of claims against the Company and its
affiliated entities, executives, and employees (including claims related to any non-compete and non-solicit covenants), for the six month period after the termination of his employment.

Agreement with Mr. Emmi

On January 10, 2023, the Company entered into an executive employment agreement with Donnie Emmi, pursuant to which Mr. Emmi serves as the Chief Legal Officer of the Company. The executive
employment agreement provides for an annual base salary of $285,000, an initial incentive equity grant of options exercisable for 350,000 shares of the Company’s Class A common stock at $6.67 per share that
will vest over two years and other customary benefits. The executive employment agreement, which is for a two-year term, also provides for severance in the event of a termination by the Company without cause
or by Mr. Emmi for good reason, of one year’s base salary.

On April 2, 2024, the Company entered into an amendment to its original agreement with Mr. Emmi to facilitate business continuity and stagger contract expirations to accommodate the Company’s public
reporting schedule. The amendment to Mr. Emmi’s executive employment agreement extends the term of his employment to August 22, 2026. In addition, the amendment contains a provision that, effective April
1, 2024, deletes and replaces Section 4(b) of Mr. Emmi’s original agreement such that all PTO that Mr. Emmi accrued through March 31, 2024, but had not taken, shall be paid to him during the month of April
2024. As a result, no PTO shall accrue or be paid out at the time of termination of Mr. Emmi’s employment with the Company for any reason. The amendment also adds a provision that Mr. Emmi shall be entitled
to receive supplemental severance in an amount equivalent to six months’ of his then-current base salary, provided that he executes a release of claims against the Company and its affiliated entities, executives, and
employees (including claims related to any non-compete and non-solicit covenants), for the six month period after the termination of his employment.

Director Compensation
The following table sets forth for the year ended December 31, 2024, certain information as to the total remuneration we paid to our non-employee directors.
In 2024, each director received a quarterly cash payment in the amount of $12,500, fees in the amount of $1,500 per committee meeting, and $2,000 per board meeting. In addition, the chair of the Audit

Committee received an annual retainer of $20,000; the chair of Compensation Committee received an annual retainer of $15,000; the chair of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee received an
annual retainer of $10,000; and the board chair received an additional $60,000. Ms. Seefried does not receive fees for her service as a member of the board of directors.

Fees Earned or All Other

Name Paid in Cash ($) Bonus ($) Compensation ($) Total ($)

Jonathon F. Niehaus 110,500 — — 110,500
Sundie Seefried — — —
Richard Carleton 95,500 — 95,500
Jonathan Summers 100,500 — 100,500
Douglas Fagan 58,000 — 58,000
Jennifer Meyers 58,000 — 58,000
Karl Racine 79,000 — — 79,000
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Outstanding Equity Awards at December 31, 2024

The following table sets forth information regarding outstanding stock options or unvested equity awards as of December 31, 2024.

Sundie Seefried

Donald T. Emmi

James H. Dennedy

Option Awards Restricted Stock Awards
Equity
Equity Incentive
Equity Incentive Plan Awards:
Incentive Plan Awards: Market or
Plan Awards: Number of Payout Value
Number of Number of Number of Number of Market Value Unearned of Unearned
Securities Securities Securities Shares or of Shares or Shares, Units Shares, Units
Underlying Underlying Underlying Units of Units of or Other or Other
Unexercised Unexercised Unexercised Option Option Stock That Stock That Rights That Rights That
Options (#) Options (#) Unearned Exercise Expiration Have Not Have Not Have Not Have Not
Exercisable Unexercisable Options (#) Price ($) Date Vested (#) Vested ($) Vested (#) Vested ($)
27,500 0 0 133.40 10/4/32 8,761 3,056 —
17,500 0 0 133.40 10/4/32 1,944 7,389 —
17,500 0 0 51.60 10/23/32 1,944 7,389 —

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

The following table sets forth information with respect to the beneficial ownership of our common stock as of April 30, 2025, by (i) each stockholder known by us to be the beneficial owner of more than
5% of our common stock, (ii) each of our directors and named executive officers, and (iii) all of our directors and executive officers as a group. Our only class of voting securities is our Class A common stock. To
our knowledge, none of the shares listed below is held under a voting trust or similar agreement. To our knowledge, there are no pending arrangements, including any pledges by any person of securities of the
Company, the operation of which may at a subsequent date result in a change in control of the Company. There were 2,785,458 shares of Class A common stock issued and outstanding on April 30, 2025.
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Unless otherwise indicated in the following table, the address for each person named in the table is 1526 Cole Blvd., Suite 250, Golden, Colorado 80401. Pursuant to SEC rules, we have included shares of
Class A common stock that the person has the right to acquire within 60 days after April 30, 2025.

Shares of Class A % of Total

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner C Stock Voting Power(")

Sundie Seefried 84,204(2) 3.0%
James H. Dennedy 27,107(3) *%
Terrence Mendez 10,900(4) *%
Donnie Emmi 37,184(5) 1.3%
Douglas Fagan 1,088,557(6) 39.08%
Jonathan Summers 11,756(7) *%
Karl Racine 11,756(7) *%
Jonathon F. Nichaus 12,718(7) *%
Richard Carleton 11,756(7) *%
Jennifer Meyers 1,092,871(8) 39.23%
(All Executive Officers and Directors as a Group (10 persons)): 1,308,001(9) 46.96%
Greater than Five Percent Holders:

Partner Colorado Credit Union 1,080,807(10) 38.80%
M3 FUNDS, LLC 277,485(11) 9.96%

* Indicates ownership of less than 1% of the outstanding shares of our Class A common stock.

(1) The percentage of beneficial ownership of the Company is calculated based on 2,785,458 shares of Class A common stock outstanding as of April 30, 2025 plus vested, but unexercised options.

(2) Includes incentive stock options that are vested, or vest in the next 60 days, to purchase shares of Class A common stock, which options expire ten years from the grant date and have an exercise price per share
equal to $133.40.

Includes incentive stock options that are vested, or vest in the next 60 days, to purchase shares of Class A common stock, which options expire ten years from the grant date and have an exercise price per share
equal to $51.60.

Includes incentive stock options that are vested, or vest in the next 60 days, to purchase shares of Class A common stock, which options expire ten years from the grant date and have an exercise price per share
equal to $7.79.

Includes incentive stock options that are vested, or vest in the next 60 days, to purchase shares of Class A common stock, which options expire ten years from the grant date and have an exercise price per share
equal to $77.20; 20,275 exercisable warrants with a strike price of $40.00; and direct ownership.
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(6) The record holder of the 1,080,807 shares of Class A common stock is Partner Colorado Credit Union, our majority stockholder, of which Mr. Fagan is the President and Chief Executive Officer. By virtue of
this relationship, Mr. Fagan may be deemed to share beneficial ownership of the securities held of record by Partner Colorado Credit Union. Mr. Fagan disclaims any such beneficial ownership except to the
extent of his pecuniary interest. The amount represents shares of Class A common stock held indirectly by Mr. Fagan through his role with Partner Colorado Credit Union as well as his direct ownership as
well as that of his spouse.

(7) Represents shares of Class A common stock held directly.

(8) The record holder of the 1,080,807 shares of Class A common stock is Partner Colorado Credit Union, our majority stockholder, of which Ms. Meyers is the Chief Financial Officer. By virtue of this

relationship, Ms. Meyers may be deemed to share beneficial ownership of the securities held of record by Partner Colorado Credit Union. Ms. Meyers disclaims any such beneficial ownership except to the

extent of her pecuniary interest. The amount represents shares of Class A common stock held indirectly by Ms. Meyers through her role with Partner Colorado Credit Union as well as her direct ownership.

Includes (i) 3,607,107 shares of Class A common stock held directly by directors and named executive officers; (ii) 1,080,807 shares of Class A common stock held indirectly by directors and named executive

officers; (iii) 55,496 shares of Class A common stock issuable upon the exercise of stock options that are currently exercisable or are exercisable in the next 60 days; and (iv) 28,275 in exercisable warrants

convertible into shares of Class A common stock.

(10) Based solely on information contained in a Schedule 13D filed with the SEC on July 21, 2023. The business address of Partner Colorado Credit Union is 6221 Sheridan Blvd, Arvada, CO 80003.

(11) Based solely on information contained in a Schedule 13D filed with the SEC on February 14, 2024. The business address of M3 Funds, LLC is 2070 E 2100 S, Suite 250, Salt Lake City, UT 84109.

©
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Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table contains information about our equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2024. As of December 31, 2024, we had one equity compensation plans, which was approved by our
stockholders: the Amend and Restated — 2022 Equity Incentive Plan.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Number of securities
remaining available

Number of for future
securities to be ‘Weighted issuance under
issued upon exercise average exercise equity compensation
of outstanding price of outstanding plans (excluding
options, warrants options, warrants securities reflected
Plan Category and rights and rights in column (a))
() (b) (©)

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders 185,581(1)  § 70.04(2) 166,276(3)
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders 0 $ 0 0
Total 185,581 70.04 166,276

(1) Includes netting of shares by award recipients to cover income taxes associated with a grant of equity.
(2) Weighted average price of issued options under the current equity compensation plan.
(3) Includes netting of shares and shares returned to the plan as a result of unvested shares of award recipients separated from the Company prior to the grant fully vesting.
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Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence.
Director Independence

Applicable rules of Nasdaq require a majority of a listed company’s board of directors to be comprised of independent directors within one year of listing. In addition, Nasdaq rules require that, subject to
specified exceptions, each member of a listed company’s audit, compensation and nominating and corporate governance committees be independent, and that audit committee members also satisfy independence
criteria set forth in Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange Act. The Nasdaq independence definition includes a series of objective tests, such as that the director is not, and has not been for at least three years, one of our
employees, that neither the director nor any of his family members has engaged in various types of business dealings with us and that the director is not associated with the holders of more than five percent of our
common stock. In addition, under applicable Nasdaq rules, a director will only qualify as an “independent director” if, in the opinion of the listed company’s board of directors, that person does not have a
relationship that would interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director.

Our Board of Directors has undertaken a review of the independence of each director. Based on information provided by each director concerning their background, employment and affiliations, our Board
of Directors has determined that four of our seven directors, do not have relationships that would interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director and that each of
these directors is “independent” as that term is defined under the listing standards of Nasdaq. In making such determination, our Board of Directors considered the relationships that each such non-employee
director has with us and all other facts and circumstances that our Board of Directors deemed relevant in determining his independence, including the beneficial ownership of our capital stock by each non-
employee director.

Each of Mr. Carleton, Mr. Niehaus, Mr. Racine, and Mr. Summers would be considered “independent” members of our board of directors as “independence” is defined in Nasdaq Marketplace Rule
5605(a)(2). If elected, the Board believes that Mr. Carroll would also be considered “independent” members of our board of directors as “independence” is defined in Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 5605(a)(2).

Related Party Transactions
Commercial Alliance Agreement

On March 29, 2023, the Company and PCCU entered into the PCCU CAA, which was subsequently amended and restated on December 31, 2024. This agreement set forth the terms and conditions of
lending and account-related services, governing the relationship between the Company and PCCU. The PCCU CAA outlined the application, underwriting, loan approval, and foreclosure processes for loans issued
by PCCU to CRBs, as well as the loan servicing and monitoring responsibilities of both parties.

In particular, the PCCU CAA provided procedures to be followed upon the default of a loan to ensure that neither the Company nor PCCU would take title to or possession of cannabis-related assets,
including real property that may have served as collateral for loans funded by PCCU pursuant to the agreement. Under the PCCU CAA, PCCU had the right to receive monthly fees for managing loans. For SHF-
serviced loans (CRB loans provided by PCCU but primarily handled by SHF), a yearly fee of 0.25% of the remaining loan balance was applied. For loans both financed and serviced by PCCU, a yearly fee of
0.35% on the outstanding balance was charged. These fees were calculated based on the average daily balance of each loan for the preceding month. Additionally, the Company was obligated under the PCCU
CAA to indemnify PCCU from certain default-related loan losses, as fully defined in the agreement.

Furthermore, the PCCU CAA outlined certain fees to be paid to the Company for specified account-related services, including cannabis-related income such as loan origination fees, interest income on
CRB-related loans, participation fees, servicing fees, investment income, account activity fees, processing fees, and other revenue. These fees were set at $30.96 per account in 2022, $25.32-$27.85 per account in
2023, and $26.08-$28.69 in 2024.

Regarding CRB deposits held at PCCU, investment and interest income earned on these deposits (excluding interest income on loans funded by PCCU) was shared at a ratio of 25% to PCCU and 75% to
the Company. Additionally, PCCU maintained its CRB-related deposits to total assets ratio at 60%, unless otherwise dictated by regulatory, regulator, or policy requirements. The initial term of the PCCU CAA was
two years, with a one-year automatic renewal, unless either party provided a one hundred twenty-day written notice prior to the end of the term.
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Up to the third quarter of 2023, the Company’s investment earnings came solely from interest on deposits at the Federal Reserve Bank, capped at the earnings accrued by PCCU from its reserves.
However, in the fourth quarter of 2023, a strategic shift led the Company to adopt the Federal Reserve’s interest rates applied to the daily average balance of SHF customer deposits, with certain exclusions. This
method, applied retroactively from the beginning of 2023, resulted in an incremental revenue of $549,000, which was recognized in the fourth quarter. Under the PCCU CAA, the Company was obligated to pay a
25% of the investment earnings as a hosting fee to PCCU based on this income.

On December 31, 2024, the Company and PCCU entered into an Amended CAA, extending the term through December 31, 2028, with automatic two-year renewal periods unless a party provides written
notice of non-renewal at least 12 months before the current term expires.

Policies and Procedures for the Company’s Related Party Transactions

Our Audit Committee charter provides that our Audit Committee must review and approve all transactions to which the Company is a participant and in which our executive officers, directors, director
nominees or principal stockholders or other related persons have a material interest, to the extent that disclosure would be required under Item 404 of Regulation S-K. We believe that this policy requiring that any
material transaction between us and such related parties be approved by our Audit Committee ensures that such transactions are on terms no less favorable to us than reasonably could have been obtained in arm’s-
length transactions with independent third parties. Our related party transactions entered into between January 1, 2024 and the date hereof, all of which were previously approved by our Audit Committee, are
described above.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

The following table shows fees that we paid (or accrued) for professional services rendered by Marcum LLP (“Marcum”) for our fiscal years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023
Audit Fees(!) $ 402,705 $ 304,778
Audit-Related Fees(® — _
Tax fees®) = =
All other fees — —
Total $ 402,705 $ 304,778

(1) Audit Fees consist of fees billed for professional services rendered for the audit of Company’s consolidated annual financial statements and review of the interim consolidated financial statements included
in quarterly reports and services that are normally provided by the independent public accounting firm in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements. Audit Fees also include activities
related to registration statement consents.

Audit Related Fees consist of fees billed for assurance and related services that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of the Company’s consolidated financial statements and are
not reported under “Audit Fees.” This category may include fees related to financial statement audits of certain employee benefit plans, services related to certain regulatory compliance requirements, and
services related to corporate equity transaction filings.

(3) Tax fees consist of fees billed for professional services rendered for tax compliance, tax advice, and tax planning. These services include assistance regarding federal, state, and international tax

compliance, acquisitions and international tax planning.

2
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Our Audit Committee requires that management obtain the prior approval of the Audit Committee for all audit and permissible non-audit services to be provided by Marcum. The Audit Committee
considers and approves at each meeting, as needed, anticipated audit and permissible non-audit services to be provided by Marcum during the year and estimated fees. All services provided by Marcum during the
fiscal years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 were approved by the Audit Committee.
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Our independent auditor for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024, Marcum, has advised us that neither it, nor any of its members, has any direct financial interest in the Company as a promoter,
underwriter, voting trustee, director, officer or employee. All professional services rendered by Marcum during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023 were furnished at customary rates and were performed by
full-time, permanent employees.

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Fi ial St t Schedul

List of documents filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

1) G lidated Fi ial S t:

The consolidated financial statements required by this item are contained under the section entitled “Index to Consolidated Financial Statements™ (and the consolidated financial statements and related
notes referenced therein) included beginning on page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

@C lidated Fi ial S Schedul.

All financial statement schedules are omitted because they are either not applicable, not required, or because the information required is included in the above referenced consolidated financial statements
and notes thereto.

(3) List of Exhibits
The exhibit list in the Exhibit Index is incorporated herein by reference as the list of exhibits required as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
EXHIBIT INDEX

The following exhibits are filed as part of, or incorporated by reference into, this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

No. Description of Exhibit

2.1 % Unit Purchase Agreement dated February 11, 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 14, 2022).

2.2 First Amendment to Unit Purchase Agreement dated September 19, 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 19, 2022).

2.3 Second Amendment to Unit Purchase Agreement dated September 22, 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 23, 2022).

2.4 Third Amendment to Unit Purchase Agreement dated September 28, 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on September 29, 2022).

2.5t Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated October 29, 2022, by and among SHF Holdings, Inc., Merger Sub I, Merger Sub II, Rockview Digital Solutions, Inc. d/b/a Abaca and Dan Roda, solely in such
individual’s capacity as the representative of Abaca security holders (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on October 31, 2022).

2.6 Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated November 11, 2022, by and among SHF Holdings, Inc., Merger Sub I, Merger Sub II, Rockview Digital Solutions, Inc. d/b/a Abaca and Dan

Roda, solely in such individual’s capacity as the representative of the Abaca security holders (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on
November 15, 2022).

2.7 Second Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated October 26, 2023, by and among SHF Holdings, Inc., Merger Sub I, Merger Sub II, Rockview Digital Solutions, Inc. d/b/a Abaca and
Dan Roda, solely in such individual’s capacity as the representative of the Abaca security holders (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on
October 27, 2023).

2.8 First Amendment to Second Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Merger, Warrant Agreement, and Lock-up Agreement dated February 27, 2024 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on March 4, 2024).

3.1 Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on September 29, 2022).

. Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed March 20, 2025.
33 Bylaws of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed on June 2, 2021).
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4.7 Description of Registered Securities (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on April 1, 2024).

10.13 Amended and Restated Commercial Alliance Agreement, dated December 30, 2024, between the Company and Partner Colorado Credit Union (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on January 7, 2025).

10.15 Amended and Restated - 2022 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on April 1, 2024).

10.16 Form SHF Holdings, Inc. Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on April 1, 2024).

10.17 Form of SHF Holdings, Inc. Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 5 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on April 1, 2024).

10.18 Security Agreement, dated March 29, 2023, by and between the Company and Partner Colorado Credit Union (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q, filed May 15, 2023).

10.20 Letter Agreement dated January 29, 2025 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on February 3, 2025).

10.21 Amendment to Employment Agreement dated April 2, 2024 between the Company and James Dennedy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K,
filed on April 8, 2024).

10.22 Amendment to Employment Agreement dated April 2, 2024 between the Company and Donald Emmi (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K,
filed on April 8, 2024).

10.23 Amendment to Employment Agreement dated August 1, 2024 between the Company and Sundie Seefried (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K,
filed on September 4, 2024).

10.24 Executive Employment Agreement, dated January 21, 2025, between the Company and Terrance Mendez (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K.
filed on January 27, 2025).

14 Code of Ethics and Business Conduct (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on April 1, 2024).

19 Insider Trading Policies and Procedures (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 19 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on April 10, 2025).

21.1 Subsidiaries of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 21.1 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on April 10, 2025).

23.1 Consent of Marcum LLP, independent registered public accounting firm (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 23.1 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on April 10, 2025).

31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15(d)-14(a), as adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 31.1 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on April 10, 2025)

31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15(d)-14(a),_as adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 31.2 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on April 10, 2025)

31.3* Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15(d)-14(a), as adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.4% Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15(d)-14(a), as adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1%* Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 32.1 of
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on April 10, 2025)

32.2%* Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 32.2 of
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on April 10, 2025)

97 Clawback policy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 97 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on April 1, 2024).

101.INS* Inline XBRL Instance Document

101.CAL* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.SCH* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.DEF* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Document

101.PRE* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

104* Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)

* Filed herewith.

H Previously Furnished.

T Certain of the exhibits and schedules to this exhibit have been omitted in accordance with Regulation S-K Item 601(a)(5). The Company agrees to furnish supplementally a copy of all omitted exhibits and

schedules to the SEC upon its request.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary.

None.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
SHF HOLDINGS INC.

Date: April 30, 2025 /s/ Terrance E. Mendez

Name:  Terrance Mendez
Title: Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: April 30,2025 /s/ James H. Dennedy

Name:  James H. Dennedy
Title: Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 31.3
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Terrance E. Mendez, certify that:
1. I'have reviewed this Amendment No. 1 to Annual Report on Form 10-K/A for the year ended December 31, 2024 of SHF Holdings, Inc.; and

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under
which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report.

Date: April 30, 2025 /s/ Terrance E. Mendez
Terrance E. Mendez
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)




Exhibit 31.4
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, James H. Dennedy, certify that:
1. I'have reviewed this Amendment No. 1 to Annual Report on Form 10-K/A for the year ended December 31, 2024 of SHF Holdings, Inc.; and

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under
which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report.

Date: April 30, 2025 /s/ James H. Dennedy
James H. Dennedy
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)




